

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Plant and Soil Sciences

Plant and Soil Sciences

2018

ENGINEERING ZINC OXIDE NANOPARTICLES TO BE USED AS NANOFERTILIZERS

Zeinah Elhaj Baddar University of Kentucky, zeina.baddar@uky.edu Digital Object Identifier: https://doi.org/10.13023/etd.2018.404

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Elhaj Baddar, Zeinah, "ENGINEERING ZINC OXIDE NANOPARTICLES TO BE USED AS NANOFERTILIZERS" (2018). *Theses and Dissertations--Plant and Soil Sciences*. 109. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/pss_etds/109

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Plant and Soil Sciences at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Plant and Soil Sciences by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Zeinah Elhaj Baddar, Student Dr. Jason M. Unrine, Major Professor Dr. Mark Coyne, Director of Graduate Studies

ENGINEERING ZINC OXIDE NANOPARTICLES TO BE USED AS

NANOFERTILIZERS

DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Agriculture, Food and Environment at the University of Kentucky

By

Zeinah Elhaj Baddar

Lexington, Kentucky

Co-Directors:Dr. Jason M. Unrine, Associate Professor of Environmental ToxicologyandDr. Tasios Karathanasis, Professor Emeritus of Soil Science

Lexington, Kentucky 2018 Copyright © Zeinah Elhaj Baddar 2018

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

ENGINEERING ZINC OXIDE NANOPARTICLES TO BE USED AS

NANOFERTILIZERS

Zinc deficient soils, or soils with low Zn bioavailability, are widespread, which exacerbates Zn deficiency in human as crops grown on these soils have low Zn content. Often crop yields are also compromised. Fertilizers based on soluble Zn salts often have limited efficacy in such soils. In this research, we evaluate the performance of polymer coated and bare ZnO nanoparticles (NPs) in an attempt to overcome limitations of soluble Zn salts in alkaline soils. We first synthesized 20-30 nm bare ZnO NPs with different surface chemistries to impart colloidal stability to the particles. Bare ZnO were treated in phosphate solution under certain conditions leading to the formation of a core made of ZnO NPs that is covered by a shell of amorphous $Zn_3(PO_4)_2$ (core-shell NPs). This confers a negative charge to the particles over a wide pH range. The addition of nonionic (neutral dextran) and polyelectrolyte (negatively charged dextran sulfate (DEX(SO₄)) during the synthesis resulted in the formation of DEX and DEX(SO₄) ZnO NPs. Dextran has a minimal effect on the surface charge of ZnO but dextran sulfate confers a net negative charge. Bare and core-shell ZnO NPs were both electrostatically stabilized whereas DEX and DEX(SO₄) ZnO NPs were sterically and electrosterically stabilized, respectively. We investigated the effect of treating seeds with ZnO NPs on the growth and accumulation of Zn in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) seedlings in comparison to ZnSO₄. All ZnO NPs stimulated seedling growth. Seedlings accumulated higher Zn concentrations when treated with ZnO NPs than with ZnSO₄. Zinc sulfate was toxic even at the lower exposure concentrations, which was demonstrated by significantly lower germination success and seedling growth. In the second experiment, we investigated the effect of pH on the attachment and dissolution of ZnO NPs in soil, as compared to ZnSO₄. Soil pH was adjusted to 6 and 8, then the soil was spiked with 100 mg Zn/kg soil in the form of ZnSO₄, bare, DEX, DEX(SO₄), and core-shell ZnO NPs. The results showed that DEX and core-shell ZnO NPs had significantly higher total Zn in soil solution compared to ZnSO₄ at pH 8, with little dissolution. Dissolved Zn was similar among treatments except ZnSO₄ at pH 6, indicating little dissolution of the ZnO NPs at either pH value. We also found that the engineered coatings dictate the behavior of the particles in simple aqueous systems, but their properties are altered in natural soil solutions because of the dominant effect of natural organic matter (NOM) on their surface chemistry. Based on the outcomes of the previous two experiments, we selected DEX and bare ZnO NPs to test the efficacy of ZnO NPs in delivering Zn to the grain of wheat under greenhouse conditions. We performed two independent studies where seeds were either treated with the NPs or grown in a soil spiked with Zn at pH 6 and 8 and spiked with Zn treatments (nano and ionic). We found that treating seeds with bare ZnO NPs significantly enhanced grain Zn concentrations as compared to the control, DEX-

ZnO NPs, and ZnSO₄. There were no differences in grain Zn concentration of plants treated with ionic or nano Zn treatments regardless of the soil pH. This work has elucidated important principles which will help carry forward efforts at developing effective ZnO NP-based fertilizers. It also suggests that treatment of seeds with ZnO NPs is more effective than amending soil or treating seeds with ZnSO₄.

KEYWORDS: zinc oxide nanoparticles, surface chemistry, zinc malnutrition, partitioning,

soil pH, natural organic matter.

Zeinah Elhaj Baddar Student's Signature <u>10/30/2018</u> Date

ENGINEERING ZINC OXIDE NANOPARTICLES TO BE USED AS NANOFERTILIZERS

By

Zeinah Elhaj Baddar

Jason M. Unrine Director of Dissertation

> Tasios Karathanasis Co-Director of Dissertation

Mark Coyne Director of Graduate Studies

> <u>10/30/2018</u> Date

DEDICATION

For there are not enough words to describe my love for my dedicated loving parents, family at home, and my wonderful sister Nour, with whom I shared this wonderful journey of six years, I dedicate this work to all of you.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am indebted to my advisor, Dr. Jason Unrine. Thank you for accepting me as a student in your lab in the first place. I appreciate all the effort, patience, and support you provided for me through the past six years. Your valuable feedback helped me become a better scientist.

I would like to thank my committee members; Drs. John Grove, Tasios Karathanasis, Christopher Matocha, and Mark Lovell for their valuable comments on this project. I would also like to thank Dr. John Grove for promptly providing me with the soil.

I was lucky enough to have wonderful friends who were always there for me. I am grateful for the constant help and support of current and past members at the environmental toxicology lab. Shristi Shresta, thank you for being a great friend.

I would also like to thank all faculty members and staff at the Department of Plant and Soil Sciences who made me always feel welcome and at home.

This work was supported by the National Institute of Food and Agriculture, U.S. Department of Agriculture - under 1010358. Support was also provided by the National Science Foundation under CBET- 1530594.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
Chapter 1 General Introduction	1
1.1 Zinc Bioavailability for Human and Plants	1
1.1.1 Zinc Biological Functions	1
1.1.2 Zinc Malnutrition in Human	1
1.1.3 Factors Affecting Zn Bioavailability to Plants	2
1.1.4 Limitations to Crop Enrichment with Zn	3
1.2 Application of Nanotechnology to Agriculture	4
1.2.1 Transformation of Nanoparticles	6
1.2.2 Aggregation	7
1.2.3 Dissolution	8
1.2.4 Coatings	8
1.2.5 Interaction with Natural Organic Matter (NOM)	9
1.2.6 Nanoparticle Transformation in Soil	10
1.3 Research Objectives and Outline	11
1.3.1 Research Hypotheses	12
1.3.2 Dissertation Outline	13
Chapter 2: Functionalized ZnO Nanoparticle Seed Treatments to Enhance Growth a	and Zn
Content of Wheat (Triticum aestivum) Seedling	14
2.1 Abstract	14
2.2 Introduction	15
2.3 Materials and Methods	17
2.3.1 Synthesis and Surface Modification of ZnO Nanoparticles	17
2.3.2 Nanoparticle Characterization	19
2.3.3 Seed Germination Assay	20
2.3.4 Dissolution Experiments	22
2.3.5 Statistical Analysis	22
2.4 Results	23
2.4.1 Particle Characterization	23
2.4.2 Zinc Concentration in Roots and Shoots	24
2.4.3 Germination	27
2.4.4 Effect of Coating Material on Growth and Germination	27
2.4.5 Dissolution of ZnO Nanoparticles	28
2.4.6 Critical Zn Levels	28
2.5 Discussion	30
Chapter 3: Surface Coatings Effects on the Sorption and Dissolution of ZnO Nanopa	articles
in Soil	52
3.1 Abstract	52
3.2 Introduction	53
3.3 Materials and Methods	56

5.5.1 Zinc Oxide Nanoparticles	57
3.3.2 Stability of ZnO Nanoparticles as a Function of Ionic Strength	57
3.3.3 Effect of pH and Dissolved Organic Carbon on Zeta (ζ) Potentia	al and
Dissolution of ZnO Nanoparticles in Solution	57
3.3.4 Dissolved Organic Carbon Sorption Experiments	59
3.3.5 Soil Characterization	60
3.3.6 Soil Spiking	62
3.3.7 Saturated Paste Extraction	63
3.3.8 Total Zn in Spiked Soil and Total and Dissolved Zn in Saturated	Paste
Extracts	63
3.3.9 Statistical Analysis	64
3.4 Results	65
3.4.1 Zinc Oxide Nanoparticle Characterization	65
3.4.2 Effect of Ionic Strength on Hydrodynamic Diameter and Zeta (ζ) Pot	ential
	65
3.4.3 Zeta potential (ζ) Of Particles in Simulated Soil Solutions	67
3 4 4 Dissolution in Simulated Soil Solutions	68
3.4.5 Natural Organic Matter Sorption	69
3.4.6 Soil and Soil Solution Characterization	70
3.4.7 Total Zn Concentration in Soil	70
3.4.8 Total and Dissolved Zn Concentration in Soil and Saturated Paste Fy	tracts
5.4.6 Total and Dissolved Zil Concentration in Son and Saturated Laste Ex	70
3.5 Discussion	70
Chapter 4: Effects of Soil pH and Coatings on the Efficacy of Polymer coated $7n\Omega$	12
Nonoperticulate fortilizers in Wheet (Triticum agatinum)	
	89
A 1 Abstract	89 80
4.1 Abstract	89 89
4.1 Abstract	89 89 90
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 92
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 92 93
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93 93
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 93 94
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 94 94
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 93 94 94 95
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 94 94 95 96
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 94 94 95 96 96
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 93 94 94 95 96 96 96
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 94 94 95 96 96 96
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 94 94 95 96 96 96 97
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 93 94 94 95 96 96 96 96 97 97
 4.1 Abstract	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 94 94 95 96 96 96 96 97 97 97
 4.1 Abstract 4.2 Introduction 4.3 Materials and Methods 4.3.1 Synthesis and Characterization of ZnO Nanoparticles 4.3.2 Treating Seeds with ZnO Nanoparticles 4.3.3 Soil Preparation 4.3.4 Experiment (A) Treated Seed Greenhouse Assay 4.3.5 Experiment (B) Spiked Soil Greenhouse Assay 4.3.6 Harvesting Plants and Acid Digestion 4.3.7 Statistical Analysis 4.4 Results 4.4.1 Zinc Oxide Nanoparticle Characterization 4.4.2 Experiment (A) Treated Seed Greenhouse Assay 4.4.2 Biomass 4.4.2.3 Plant Height 4.4.3 Experiment (B) Spiked soil Greenhouse Assay 4.4.3 Experiment (B) Spiked soil Greenhouse Assay 	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 94 94 95 96 96 96 96 97 97 97
 4.1 Abstract 4.2 Introduction 4.3 Materials and Methods 4.3.1 Synthesis and Characterization of ZnO Nanoparticles 4.3.2 Treating Seeds with ZnO Nanoparticles 4.3.3 Soil Preparation 4.3.4 Experiment (A) Treated Seed Greenhouse Assay 4.3.5 Experiment (B) Spiked Soil Greenhouse Assay 4.3.6 Harvesting Plants and Acid Digestion 4.3.7 Statistical Analysis 4.4 Results 4.4.1 Zinc Oxide Nanoparticle Characterization 4.4.2 Experiment (A) Treated Seed Greenhouse Assay 4.4.2 Biomass 4.4.3 Experiment (B) Spiked soil Greenhouse Assay 4.4.1 Zinc Concentration 4.4.2.2 Biomass 4.4.3 Experiment (B) Spiked soil Greenhouse Assay 4.4.3 Experiment (B) Spiked soil Greenhouse Assay 	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 93 94 94 95 96 96 96 96 97 97 97 97 97
 4.1 Abstract 4.2 Introduction 4.3 Materials and Methods. 4.3.1 Synthesis and Characterization of ZnO Nanoparticles 4.3.2 Treating Seeds with ZnO Nanoparticles 4.3.3 Soil Preparation 4.3.4 Experiment (A) Treated Seed Greenhouse Assay 4.3.5 Experiment (B) Spiked Soil Greenhouse Assay 4.3.6 Harvesting Plants and Acid Digestion 4.3.7 Statistical Analysis 4.4 Results 4.4.1 Zinc Oxide Nanoparticle Characterization 4.4.2.1 Zinc Concentration 4.4.2.3 Plant Height 4.4.3 Experiment (B) Spiked soil Greenhouse Assay 4.4.3 Experiment (B) Spiked soil Greenhouse Assay 4.4.2.1 Zinc Concentration 4.4.2.3 Plant Height 4.4.3.4 Signals 	89 90 92 92 93 93 93 93 93 94 94 95 96 96 96 96 97 97 97 97 97 97 97

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future directions	
References	117
Vita	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Primary particle sizes of three replicates of each type of NPs as measured by
transmission electron microscopy. Stdev = one standard deviation
Table 2.2 Hydrodynamic size, zeta potential, pH at which zeta potential values were
measured, and point of zero charge (PZC) for ZnO NPs. Results are reported as the
average of three independent replicates of each ZnO NPs + one standard deviation
Table 2.3 Effect of Zn treatment on root and shoot lengths, dry biomass, and Zn
concentration <i>p</i> -values in hold means regression was statistically significant at $\alpha=0.05$
38
Table 2.4 Critical and optimum $7n$ concentrations ($7n$ and $7n$ and $7n$ and $7n$ set respectively) in
exposure solutions for 7n treatments at different physiological endpoints and for root and
shoot Zn content Zn , values corresponding with maximum Zn concentration in roots
and shoots for each Zn treatment are listed NS: not statistically significant 30
Table S 2.1 Effect of costing material on $\%$ germination, root and shoot lengths and dry
hismass
Table 5.2.2 Que dretie recreasion nerve tors for next and sheet 7n concentration versus
Table S 2.2 Quadratic regression parameters for root and shoot Zn concentration versus
The last of the second biomass
Table 3.1 Major physiochemical properties of Sadler soil at unadjusted pH (native pH)
and the two adjusted pH levels; 6 and 8
Table S 3.1 pH of 25 mg Zn/L as ZnO NPs in particle free soil solution (PFSS),
deionized (DI) water and moderately hard reconstituted water (MHRW) at 0, 25, and 100
mg C/L
Table S 3.2 : Sorption isotherm parameters for ZnO NPs and dissolved organic carbon
(DOC) sorption studies
Table S 3.3: Selected chemical properties of the Sadler surface soil
Table S 3.4: Soil solution chemical properties at pH 6 and 8
Table 4.1 : Soil pH values in 1:1 soil in DI water for pot experiment (B). pH _{initial} is the pH
of the soil at the beginning of the experiment before sowing the seeds and pH _{final} is the
pH of the soil after harvesting the plants. Values are reported as the mean of three
replicates \pm one standard deviation)

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 TEM images of bare ZnO NPs (A), dextran coated (DEX -ZnO NPs) (B),
dextran sulfate coated (DEX (SO ₄)-ZnO NPs) (C), ZnO-Zn ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ core-shell NPs (D).
Scale bar is 50 nm
Figure 2.2 Quadratic regression for Zn concentration in root tissue on dry mass basis (A),
in shoot tissue on dry mass basis (B) versus total Zn concentration in exposure solution in
mg/L41
Figure 2.3 Quadratic regression for root biomasses (A), and root elongation (B) versus
total Zn concentration in exposure solution in mg/L42
Figure 2.4 Quadratic regression for shoot biomasses (A), and shoot elongation (B) versus
total Zn concentration in exposure solution in mg/L43
Figure 2.5 Linear regression for % germination versus total Zn concentration in exposure
solution in mg/L44
Figure 2.6 Dissolution of ZnO NPs in mg Zn/L in deionized (DI) water at a nominal Zn
concentration of 500 mg Zn/L. Treatments connected with different letters are not
significantly different at α =0.0544
Figure 2.7 A graphical illustration of the relationship between optimum Zn (Zn _{opt}) and
critical Zn concentration (Zn _{crt}) on a generic quadratic regression showing the effect of
Zn concentration in the exposure solution on plant response relative to the control45
Figure S 2.1 Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) graphs for dextran coated (DEX-ZnO)
NPs(A) and dextran sulfate coated DEX(SO ₄)-ZnO NPs (B)48
Figure S 2.2 Electrophoretic mobility of bare ZnO NPs, dextran coated ZnO NPs (DEX-
ZnO), $Zn_3(PO_4)_2$ -ZnO NPs (core-shell), and dextran sulfate coated ZnO NPs (DEX(SO ₄)-
ZnO NPs as a function of pH in deionized (DI) water. Zn concentration was 100 mg/L for
all tested suspensions
Figure S 2.3 XRD diffractogram of bare ZnO NPs and bulk ZnO
Figure S 2.4 Effect of Zn ²⁺ ions concentration in exposure solution in (mg Zn/L) on
germination success %. Each concentration was separately compared to 0 mg Zn/L
(deionized (DI) water control) using two-sided t-test. Zn treatments connected with
different letters are significantly different from the control at α =0.0550
Figure S 2.5 Effect of Zn concentration in seedling in (μ g Zn/g dry matter DM) on
seedling growth. (A) Effect on root biomass, (B) Effect on shoot biomass. Quadratic
regression was used to fit the data
Figure 3.1 TEM images of bare ZnO NPs (A), dextran coated (DEX -ZnO NPs) (B),
dextran sulfate coated (DEX (SO ₄)-ZnO NPs) (C), ZnO-Zn ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ core-shell NPs (D).
Scale bar is 50 nm
Figure 3.2 Effect of NaCl concentration on the hydrodynamic size (A) and zeta (ζ)
potential (B) of ZnO NPs. Treatments connected by different letters within the same ZnO
NP treatment are significantly different at α =0.05
Figure 3.3 Zeta (ζ) potential of 25mg/L Zn- ZnO NPs suspended in Pahokee peat humic
acid -PPHA at 0, 25, and 100 mg C/L in deionized (DI) water (A), moderately hard
reconstituted water (MHRW) (B), and in particle free soil solution (PFSS) (C).
Treatments connected by different letters at each PPHA or pH level are significantly
different at α=0.05

Figure 3.4 Dissolution of 25mg/L Zn- ZnO NPs in particle free soil solution (PFSS) at pH 6 and 8 (A), in Pahokee peat humic acid (PPHA) solutions at 0, 25, and 100 mg C/L in deionized (DI) water (B), and in moderately hard reconstituted (MHRW) (C). Treatments connected by different letters at each PPHA or pH level are significantly Figure 3.5 Freundlich sorption isotherm model fitted to dissolved organic carbon in Figure 3.6 Total (A) and dissolved (B) Zn concentration in saturated paste extracts. In panel (A), treatments within the same pH level with different letters are significantly different at α =0.05. In panel (B) treatments at both pH levels with different letters are Figure S 3.1 Equilibrium time reached after 24 h incubation period in batch sorption isotherms experiments, each point is the average of three independent replicates. Error Figure S 3.2 Electrophoretic mobility of bare ZnO, dextran coated, (DEX-ZnO), ZnO-Zn₃(PO₄)₂ (core-shell), and dextran sulfate coated (DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs as a function of pH in deionized (DI) water. Zn concentration was 100 mg/L for all the tested suspensions Figure S 3.3 Linear regression between zeta potential and total Zn in soil solution at pH 6 (A), and pH 8 (B). Inserts: regression equation, r^2 , and significance of the model (p) at Figure 4.1 Zinc concentrations in grain, leaves, and stems of wheat plants from experiment A. Each bar represents the average of n=9, while error bars represent one standard deviation. Treatments which have the same letter within each tissue type are not Figure 4.2 Dry biomass of grain, leaves, and stems of wheat plants-Experiment A. Each bar represents the average of n=9, while error bars represent one standard deviation. Treatments connected with the same letter within each plant part are not significantly Figure 4.3 Plant height (cm) over time (week) for pot experiment (A). Points on each line represent the average height of 3 plants in 9 pots. Error bars represent one standard deviation. Treatments connected with the same letters are not statistically significant at α Figure 4.4 Zinc concentration in the grain (A), leaves (B), and stems (C) of wheat plants at each soil pH level-Experiment B. Each bar represents the average of n=11, while error bars represent one standard deviation. Treatments connected with the same letter at each Figure 4.5 Dry biomass of (A) grain, (B) leaves, and (C) of wheat plants at each soil pH level-Experiment B. Error bars represent one standard deviation, n = 11. Treatments connected with the same letter at each pH level are not significantly different at $\alpha = 0.05$. Upper and lower case letters refer to multiple comparisons carried out at each pH Figure 4.6 Plant height (cm) over time (week)-Experiment B. Error bars represent one standard deviation, n=11. Treatments connected with the same letters, whether in upper or lower cases, are not statistically significant at α =0.05. Letters followed treatment color

codes, and uppercase and lowercase letters represent treatments at pH 6 and pH 8,	
respectively	.113

Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1 Zinc Bioavailability for Human and Plants

1.1.1 Zinc Biological Functions

The biochemical importance of Zn has been widely addressed in the literature. Zinc is an essential micronutrient required for plant and animal growth and development¹. About 10% of the human proteome consists of metalloproteins which require Zn for proper structure and function². Human and animals require Zn in trace amounts as a cofactor in more than 300 enzymes involved in key reactions associated with the immune, reproductive, and nervous systems³. Likewise, in plants, Zn has a catalytic role in numerous enzymes (e.g. dehydrogenases) and a structural role in other proteins (e.g. Zn finger domain proteins)⁴.

1.1.2 Zinc Malnutrition in Human

Micronutrient malnutrition is a worldwide problem⁵. Zinc is among the most deficient micronutrients in the human diet. Due to the involvement of Zn in hundreds to thousands of enzymes and proteins which encompass a myriad of biological functions, Zn deficiency could lead to a multitude of health conditions, such as dwarfism, skin lesions, cognitive and immunological dysfunction, delay in skeletal maturation, anorexia, hypogonadism, diarrhea, and pneumonia ⁶⁻⁹.

The first case that addressed Zn deficiency in human was in the 1960s in Iranian adult males¹⁰. In 1991, the United Nations dropped Zn from its list of "deficient micronutrients" due to the non-specific clinical conditions associated with Zn deficiency in human¹¹, and the lack of reliable markers¹². However, in the wake of around one million deaths of infants and children who suffer from severe Zn deficiency per year, the

world health organization (WHO) has published several reports focusing on Zn deficiency as an epidemic that needs to be resolved, especially in developing countries⁸. As a result, more attention has been given to Zn deficiency since the mid-1990s.

Zinc deficiency in human is mainly attributed to dependence on cereals in the diet with, very low consumption of animal food sources⁵. In developing countries, the major sources of Zn are legumes and cereals¹³. In cereals, processing (polishing and milling) often removes the embryonic tissues and the aleurone layer which accumulate most of the micronutrients, including Zn¹⁴. Moreover, cereals are rich with antinutrient molecules such phytic and tannic acids¹². The complexation of Zn with phytic acid results in an insoluble form of Zn inside plant tissue. Human lacks the enzyme phytase which is responsible for breaking down phytate molecules within the digestive system¹⁵. The high consumption of cereals, which are rich in phytic acid, also lowers the absorption and bioavailability of Zn inside the human body.

1.1.3 Factors Affecting Zinc Bioavailability to Plants

Zinc deficiency in soils is a major reason for low Zn in crops^{16, 17}. Zinc deficiency significantly reduces yields and nutritional values of staple crops such as wheat¹⁸. About half of the arable lands around the world have soils that are Zn deficient^{19, 20}. Soils may have low plant available Zn for many reasons, such as low geogenic Zn levels²¹, high organic matter content, high soil pH, and high carbonate and/or phosphate contents which make Zn less available for plant uptake⁷. Higher soil pH results in the fixation of the positively charged Zn ions on the negatively charged soil surfaces including humic substances, clay minerals, and Al/Fe oxohydroxides²². Moreover, the precipitation of Zn

in carbonates and hydroxides of very low solubility renders Zn less bioavailable to plants²³.

1.1.4 Limitations to Crop Enrichment with Zinc

Numerous efforts have been made to overcome Zn deficiency using many approaches. While plant genetics and breeding are among the most promising approaches²⁴, fortifying food with micronutrients and the use of pharmaceutical supplements have been of limited success in developing countries as a result of their relatively high costs¹³. Also, the use of genetically modified crops is not acceptable in some countries, and metal hyperacumulating plants may have limited success in areas of low geogenic Zn. Diversification of the diet, including incorporation of animal sources to gain the required micronutrients, is also economically challenging in developing countries³. Agrochemical fortification using conventional Zn fertilizers is one popular approach to circumvent Zn malnutrition. Unfortunately, in some cases, large amounts of relatively expensive Zn fertilizers are required to meet crop needs. In addition, undesirable Zn binding and precipitation as insoluble minerals is likely in some soils, especially those with high carbonate, phosphate, and pH²⁵. Another important issue that should be accounted for is the partitioning of Zn in plant tissue where the edible tissue should be targeted for Zn enrichment to succeed in human dietary fortification. The efficiency of Zn enrichment is also species-dependent, cereals and legumes which are the major sources of Zn in developing countries can suffer from high phytate content, a P storage molecule which binds Zn ions, and since human lacks the required enzyme to metabolize phytate, Zn bound to phytate is not bioavailable to human regardless of Zn concentrations in the cereals grains²⁶.

One study showed that the use of P fertilizer increased phytate content which bound Zn in wheat grain, a phenomenon that was counteracted by foliar application of Zn instead of adding Zn fertilizer to soil²⁷. Starchy crops such as potatoes have high phytate contents in the roots making up 0.1% of root dry weight²⁸, which decreases Zn bioavailability²⁹.

Zinc is tightly regulated in plants^{7, 30}. Several physiological bottlenecks reportedly limit the success of Zn fortification of crops³¹. The transport of Zn ions from the soil through the root epidermis and the subsequent cell to cell movement from the xylem to the phloem are all orchestrated in a manner that will ensure internal Zn homeostasis³². Cell walls are loaded with proteins and ATPases which regulate the entry of Zn ions from/to the cells. Also, excess Zn is more likely to be stored in vacuoles, and in antinutrient molecules (e.g. phytic acid), which limits the mobility, translocation, and bioavailability in edible tissue³². Also, localization of Zn ions in the fruit is important. In wheat grain, Zn partitions more to tissues in the embryo and the aleurone layer³³, which are removed during grain polishing, whereas less Zn is localized in the endosperm which is more often consumed¹⁴. One possible way to avoid this problem is by alternatively consuming unpolished whole grain wheat.

1.2 Application of Nanotechnology to Agriculture

Agriculture is constantly under pressure to provide adequate food for a rapidly growing population. The world population is expected to reach an estimated 10 billion by the middle of the 21st century³⁴. However, limitations in water, energy, land, and the constant deterioration of soil and environmental quality will widen the gap between food

supply and demand^{34, 35}. The precision application of agrochemicals such as fertilizers and pesticides is critical to increasing crop yields^{36, 37}.

The current production and use of fertilizers are not sustainable^{38, 39}. Indeed, nitrogen use efficiency (NUE), for example, was estimated to be as low as 30-50% due to runoff and denitrification losses encountered when using conventional fertilizers⁴⁰. Likewise, efforts to fortify staple crops with Zn fertilizers often fall short due to the confounding effects of soil properties which limit the efficacy of Zn fertilizers. Inorganic Zn salts such as ZnSO₄ and chelated forms (Zn-EDTA) are the most widely used soluble Zn fertilizers. While the latter is more effective and successful in enhancing Zn bioavailability, especially on calcareous soils, it is relatively more expensive⁴¹.

Nanotechnology involves manipulation of matter at the nanoscale, which is between 1-100 nm⁴². At the nanoscale, materials manifest different chemical and physical properties compared to their atomic/molecular and bulk counterparts⁴³. Many of these unique properties can be attributed to their high specific surface area to volume ratio⁴⁴. Considering their novel properties, nanoscale materials have become widely utilized in the manufacturing of many products and materials⁴⁵. Recently, interest in the use of nanomaterials in agriculture has grown, including the use of nanomaterial-based pesticides⁴⁶ and fertilizers⁴⁷. In 2104, an American Chemical Society (ACS) report projected a revolutionary advancement in agriculture through nanotechnology⁴⁸. The number of research patents pertinent to incorporating nanomaterials in agrochemical products and applications has exponentially increased, although commercialization of such products is still lagging ⁴⁹.

Targeted delivery of nutrients and pest control products using nano-delivery systems could provide more efficient and sustainable tools to enhance crop nutrition and protection against diseases^{39, 50}. Indeed, nano-delivery systems complying with the nutrient stewardship framework of the "four Rs", right source, right amount, right time, and right place to ensure fertilizer application is efficient⁵¹, offer a promising and more economically and environmentally sound alternative to conventional fertilizers.

There are an increasing number of studies investigating the possibility of using engineered ZnO nanoparticles (NP) as a source of Zn to enhance the yield of crops such as maize (*Zea mays*)⁵², foxtail millet (*Setaria italica*) ⁵³, wheat (*Triticum aestivum*)⁵⁴, and peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*)⁵⁵. Also, one study have suggested that ZnO NPs may have enhanced Zn bioavailability to crops relative to conventional Zn sources⁵⁶. Prasad et al. reported that fertilizer made of bare ZnO NPs that were used as seed treatment resulted in a marked yield increase in peanut when compared to both chelated Zn and bulk ZnSO4 fertilizers⁵⁵. However, the vast majority of these studies have focused on bare ZnO NPs and have not explored the use of coatings to tune their behavior for specific applications. The use of coatings to tune the surface chemistry of particles can have a dramatic effect on their behavior.

1.2.1 Transformation of Nanoparticles

One of the major knowledge gaps in the field of nanotechnology is the lack of understanding of the behavior, transformation, bioavailability, fate, and toxicity of NPs as they enter an environmental media such as soil^{57, 58}. Thus, a comprehensive investigation that covers the effects of environmental variables (e.g. pH, ionic strength, NOM content, presence of inorganic ligands, redox potential, etc.), and the intrinsic properties of NPs

(size, shape, surface chemistry), should be performed in order to engineer ZnO NPs with appropriate physicochemical properties. In the past, research into the behavior of NPs in extremely complex media such as soil has been difficult because of the lack of specific and sensitive analytical techniques for their detection and characterization⁵⁹. The introduction of NPs into complex media will alter their properties as a result of the interaction between the physical, chemical, and biological conditions of the environment and the intrinsic properties of the particles themselves. The following sections summarize the major possible transformations of ZnO NPs.

1.2.2 Aggregation

Aggregation is one important criterion that should be taken into account in determining the mobility, transport, and bioavailability of NPs⁶⁰. Aggregation is affected by the intrinsic properties of NPs and the extrinsic environmental variables. For example, as Ag NP size decreases, aggregation increases due to the increased surface free energy^{61.} ⁶². Similarly, an increase in the concentration of NPs enhances aggregation⁶² resultant from the increased probability of collisions between particles (although in soil, heteroaggregation processes are expected to dominate)^{63, 64}. Extrinsic properties of the surrounding media also have an effect on the aggregation of NPs. For example, aggregation rate increases as the pH of the solution approaches the point of zero charge (PZC) - the point of zero charge of NPs (PZC) is the pH at which positive and negative surface charges are balanced resulting in an electrophoretic mobility of zero⁶⁵-, which is reported to be 9.3^{66, 67} for bare ZnO NPs , since electrostatic repulsion between particles is minimized. Extrinsic properties of the environment also affect nanoparticle behavior. Many studies reported that, consistent with classical Derjaguin, Landau, Verwey and Ovebeek (DLVO) theory, increasing the ionic strength resulted in an increased aggregation of bare ZnO NPs⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹. The effect of electrolyte type and concentration on the stability of NPs in aqueous solutions has been investigated in many studies. As is well known from classical colloid science, the presence of polyvalent cations, such as Ca²⁺, greatly enhances aggregation^{68, 70}.

1.2.3 Dissolution

Dissolution of nanoparticles as they enter the environment has been relatively well investigated; ZnO NPs dissolution eventually releases ionic forms of Zn^{67, 71, 72}. Dissolution of Ag NPs can be size dependent regardless of the coating type and/or synthesis method ³⁷. This is attributed to the larger surface area and the increased lattice strain-induced surface energy associated with smaller Ag particles, which increases dissolution ^{58, 73}. Similarly, ZnO NP dissolution is more dependent on the primary size of the particles, where smaller NPs dissolve more quickly than larger particles⁷⁴. It is also greatly affected by the transformations of the surface of nanoparticles to form more or less soluble minerals, such as sulfidation or phosphatation⁷⁵. The pH of the media greatly affects the dissolution of metal oxide NPs. For metal oxides, in general, as the acidity increases, the number of protons attacking the surface of the NPs increase, leading to the polarization of the metal-hydroxyl bond, which eventually results in the detachment of the metal from the surface^{76, 77}. Proton promoted dissolution of goethite nanorods was found to be an order of magnitude higher when pH was lowered from 2 to 1⁷⁸.

1.2.4 Coatings

Coatings are commonly used to impart stability and dispersivity to the NPs via steric

and/or electrostatic repulsion and can dramatically alter the PZC in the case of ionic coatings such as polyelectrolytes⁷⁹⁻⁸¹. The influence of coatings on NP behavior has only begun to be explored. For example, in aqueous environments, sterically stabilized Ag NPs with the nonionic polymer polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) coating had greater colloidal stability than electrostatically stabilized Ag NPs with citrate coatings (CIT) under varied solution chemistry ^{57, 82}. Microbial communities may play a role in the persistence of these coatings. Kirschling et al., found that coatings could be bioavailable to bacteria⁷⁹, thus NPs could lose these coatings and become more prone to aggregation. We have also explored the role of coating molar mass and charge in determining the attachment of Ag and ZnO NPs to soils^{83, 84}. We have also demonstrated that Ag NP coating influences the extent to which organic ligands in solution stimulate oxidative dissolution⁸⁵. Inorganic coatings (also called shells), also play an important role in controlling the behavior of NPs. Our previous research has demonstrated that Zn₃(PO₄)₂ shells dramatically decrease the solubility of ZnO nanomaterials due to the insolubility of Zn₃(PO₄)₂ ⁸⁶.

1.2.5 Interaction with Natural Organic Matter (NOM)

Zinc oxide NPs can have enhanced colloidal stability in the presence of NOM. by Natural organic matter acts as a stabilizer against aggregation by imparting negative charge to particles, ⁸². Natural organic matter may adsorb to the surface of bare NPs⁶⁷ or replace the as-synthesized coating⁸⁷. In addition to increasing colloidal stability of particles, we have also found that some NOM may enhance the dissolution of Ag NPs⁸⁵.

The concentration and characteristics of NOM present in an environment are among the key factors that influences the behavior and stability of NPs⁸⁸. Previous studies reported that NOM could induce the aggregation of bare ZnO NPs at lower NOM concentrations ^{67, 72, 83}. However, it is unlikely to be the case under relevant environmental conditions, where NOM concentrations are much greater than the predicted NP concentrations in terrestrial environments. Also, the presence of divalent cations such as Ca²⁺ at high concentrations can cause bridging between NOM molecules, leading decreasing the colloidal stability of the particles^{89, 90}.

1.2.6 Nanoparticle Transformation in Soil

The behavior of NPs is determined by an interplay between their intrinsic properties and the extrinsic properties of their surroundings. Soil pH is a major factor that affects the behavior of NPs in soils. In simple systems (e.g. in deionized (DI) water), the particles will be positively or negatively charged if the pH of the system is below and above the point of zero charge (PZC), respectively. Thus, in the soil environment, at a pH lower than PZC, the electrostatic attraction between the negatively charged soil components will be more dominant, whereas electrostatic repulsion would be rather dominant at a pH higher than the PZC. Several studies showed that increasing the soil pH decreased recovered Zn concentrations in pore water of soils spiked with bare ZnO NPs⁹¹⁻⁹³.

Increasing soil pH and organic matter (OM) concentration increased the bioavailability of bare ZnO NPs to *Folsomia candida* but not the Zn concentration in soil pore water⁹⁴. Mobility, aggregation, and dissolution of NPs in soil solution, however, is far less straight forward, due to the complex nature of the soil system. Soil solution has a multitude of components, including clay mineral colloids, dissolved and particulate organic matter of different composition and concentration, Fe/Al oxohydroxides, organic and inorganic ligands, and cations of various concentration and valency⁹⁵. Thus, to fully

understand the effects of soil properties on their partitioning and potential bioavailability for crop uptake, a comprehensive investigation should be performed considering all the interactions between these particles and their surroundings.

1.3 Research Objectives and Outline

The overarching objective of this research is to enhance Zn concentration in wheat grain using coated and uncoated ZnO NPs. Coating ZnO NPs imparted colloidal stability electrostatically by conferring a negative charge on the bare ZnO NPs through the formation of a shell made of poorly soluble Zn-phosphate (ZnO-core, Zn₃(PO₄)₂ shell, or core-shell NPs). Steric stabilization of ZnO NPs was achieved by using the nonionic polymer dextran (DEX-ZnO NPs), while the polyelectrolyte dextran sulfate stabilized ZnO NPs in an electrosteric manner by combining steric and electrostatic repulsive forces through negatively charged sulfate groups (DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs).

As a part of this project, we explored the application of ZnO nanomaterials with various inorganic and organic coatings both directly to soil and as a seed coating as a means of wheat fortification. We synthesized and characterized these NPs to give us insights about their expected behavior in simple and more complex systems (i.e. soil). Then we tested the performance of these NPs as seed coatings in a seed germination assay, followed by the investigation of the partitioning and dissolution of these NPs in the soil under different pH conditions. The outcome from both studies helped us select the ZnO NPs which would have better performance in moving forward with the greenhouse studies performed on wheat.

1.3.1 Research Hypotheses

- At high pH (8), amendments with negatively charged ZnO NPs will result in higher total Zn concentrations in saturated paste extracts of soil than for neutral and positively charged ZnO NPs or ZnSO₄.
- Dissolved Zn concentrations will be higher in saturated paste extracts of soil at lower pH (6) for all treatments (nano or ionic).
- Increased total Zn in saturated paste extracts is more predictive of plant available Zn status than dissolved Zn for ZnO NP treatments.

Under conditions where Zn^{2+} would precipitate as hopeite or bind to negatively charged surface sites on minerals or DOM, the colloidal stability would be maximized for the negatively charged particles; core-shell structures and DEX(SO₄) ZnO NPS, while their attachment efficiency and heteroaggregation potential would be minimized. The result of these interactions would be that the total Zn concentrations in pore waters of soils amended with the core-shell structures would be maximized when pore water concentrations of Zn^{2+} would be minimized. Total Zn concentrations in the soil pore water for ZnO NPs includes Zn in both dissolved and particulate forms which would be more indicative of Zn bioavailability since plants have been shown to take up nanoparticulate metals⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸. Dissolution of Zn ions increases as soil pH decreases due to the decrease in sorption to soil and dissolution of Zn carbonates/hydroxides precipitates. When the soil pH is far below the PZC of ZnO NPs, it will induce dissolution of the NPs and subsequently result in higher dissolved Zn concentrations in soil pore water.

1.3.2 Dissertation Outline

Chapter 2 describes the synthesis of bare, core-shell, and polymer coated ZnO NPs. The evaluation of these particles performance as seed treatments in comparison to ZnSO₄ in a seed germination assay was also presented.

Chapter 3 presents the investigation of the effects of pH, ionic strength and organic matter content of on the aggregation and zeta potential (ζ) potential of the NPs in simple media. Chapter 3 also investigates the effect of pH on the attachment and dissolution of bare and coated ZnO NPs, in comparison to ZnSO₄ in soil.

Chapter 4 evaluates the capacity of ZnO NPs to enrich Zn levels in wheat grain, in comparison to ZnSO₄ in a greenhouse study. This chapter describes two major routes of exposing the seeds to the NPs, either through seed treatment, or via soil amendment in soils that were manipulated to have either alkaline or acidic pH.

Chapter 5 summaries the overall conclusions of this research, sheds light on the challenges encountered, and suggests future work that could be performed to further the development of ZnO nanofertilizers.

Chapter 2: Functionalized ZnO Nanoparticle Seed Treatments to Enhance Growth and Zn Content of Wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) Seedlings.

Zeinah Elhaj Baddar and Jason M. Unrine

2.1 Abstract

Seed coating with micronutrients, such as Zn, is considered an alternative to soil amendment with micronutrients, especially when the latter is of limited success. In this study, we synthesized and modified the surface of ZnO nanoparticles (NPs) to investigate their potential for enhancing the Zn nutrition in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). We tested bare ZnO (bare ZnO), dextran coated (DEX), dextran sulfate (DEX(SO₄) coated ZnO nanoparticles, and $Zn_3(PO_4)_2$ shell-ZnO core NPs. Treating seeds with ZnSO₄ solution and deionized water served as an ionic and solvent control, respectively. Upon the termination of the assay, Zn concentrations in roots and shoots, biomass and lengths of roots and shoots, and seed percent germination were measured. We used non-linear regression to examine the relationship between Zn concentration in the exposure suspension/solution and seedling response. All ZnO nanoparticles were more effective than ZnSO₄ in increasing tissue Zn concentrations and seedling growth. Exposure to higher concentrations of ZnSO₄ decreased the growth and germination relative to controls and ZnO NPs. In contrast to the other treatments, bare and dextran coated ZnO NPs increased Zn concentrations in wheat without decreasing growth. While ZnSO₄ significantly inhibited seed germination, none of the ZnO NPs used in this study had a significant effect on seed germination.

Keywords: seed coating, Zn fortification, surface modified ZnO nanoparticles, wheat, seedlings growth, germination.

2.2 Introduction

Zinc deficiency has detrimental effects on plant health. Leaf necrosis and reduced leaf size ¹⁶, stunted overall plant growth, compromised yields, and decreased seed vigor⁹⁹, are examples of Zn deficiency effects on plants Zinc deficiency is also a widespread human health concern. It is often associated with growth impairment, neurological, cognitive, and immunological disorders ^{9, 100, 101}. Zinc deficiency may be related to low geogenic Zn concentrations in soil, or to poor Zn bioavailability ⁴¹. Poor Zn bioavailability can occur when soil chemistry promotes the formation of insoluble Zn minerals, such as Zn₃(PO₄).4H₂O (hopeite) and ZnCO₃, or strong binding to clay, iron oxyhydroxides or organic matter ¹⁰². Alkaline soils, particularly those rich in phosphate, are prone to poor Zn bioavailability. In this case, addition of Zn salts, such as ZnSO₄, may have limited efficacy since the added Zn may have limited bioavailability.

Several previous studies have focused on ZnO nanoparticle (NP) toxicity, with different plant species, exposure media, and test conditions ¹⁰³⁻¹¹⁸. However, few studies have addressed potential use of nanoparticulate ZnO to enhance growth and Zn levels in plants. Germination, number of pods, and Zn levels of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) seeds treated with ZnO NPs were significantly enhanced compared to seeds treated with ZnSO₄ and chelated Zn forms ⁵⁵. Growth stimulation accompanied by increased Zn concentrations, in soybean (*Glycine max*) and sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas*), have also been reported ^{103, 119}. Coating ZnO NPs onto the surface of macronutrient granules, such as urea or mono ammonium phosphate (MAP), achieved a slight advantage over bulk

ZnO in term of Zn bioavailability in calcareous alkaline soils ¹²⁰. Other studies found that bare ZnO NPs enhanced plants resistance to drought and diseases ^{121, 122,123}.

Seed germination assay studies are widely used to test toxic effects of heavy metals and NPs on plants since they are fast and simple¹²⁴. Some of these studies have showed that low concentrations of NPs had stimulatory effects on plant growth, even if higher concentrations were toxic ¹⁰⁶⁻¹¹⁰. Few such studies have primarily focused on the beneficial effects of ZnO NPs on plant health and growth^{52, 106, 121-123, 125}.

Although coating seeds with Zn salts has been a successful tool in enhancing Zn concentrations and yield in several crops such as wheat $(Triticum aestivum)^{126}$, barley (*Hordeum vulgare L.*)⁵¹, and rice (*Oryza sativa L.*)¹²⁷, few studies investigated the use of ZnO NPs as a seed treatment to enhance Zn crop nutrition^{52, 125}.

Surface modification of NPs is commonly devised to impart colloidal stability to prevent their aggregation, helps control the size and shape of the NPs¹²⁸, and enhances their compatibility to the desired applications ^{128,129}. Several studies have investigated the effects of coating charge on NP bioavailability, uptake, translocation, and toxicity in plants ^{130, 131}. For example, two hydroponic studies performed on five different plants; rice, ryegrass (*Lolium perenne*), radish (*Raphanus Sativus*), pumpkin (*Cucurbita mixta*), and wheat reported that positively charged Au and CeO₂ adhered to the roots more strongly than neutral or negatively charged ones. Conversely, higher root to shoot translocation was reported for the neutral and negatively charged CeO₂ NPs and Au NPs ^{130, 131}. Also, our previous work indicated that negatively charged ZnO NPs (ZnO core-Zn₃(PO₄)₂ shell or core-shell NPs hereafter) may have enhanced Zn bioavailability to wheat seeds ¹³².

In this chapter, we present the results of a study where we explored the use of ZnO NPs with various surface coatings as seed treatments to enhance Zn nutrition in wheat. We investigated the effect of the coating charge and the mechanism of stabilizing the particles on their distribution in seedling tissue. The ZnO NPs used as the seed treatments had various surface chemistries including, negatively charged Zn₃(PO₄)₂ shell NPs which were electrostatically stabilized, neutral and negatively charged polymer coatings (dextran (DEX) and dextran sulfate (DEX(SO₄)), which were sterically and electrosterically stabilized, respectively), and positively charged bare ZnO NPs. These forms were compared to their ionic Zn counterparts dissociating from ZnSO₄.

A seed germination bioassay and analysis of tissues for Zn content were done. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that investigates the potential use of ZnO NPs with different modes of stabilization and different surface chemistries as seed treatments to enhance Zn nutritional value of wheat.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Synthesis and Surface Modification of ZnO Nanoparticles

We synthesized bare ZnO NPs using alkaline precipitation, following the procedure reported by Becheri et al ¹³³. A 0.2 M solution of ZnCl₂ was stirred in a 90 °C water bath. After ten minutes of stirring, a 5.0 M solution of NaOH was added in a drop-wise manner to the ZnCl₂ solution, causing a milky white precipitate to form. After cooling to room temperature, the white precipitate was centrifuged at 3220 X g until the supernatant was clear. The supernatant was decanted, and the pellet was re-suspended in 18 M Ω deionized (DI) water. This process was repeated four times.

To synthesize dextran (DEX) and dextran sulfate (DEX(SO₄)) coated ZnO NPs, the same synthesis protocol was followed with either 9-11 kDa dextran in a 1:6 dextran to Zn mass ratio, or 15 kDa dextran sulfate in a 1:4 dextran sulfate to Zn mass ratio, added to the reaction mixture prior to the addition of NaOH. Purification of the DEX and DEX(SO₄) coated ZnO NPs was performed by dialysis using a 12-14 kDa molecular weight cutoff (MWCO) membrane to retain the smallest NPs (Spectra/Por ® 6 dialysis membrane). The dialysis water was changed once a day until the pH equilibrated to between 7 and 8, indicating that excess NaOH and NaCl had been removed. To synthesize core-shell NPs, we treated bare ZnO NPs with 1.58 mM HNa₂PO₄ at pH 8.0 ± 0.2 to coat particles with a Zn₃(PO₄)₂ shell NPs following the protocol of Rathnayake et al ⁸⁶. We modified the protocol by increasing the concentrations of the reactants, while keeping the ratio of P to Zn the same and purifying by dialysis instead of centrifugation. After dialysis, the pH of the suspension was adjusted to 8.50±0.50 with 0.1M NaOH to increase the colloidal stability. All reagents were provided by Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA.

Three replicate batches of bare ZnO NPs, DEX and DEX(SO₄) coated ZnO NPs, and core-shell NPs were synthesized to evaluate the reproducibility of the synthesis protocol. The yield of the bare ZnO NP synthesis was also evaluated by centrifuging the NP suspension and subsequent weighing, dissolution, and analysis of the dried pellet for Zn content by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry ICP-MS (Agilent 7500cx Santa Clara, CA, USA).

2.3.2 Nanoparticle Characterization

Dynamic light scattering (DLS) was used to measure the hydrodynamic diameter of the particles in deionized (DI) water. The results are reported as the intensity weighted mean (Z-average) hydrodynamic diameter. The electrophoretic mobility of the NPs was determined using phase analysis light scattering (PALS). Malvern Zetasizer Nano ZS (Malvern, United Kingdom) was used to perform DLS and PALS measurements. The zeta potential (ζ) was estimated from the electrophoretic mobility using the Smoluchowski's approximation. To measure the point of zero charge (PZC, the pH at which positive and negative surface charges are balanced, resulting in an electrophoretic mobility of zero)⁶⁵, we added increments of either 0.01M NaOH or HCl and measured the pH and zeta potentials corresponding to each of these increments. The values of PZC were estimated graphically by plotting pH values resulting from acid/base addition against the corresponding Zpotential. The Zn concentration used for the DLS and PALS measurements was 100 mg Zn/L in DI water. The pH of the DI water suspensions used for both measurements was between 7.15 and 7.8. The pH of the suspensions is higher than the normal pH of DI water (5.8) due to the buffering action of the ZnO NPs. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) (Jeol 2010F, Tokyo, Japan) was used to measure the primary particle size of the NPs. Around 100 individual particles were measured from several different images to determine the average primary particle size using ImageJ software (<u>http://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/download.html</u>). A powder X-ray diffraction (XRD) fractogram for the bare ZnO NPs was obtained using AXS D8 Discover diffractometer (Bruker, Madison, Wisconsin, USA) and compared to an authentic standard to verify that the product was ZnO.

We performed thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) (Discovery high resolution thermogravimetric analyzer, TA Instruments, New Castle, Delaware, USA) to measure the amount of coating on dextran and dextran sulfate coated NPs (Figure S 2.1). At a heating rate of 50°C per minute, around 8 mg lyophilized NPs were heated from 40 to 700°C. Mass losses were plotted against temperature. Coating amount was calculated by subtracting total mass losses in coated NPs from the total mass loss of bare ZnO NPs.

2.3.3 Seed Germination Assay

Winter wheat seeds (*Triticum aestivum*, cv. Pembroke, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY) were surface sterilized with 8.25% NaOCl solution, washed three times and then soaked for 1 hour in DI water. Around 15 seeds were incubated in 3mL of treatment solution (bare ZnO, DEX, DEX(SO₄) and core-shell NPs, and ZnSO₄ and a DI water control) in a 15 mL centrifuge tube. Each treatment was replicated five times. The nominal concentrations used for each treatment were 100, 500, and 1000 mg Zn/L. ZnO NP suspensions were sonicated for 45 min at 100% amplitude using a cup horn sonicator (Qsonica, Newtown, Connecticut, USA).

For coating controls, we used TGA, *vide supra*, to quantify the amount of dextran and dextran sulfate in 1000 mg Zn/L suspensions of DEX-ZnO and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs. For core-shell NPs coating control treatments, a 1000 mg Zn/L suspension of core-shell NPs was centrifuged for 30 min at 3220 g over a 3KDa Amicon filter (Millipore, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA). We used ion chromatography (Dionex ICS-3000, Sunnyvale, California, USA) to measure the amount of free phosphates (unattached to core-shell NPs) in the supernatant. The results of these analyses, using three replicates of Na₂HPO₄,

dextran, and dextran sulfate solutions, were 28.3, 42.5, and 32.4 mg/L, respectively, and are referred to hereafter as "coating controls".

Seeds were treated with the solutions/suspensions for 24h on a shaker at room temperature. Seeds were removed the next day and were uniformly placed on DImoistened filter paper in sterile 9 cm petri dishes. Seeds were not washed after incubation to maintain a coating of the test materials on the seed surface. Throughout this experiment, a petri dish is considered as a biological replicate. Five or three biological replicates per treatment, with 10 seeds each, were performed for Zn treatments and coating controls, respectively. The petri dishes were sealed with parafilm and incubated in the dark at 25° C. The germination assay was terminated once > 65% of the seeds in the DI water control treatments developed a radicle root of at least 20 mm length. After test termination, we measured percent germination, length of the radicle roots and shoots, and root and shoot dry biomass after lyophilization. Lyophilized roots and shoots were pooled from each plate and were digested together in metal-free 15 mL teflon vials using concentrated HNO₃. After cooling, digestates were diluted with DI water and Zn concentrations of the roots and shoots were measured using ICP-MS. Digestion blanks, duplicates, post digestion spiked samples, and standard reference material (SRM1515; apple leaves, National Institute of standards and Technology, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) were also included to validate the analyses. Relative percent difference between duplicates and spike and SRM1515 recoveries were 11.7±5.5%, 96.0±7.2%, and $101.7 \pm 7.3\%$, respectively (mean \pm one standard deviation).
2.3.4 Dissolution Experiments

Dissolution experiments were performed in DI water at 500 mg Zn/L for DEX-ZnO, DEX(SO₄)-ZnO, bare ZnO, and core-shell NPs. Nanoparticles were dispersed in 5mL DI water in 15 mL centrifuge tubes. Suspensions were sonicated for 45 min at 100% power. Each treatment was performed in triplicates. Two mL aliquots were transferred from each tube to 2.0 mL microcentrifuge tubes to measure dissolution. These tubes were left to equilibrate for 24 h, then centrifuged at 16,837 X g for 3 hours. One mL supernatant was transferred carefully from each tube to another 2.0 mL centrifuge tube. The supernatants were acidified to 0.158 M HNO₃ and analyzed for dissolved Zn using ICP-MS.

2.3.5 Statistical Analysis

Due to the variation in the actual Zn concentrations in exposure suspensions, we performed quadratic regression analysis to explain the relationship between actual Zn concentration in exposure solutions/suspensions and Zn accumulation and plant response. The relationship between Zn concentration in the exposure solution and germination was analyzed using linear regression. Although germination data followed a Poisson distribution, the variances were homogenous. Thus, we evaluated differences in germination between the control and ZnSO4 treatments at each nominal Zn concentration using the pairwise t-test at α 0.05. We also used ANOVA followed by the Tukey HSD test to test significant differences among ZnO NPs in the dissolution experiment. ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's test, was used to test for significant differences between DI and coating control treatments on germination and seedlings growth. Statistical analysis was performed using JMP \circledast 10.0.0. Sigmaplot 12.5 was used to generate the graphs.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Particle Characterization

The primary particle size measured by TEM ranged from 20 to 30 nm and varied a little among treatments and among batches for the same treatment (Fig. 2.1). Primary particle sizes of three separate replicates from each NP are reported as mean \pm one standard deviation (Table 2.1). Also, we averaged the primary particle sizes of the three replicates and reported the results as grand mean \pm one standard deviation (Table 2.1). Primary particle sizes for bare, core shell, DEX-ZnO, and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs were respectively: 24 ± 1 , 27 ± 0.30 , 18.0 ± 1.0 , and 20 ± 1.0 , reported as grand means \pm one standard deviation (Table 2.1).

The Z-average diameters (intensity-weighted) ranged from 304-755 nm, indicating some degree of aggregation in the suspensions (Table 2.2). The intensity weighted Z-average diameter is also heavily weighted towards larger particles ¹³⁴. Although the Z-average diameter is not a good representation of the physical distribution of particle sizes (by mass, volume, or number), it allows for a good comparison between treatments as it does not rely on the assumptions needed to convert the data to mass, volume, or number weighted distributions. All NPs, except the dextran coated ones, were aggregated to a similar degree, while DEX-ZnO NPs were significantly more aggregated. Since multiple peaks showed up when analyzing the hydrodynamic size, volume weighted averages are reported as well (Table 2.2).

The ζpotentials in DI water (Table 2.2), were positive for bare ZnO and DEX (+29.1 mV and +19.5 mV, respectively). Whereas, core-shell and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs were negatively charged (-23.9 mV and -24.8 mV, respectively). The presence of a polymer on

the particle surface complicates the estimation of ζ potential from electrophoretic mobility data due to the uncertainty about the size of the electrical double laver^{135,136}. However, the sign of the charge is certain, allowing for an accurate estimation of the PZC. Bare ZnO NPs had a PZC of 9.8, while DEX-ZnO NPs PZC was almost one pH unit lower (8.7). Core-shell and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs had PZC values lower than 6.2 (Fig. S 2.2). Addition of a Zn₃(PO₄)₂ shell as well as coating ZnO NPs with dextran sulfate resulted in a significant decrease and a sign inversion in the zeta potential values in DI water (-20.7 and -24.8 mV, respectively) (Table 2.2) and (Fig S 2.2). This is because it decreased the PZC from 9.80 for bare ZnO NPs to less than 6.2 for DEX(SO₄) and core-shell particles. Our previous research indicated that treatment of ZnO with the HNa₂PO₄ solution at pH 8 results in an amorphous shell of Zn₃(PO₄)₂ on the surface of the particles¹³². The PZC value of $Zn_3(PO_4)_2.4H_2O$ is around 4.8^{137} . We found that the PZC value of the core-shell particles was less than 6, accounting for the charge reversal observed in DI water as compared to bare ZnO NPs (Fig. S 2.2). A similar shift to a lower PZC value for the DEX(SO₄) particles was expected given that the pKa of dextran sulfate is approximately 2¹³⁸ (Fig S 2.2).

There was a good agreement in XRD diffractograms between the bare ZnO NPs and the authentic zincite-structured ZnO standard (Fig S 2.3).

2.4.2 Zinc Concentration in Roots and Shoots

We found that the quadratic regression best fits the relationship between Zn concentrations in exposure solutions and root and shoot Zn concentration (Fig. 2.2, Table 2.3). We defined the concentration of Zn in the exposure solution corresponding to the maximum tissue Zn concentration, biomass, or root/shoot elongation on a regression line

as Zn optimum- (Zn _{opt}) for each parameter. Regression lines associated with Zn concentration achieved in roots and shoots of treated seeds in all treatments were statistically significant (p<0.001) at α =0.05. Coating with DEX-ZnO NP resulted in the highest Zn concentration in the roots with 2143 µg/g at Zn _{opt}>1196 mg Zn/L, followed by the DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs treatment which delivered 1910 µg Zn/g roots at Zn _{opt}>936 mg Zn/L, while ZnSO₄ increased root Zn concentrations to 1871 µg/g at a Zn _{opt} of 725 mg/L. Bare ZnO and core-shell NPs had almost the same root Zn concentration with 1464 and 1454 µg Zn/g at Zn _{opt} values of 605 and 1017 mg Zn/L, respectively (Fig 2.2, Table 2.3).

Compared to root Zn concentrations, shoot Zn concentrations were almost an order of magnitude lower, with maximum tissue concentrations at much lower Zn _{opt} values (Fig 2.2, Table 2.3). Seeds treated with bare ZnO NPs achieved the highest mean shoot tissue Zn concentration (433 μ g/g) at a lower Zn _{opt} value of 518 mg Zn/L. At a Zn _{opt} value of 894 mg/L, DEX-ZnO treatment resulted in 346 μ g Zn/g of shoot tissue. Similarly, the DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs, ZnSO₄ and core-shell NPs resulted in 309, 302 and 266 μ g Zn/g shoot dry mass at Zn _{opt} values of 674, 597 and 644 mg/L, respectively.

In general, all Zn treatments significantly enhanced tissue Zn concentrations in roots and shoots compared to controls. Dextran coated, DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs, and ZnSO₄ had maximum Zn concentrations in the roots that were 42, 38, and 37% higher than the controls, respectively. Bare and core-shell NPs were 29 times higher than the control in terms of root Zn concentration. Bare ZnO NP-treated seeds had the highest Zn concentration in their shoots, with 13 times greater than in the controls. Dextran coated and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs respectively enhanced shoot Zn concentration by 10.5 and 9.4 times that of the control. Zn concentration in the shoots of ZnSO₄ and core-shell NPs were 9.1 and 8 times higher than the control.

Average shoot to root percentage of Zn concentration in the bare ZnO NP treatment was the highest at 30%, followed by the core-shell NP treatment with 18%. The rest of the treatments had ratios of about 16% (Fig. 2.2, Table 2.3).

With a nearly 67% increase in root biomass, the core-shell NP treatment achieved a significantly (p < 0.001) higher maximum root biomass than the other treatments, at a Zn _{opt} of 500 mg Zn/L. Treating seeds with DEX-ZnO NPs significantly (p < 0.001) increased root biomass (55% higher than control) compared to the other treatments at a Zn _{opt} of 428 mg/L. The maximum increase in root biomass achieved using ZnSO₄ did not exceed 24% at a Zn _{opt} of 238 mg Zn/L (p < 0.001). Quadratic fits for the remaining treatments (bare and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs) were not statistically significant at α =0.05, indicating no stimulatory or inhibitory effect of Zn on biomass at any concentration (Fig. 2.3, Table 2.3).

At a Zn _{opt} of 314 mg/L, DEX-ZnO NPs significantly enhanced root elongation by 24% as compared to controls (p=0.044), while treating seeds with ZnSO₄ elongated the main root by 17% compared to the controls at a Zn _{opt} of 138 mg Zn/L (p<0.001). None of the corresponding quadratic fits associated with the rest of treatments were statistically significant at $\alpha=0.05$ (Fig. 2.3, Table 2.3).

Shoot biomass was 21% higher than control (p=0.044) in seeds treated with DEX-ZnO NPs at Zn _{opt} of 415 mg/L. While at 124 mg Zn/L, only a 2% increase in shoot biomass was achieved by ZnSO₄ treatment (p=0.003). We found no significant effects of the rest of Zn treatments on shoot biomass (Fig. 2.4, Table 2.3).

Treating seeds with DEX-ZnO NPs significantly (p=0.030) increased shoot length compared to the rest of Zn treatments with a 27% increase in shoot length relative to the control at Zn _{opt} of 406 mg/L. Bare ZnO NP treatment had significantly (p=0.033) increased shoot length, with a 24% increase relative to the control at a lower Zn _{opt} of 242 mg/L. The core-shell NP treatment (p=0.019) was slightly lower than ZnO NPs with 23% increase in shoot elongation Zn _{opt} of 587 mg/L. Zinc sulfate treatments (p=0.008) had the smallest increase in shoot length by only 16% relative to controls at a Zn _{opt} of 297 mg/L. Treating seeds with DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs had no effect on shoots elongation (Fig 2.4, Table 2.3).

2.4.3 Germination

Percent germination was not related to Zn concentration for any treatment except for ZnSO₄, for which germination was negatively related to Zn exposure concentration at α = 0.05 (Fig. 2.5). For ZnSO₄, germination success was less than 50% at the highest exposure (nominal) concentration of 1000 mg Zn/L. Pairwise t-test between control and ZnSO₄ treated seeds showed that the latter significantly inhibited germination at a nominal Zn concentration of 500 mg Zn/L (Fig. S 2.4).

2.4.4 Effect of Coating Material on Growth and Germination

There was no significant effect of the coating material on either germination or root elongation (α =0.05; table S 2.1). Dextran sulfate, DEX, and Zn₃(PO₄)₂ coatings significantly increased (*p*<0.05) root and shoot biomasses by 59% and 55%, 23% and 22%, and 26% and 18%, respectively, compared to the DI control. Only DEX(SO₄) and DEX coatings caused significant increases (*p*<0.05) in shoot length by 62% and 11%, respectively, compared to the DI control.

Another way to examine the effect of Zn treatment on the seedling growth is by plotting Zn concentration in seedling tissue versus measured biomass. In seedling roots, the quadratic regression analysis for all Zn treatments (Fig. S 2.5 (A), Table S 2.2 (A)). Except for core-shell NPs, the rest of nanoparticulate ZnO treatments had almost an identical accumulation of biomass at root Zn concentrations lower than around 750 µg Zn/g biomass. Core-shell NPs tended to have a different behavior as the biomass accumulation was significantly higher than the rest of ZnO NP treatments which could explain the lower Zn root max. Zinc sulfate treatment barely enhanced the root biomass relative to the control which could explain the relatively high Zn root max for this treatment. All ZnO NP treatments accumulated higher relative root biomass when compared to ZnSO4 over the entire range of Zn root concentration (Fig. S 2.5(A), Table S 2.2). For relative shoot biomass, the quadratic regression analysis was not statistically significant for all but ZnSO4 treatment, perhaps due to the spread of the data points. Therefore, no inferences could be drawn from such relationships (Fig. S 2.5(B), Table S 2.2).

2.4.5 Dissolution of ZnO Nanoparticles

Dissolution data showed that, at a nominal Zn concentration of 500 mg/L, dissolved Zn concentrations for DEX(SO₄), DEX, bare ZnO, and core-shell NPs were 22.6, 19.0, 4.8, and 4.0 mg Zn/L, respectively (Fig. 2.6).

2.4.6 Critical Zn Levels

Since Zn _{opt} values that we previously defined for each treatment vary depending on the regression variable (e.g. biomass, elongation) and the shape of the quadratic regression, optimizing the Zn concentration in the coating solution to achieve maximum Zn levels and plant growth simultaneously must be done carefully. Thus, it is important to define a Zn concentration in the exposure solution beyond which adverse effects occur for any of the endpoints¹³⁹. We hereafter define this concentration as the critical Zn exposure concentration for toxicity or Zn _{crt}. The graphical relationship between Zn _{crt} and Zn _{opt} is also shown (Fig. 2.7).

Since toxic effects occur at higher concentrations than deficiency effects, Zn _{crt} will always be higher than Zn _{opt} for a given endpoint. Finding the points of a quadratic equation (exposure Zn concentration) when the response equals 1 gives two solutions; 0 (Zn concentration for control treatments) and a positive number which represents Zn _{crt} (Fig. 2.7). We determined the values of Zn _{crt} for each treatment and at each physiological endpoint (Table 2.4). We also determined corresponding Zn _{opt} values for comparison (Table 2.4). Data derived from statistically significant regressions for each treatment showed that Zn _{crt} was at least twice as great as Zn _{opt} for all the Zn treatments and at each physiological endpoint, except for germination (Table 2.4). Germination did not follow this rule, because there was no response for any treatment except ZnSO4. This treatment had a linear decrease in germination success with increasing exposure concentrations. In cases where the Zn _{opt} or the Zn _{crt} values exceeded the maximum concentration that was tested, we indicate that it is greater than the maximum tested concentration.

For the core-shell NP treatment, regardless of the physiological endpoint, Zn _{crt} values were all similar and slightly exceeded 1000 mg/L, which represents the maximum nominal Zn concentration used in this study. ZnO NPs coated with dextran followed the same pattern, though Zn _{crt} values were equal to or slightly lower than the maximum tested Zn concentration (1000 mg Zn/L). Given that none of the regression lines associated with DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs treatments were statistically significant, no

stimulatory or inhibitory effects on seedlings growth could be deduced. Thus, there are no Zn_{crt} and Zn_{opt} values. Bare ZnO NP treatment followed a similar pattern, except for shoot elongation, which had a Zn _{crt} of 750 mg Zn/L.

Values of Zn _{crt} for ZnSO₄ treatments were much lower than these for the rest of the ZnO NPs. Root growth (biomass and elongation) and shoot elongation all had Zn _{crt} values that were almost half the values of Zn _{crt} for core-shell and DEX-ZnO NPs treatments. Shoot biomass was the most sensitive endpoint for the ZnSO₄ treatment, where Zn _{crt} = 280 mg Zn/L. This was 72% lower than Zn _{crt} for DEX-ZnO NPs (Table 2.4).

2.5 Discussion

In this study, we demonstrated that treating seeds with ZnO NPs, at nontoxic concentrations, could improve plant growth and Zn concentrations in wheat seedlings. All Zn treatments, regardless of Zn form, significantly enhanced tissue Zn concentrations in roots and shoots, compared to the control. We also found that the nanoparticulate treatments were more effective than ZnSO₄ in enhancing root and shoot Zn concentrations and growth. Germination was not affected by any of the Zn nanoparticle treatments, whereas ZnSO₄ significantly inhibited germination even at the lowest tested concentration of 100 mg Zn/L. Furthermore, surface chemistry of the ZnO NPs in this study led to different patterns in tissue targeting and growth stimulation. To our knowledge, no previous studies have investigated the use of different surface coatings on ZnO nanomaterials to alter their surface chemistry and performance characteristics so as to enhance Zn tissue concentrations in plants.

While ZnO NP seed treatments have not been well studied from a nutritional standpoint, a few studies have examined ZnO toxicity and Zn accumulation. De la Rosa et al reported that alfalfa, tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*), and cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*) accumulated 4700, 2100, and 1600 μ g Zn per g of seedling, respectively, when seeds were treated with ZnO nanoparticle concentrations of 1285 mg Zn/L. On the other hand, seedlings of these plants accumulated less Zn (3500, 1100, and 800 μ g Zn/g in alfalfa, tomato, and cucumber, respectively) in their tissue when seeds were treated with ZnSO₄ at 250 mg Zn/L¹¹⁰. Likewise, Chinese cabbage seeds that were treated with 30 nm bare ZnO NPs at 64 mg Zn /L had about 23 times higher Zn concentration in the seedlings compared to ZnSO₄ at 2 mg Zn /L¹⁴⁰. In the present study, we found that Zn max values for ZnSO₄ at Zn _{opt}, indicating that ZnO NPs are more efficient at delivering Zn to plant tissues than ZnSO₄.

Enhanced delivery of Zn to the seeds by ZnO NPs relative to ZnSO₄, appears to operate through a particle-specific mechanism. We found that at equal Zn concentrations, some NPs deliver more Zn to plants than ZnSO₄, despite much lower dissolved Zn concentrations in the NP treatments. For example, the data showed that in 500 mg Zn/L ZnO exposure solutions, which is close to Zn _{opt} values for shoot concentrations, dissolved Zn concentrations were low (4-22 mg Zn/L). The ZnSO₄ treatment had a similar Zn _{opt} for shoot concentrations (597 mg/L). However, the mean shoot tissue concentrations were higher for the bare ZnO NP than for the ZnSO₄ treatment (433 μ g/g vs 302 μ g/g) at the Zn _{opt} values. Previous studies have reported similar findings where accumulation of Zn from NP treatments was higher than would be predicted based on the

dissolved Zn concentration^{110, 140}. As further evidence of different mechanisms of uptake for particles versus dissolved ions, data from Zhang et al suggest that the seed coat of maize (*Zea mays*) is a greater barrier to absorption of Zn from ZnO than ZnSO₄. Even in this case, however, bare ZnO NPs caused a significantly higher amount of Zn in the roots compared to ZnSO₄, even with an intact seed coat¹⁰⁸. Taken together, these findings suggest a nano-specific Zn delivery mechanism that requires further investigation.

Similarly, ZnO NPs were more effective at increasing biomass, suggesting that absorbed Zn from ZnO NPs can supply biologically available Zn. The present data showed that shoot and root biomass were increased by 21% to 67%, relative to the control, at Zn _{opt} values that ranged from 415 to 500 mg Zn/L. Several previous studies focusing on the toxicity of ZnO NPs reported growth stimulation. Root and shoot biomass of mung bean (*Vigna radiata*) from seeds treated with bare ZnO NPs at 16 mg Zn /L were increased by 41% and 76%, respectively, relative to the control ¹⁰⁹. Bare ZnO NP treated gram (*Cicer arietinum*) seeds developed root and shoot biomass that was, respectively, 37% and 27% higher than the controls at an exposure concentration of 20 mg Zn/L as well ¹⁰⁹. Exposure to bare ZnO NPs at 642 mg Zn/L enhanced tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) seedling biomass by 36% compared to the control¹¹⁰.

Root and shoot elongation have been shown to be increased by exposure to ZnO NPs in several studies. Our study showed that root and shoot elongation was significantly enhanced when seeds were treated with ZnO NPs at non-toxic Zn concentrations. In one previous study that did focus on using seed treatments to enhance crop Zn nutrition, Subbaiah et al found that bare ZnO NPs enhanced the growth of maize. The study showed that ZnO NPs at 1204 mg Zn /L significantly enhanced root and shoot elongation

by 40% and 35%, respectively, when compared to the control, and by 60% and 55%, respectively, when compared to ZnSO₄ at a concentration of 1606 mg Zn/L⁵². In another study, at 8.03 mg Zn/L, radicle length of maize was significantly increased by 20% compared to the control ¹⁰⁸. Cucumber seeds treated with bare ZnO NPs at Zn concentrations of around 160 and 320 mg Zn/L developed radicles that were 1.9 and 2.7 times as long as these of non-treated seeds, respectively¹¹⁰. In sweet sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*), germination success, and root and shoot elongation, were all improved relative to the untreated seeds at 100 mg Zn/L added in the form of bare ZnO NPs ¹²⁵. In soybean seeds treated with bare ZnO NPs at 405 mg Zn/L, root elongation was 30% greater than that of the control ¹⁰⁷. In comparison, we found that most of our reported Zn _{opt} values for wheat seedling root and shoot elongation were between 200 and 600 mg Zn/L with corresponding increases in root and shoot elongation of around 23-40% relative to the control.

In general, all tested coating materials significantly enhanced seedling growth (biomass and elongation) which could indicate that there was an interaction effect of ZnO NPs and the coating material on seedling growth which requires further investigation.

Regardless of Zn concentration, ZnO NPs did not affect wheat germination success. Most previous germination studies have reported similar results on soybean¹⁰⁷, cucumber^{108, 141}, radish and rape¹¹⁸, lettuce^{114, 141}, maize and rice¹¹⁶, and zucchini (*Cucurbita pepo*)⁵⁶. A few studies have shown adverse effects of ZnO NPs on germination. For example, Jain et al found that at a concentration 803 mg Zn /L, bare ZnO NP inhibited the germination of wheat, tomatoes, and pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* L.)¹⁰⁶. Subbaiah et al and Zhang et al reported a significant increase in maize germination compared to the control at 1204 and 8.03 mg Zn/L, respectively ^{52, 108}. These contradictory findings could be attributed to test conditions or to the specific cultivars used.

In general, previous research has shown that ZnO NP seed treatments induced less toxicity than ZnSO₄ seed treatments ^{52, 107, 108, 125, 140, 142}. We also found that ZnSO₄ inhibited germination and caused adverse effects on growth at Zn concentrations much lower than applied as ZnO NPs. The ZnO NP treated plants tended to have both higher Zn concentrations and higher biomass at a given exposure concentration. In our study, germination was significantly inhibited at a nominal Zn concentration of 500 mg Zn /L applied as ZnSO₄, as compared to the control. None of the ZnO NP treatments had an effect on germination. The maximum nominal Zn concentration in ZnO NPs treatment used in this study was 1000 mg Zn/L which was probably not high enough to induce inhibitory effects on seed germination with ZnO NPs. In sweet sorghum, ZnSO₄ treatments inhibited seed germination and root and shoot elongation at 25 mg Zn/L^{125} . In maize, at 1000 mg Zn/L in bare ZnO NPs suspension, germination was not affected even with the seed coat removed. Lin and Xing found a significant negative effect of bare ZnO NPs on seed germination¹¹⁸; but this particular study involved a 2h exposure period followed by keeping the seeds on a filter paper soaked with 5 mL of the exposure suspension at 1606 mg Zn/L over the course of the germination study, which probably resulted in much higher Zn uptake.

This is the first study showing that changing the surface chemistry of the particles by applying different coatings changed their performance in terms of plant growth and tissue Zn targeting. A few previous studies have focused on the effect of charge on the

partitioning of NPs in plant tissue ^{130, 131}, but this was for whole plants in hydroponic culture, not for seed treatments. These studies were also focused on toxicity of nonnutrient materials. Surface charge and the type of ligand on the coatings affected the translocation of gold nanoparticles in tomato and rice ¹⁴³. Li et al found that although cysteine and thioglycolic acid ligands were negatively charged and had similar size, cysteine coated Ag NPs were more efficiently translocated to rice and tomato shoots compared to thioglycolic coated Ag NPs, which were not different from the positively charged cysteamine coated particles ¹⁴³. Positive charge on CeO₂ nanoparticles¹³⁰ and Au nanoparticles ^{131, 143} preferentially increased the Au and Ce root tissue concentrations compared to neutral and negatively charged coatings in wheat, ryegrass, tomatoes and rice. Conversely, neutral and negatively charged CeO₂ and Au NPs were more effectively translocated to the shoots and leaves ^{130, 131}. In this study, DEX(SO₄) caused much higher root Zn in as compared to core-shell NPs, although both nanoparticles had a negative charge. This could be attributed to the combined effect of the higher dissolution and the stabilizing mechanism used. $DEX(SO_4)$ NPs are polymer coated, which may have enhanced their adherence to the roots/seed coat, compared to the core-shell NPs, through hydrophobic interaction ¹⁴⁴. Similarly, DEX-ZnO NPs exhibited a higher dissolution and were likely adsorbed more efficiently on to the roots/seed coat through hydrophobic interaction especially when compared to core-shell NPs. Bare ZnO NPs accumulated the highest Zn concentration in the shoots, compared to the rest of ZnO NPs, even though they had a positive zeta potential. Previous studies have shown that positively charged particles preferentially accumulate in roots ^{130, 131, 143}. This observation requires further study to determine the mechanisms involved.

The decision over which Zn concentration and particle coating should be used depends on the objective. For example, if the objective is to get maximum enrichment of shoot tissue Zn without negatively affecting the plant growth, then for the DEX-ZnO treatment, selecting the value of Zn _{opt} for tissue Zn concentration (894 mg/L) is the best, since it is less than all Zn _{crt} values for root and shoot biomass (1031, 985 mg Zn/L, respectively) and elongation (910, 968 mg Zn/L, respectively). For the ZnSO₄ treatment, all but shoot elongation had Zn _{crt} lower than Zn _{opt} for shoot tissue Zn concentration (597 mg Zn/L). The most sensitive endpoint was shoot biomass which had a Zn _{crt} of 280 mg Zn/L. Hence, Zn concentration in the exposure solution should not exceed that value. Since ZnO NPs tended to target different seedling parts, bare ZnO NPs for example, would be a better choice for enhancing shoot Zn nutrition compared to the rest of the treatments, while DEX and DEX(SO₄) ZnO NPs would be superior to the rest of the NPs to enhance root Zn concentration.

The results of this study collectively showed that engineered ZnO nanomaterials performed better than ZnSO₄ as a seed treatment, since higher biomass, root and shoot elongation and tissue Zn concentrations, depending on treatment, could be achieved without causing adverse effects. Within the ZnO NP treatments, surface chemistry affected the distribution of Zn within the plant. Surface chemistry also affected enhancement of elongation and biomass within the plants. Thus, it is possible to tune the surface chemistry to optimize the performance of the ZnO NPs depending on the desired effects

Acknowledgements:

The authors thank: A. Wamucho, C. Chen, J. Li, S. Lichtenberg, S. Shrestha, R. Lewis, O. Tsyusko, and D. Van Sanford. This is a publication of the Kentucky Agricultural Experiment Station. This work is supported by the National Institute of Food and Agriculture, U.S. Department of Agriculture - under 1010358. Support was also provided by the National Science Foundation under CBET- 1530594.

Tables:

Nanoparticle	Replicate(1) Avg.(nm)± Stdev.	Replicate(2) Avg.(nm)± Stdev.	Replicate(3) Avg.(nm)± Stdev.	Grand mean (nm)± Stdev.
Core-shell	27 ± 11	28 ± 9	27 ± 11	27 ± 0.3
Bare ZnO	23 ± 10	25 ± 9	23 ± 9	24 ± 1
DEX-ZnO	18 ± 10	17 ± 6	19 ± 7	18 ± 1
DEX(SO ₄)-ZnO	22 ± 11	19 ± 6	19 ± 7	20 ± 1

Table 2.1 Primary particle sizes of three replicates of each type of nanoparticles (NPs) as measured by transmission electron microscopy. Stdev = one standard deviation

Table 2.2 Hydrodynamic size, zeta potential, pH at which zeta potential values were measured, and point of zero charge (PZC) for ZnO NPs. Results are reported as the average of three independent replicates of each ZnO NPs \pm one standard deviation

Nanoparticles*	Hydrodynamic diameter † (nm)	Hydrodynamic diameter †† (nm)	Zeta potential (mV)	рН	PZC	
Bare ZnO	314 ± 33	623 ± 139	29.1± 0.6	7.15	9.8	
DEX-ZnO	755 ± 192	974± 542	19.5± 1.1	7.80	8.7	
DEX(SO ₄)-ZnO	304 ± 36	574 ± 83	-24.8 ± 0.4	7.40	<6.2	
Core-shell	531.5 ± 44.6	586.8 ± 205.3	-23.9±	7.61	<6.2	

[†] Intensity weighted z-average [†][†] Volume weighted z-average.

Plant	Regression	Core-shell	DEX-	DEX(SO4)-	Bare ZnO	ZnSO ₄	Control*
response	parameter	NPs	ZnO	ZnO NPs			
			NPs				
Zn	r^2	0.91	0.84	0.81	0.94	0.89	NA
concentration	<i>p</i> -value	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	NA
in roots (µg/g)	Zn opt(mg/L)	1017	>1196	>936	605	725	NA
	Zn roots max	1454	2143	1910	1464	1871	50.6 ± 4.8
	$(\mu g/g)$						
Zn	r^2	0.91	0.78	0.87	0.84	0.80	NA
concentration	<i>p</i> -value	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	NA
in shoots	Zn opt(mg/L)	644	894	674	518	597	NA
(µg/g)	Zn shoots max	266	346	309	433	302	33.2±8.1
	$(\mu g/g)$						
Shoots to		18	15	11	30	16	66
Roots Zn (%)							
Relative root	r^2	0.76	0.66	0.14	0.024	0.73	NA
biomass	<i>p</i> -value	<0.001	<0.001	0.3772	0.8744	<0.001	NA
	$Zn_{opt}(mg/L)$	500	428	NS	NS	238	NA
	Root max biomass	1.67	1.55	NS	NS	1.24	NA
Relative root	r^2	0.19	0.38	0.47	0.27	0.69	NA
length	<i>p</i> -value	0.2627	0.044	0.016	0.131	<0.001	NA
C	$Zn_{opt}(mg/L)$	NS	314	450	NS	138	NA
	Roots max length	NS	1.24	1.48	NS	1.17	NA
Relative	r^2	0.20	0.38	0.038	0.064	0.58	NA
Shoot	p-value	0.2330	0.044	0.7761	0.6492	0.003	NA
biomass	$Zn_{opt}(mg/L)$	NS	415	NS	NS	124	NA
	Shoot max biomass	NS	1.21	NS	NS	1.02	NA
Relative shoot	r^2	0.46	0.42	0.078	0.41	0.53	NA
length	<i>p</i> -value	0.0188*	0.0294*	0.5859	0.0329*	0.0076*	NA
U U	$Zn_{opt}(mg/L)$	587	406	NS	242	297	NA
	Shoot max length	1.23	1.27	NS	1.24	1.16	NA

Table 2.3 Effect of Zn treatment on root and shoot lengths, dry biomass, and Zn concentration. *p*-values in bold means regression was statistically significant at α =0.05.

* Zn tissue concentrations and root and shoot biomass and elongation of control treatment are reported as mean \pm one standard deviation. Zn _{opt} is the concentration of Zn in the exposure solution resulting in the maximum corresponding Zn concentration in tissue, Zn _{root max}, Zn _{shoot max}, are maximum Zn concentration in roots and shoots calculated as the y-axis value corresponding with Zn _{opt} at the maximum of the quadratic fit. Root/shoot max biomass, max length are the corresponding biomasses and lengths of the main roots and shoots of the seedlings at Zn concentration in the exposure solution resulting in a maximum response. NA: not available. NS: non-significant regression.

Table 2.4 Critical and optimum Zn concentrations (Zn _{crt} and Zn _{opt}, respectively) in exposure solutions for Zn treatments at different physiological endpoints and for root and shoot Zn content. Zn _{opt} values corresponding with maximum Zn concentration in roots and shoots for each Zn treatment are listed. NS: not statistically significant

	Core- N	-shell Ps	DEX- N	-ZnO Ps	DEX(ZnO	(SO ₄)- NPs	Bare	ZnO	ZnS	SO4
	Zn crt	Zn opt	Zn crt	Zn opt	Zn crt	Zn opt	Zn crt	Zn opt	Zn crt	Zn opt
					1	mg/L				
Relative root biomass	>1075	500	1031	428	NS	NS	NS	NS	580	238
Relative root elongation	NS	NS	910	314	847	450	NS	NS	510	138
Relative shoot biomass	NS	NS	985	415	NS	NS	NS	NS	280	124
Relative shoot elongation	>1075	587	968	406	NS	NS	750	242	634	297
Root tissue Zn concentration	NS	1017	NS	>1535	NS	>191 0	NS	605	NS	725
Shoot tissue Zn concentration	NS	644	NS	894	NS	674	NS	518	NS	597

Figures



Figure 2.1 TEM images of bare ZnO NPs (A), dextran coated (DEX -ZnO NPs) (B), dextran sulfate coated (DEX (SO₄)-ZnO NPs) (C), ZnO-Zn₃(PO₄)₂ core-shell NPs (D). Scale bar is 50 nm



Figure 2.2 Quadratic regression for Zn concentration in root tissue on dry mass basis (A), in shoot tissue on dry mass basis (B) versus total Zn concentration in exposure solution in mg/L.



Figure 2.3 Quadratic regression for root biomasses (A), and root elongation (B) versus total Zn concentration in exposure solution in mg/L.



Figure 2.4 Quadratic regression for shoot biomasses (A), and shoot elongation (B) versus total Zn concentration in exposure solution in mg/L.



Figure 2.5 Linear regression for % germination versus total Zn concentration in exposure solution in mg/L.



Figure 2.6 Dissolution of ZnO NPs in mg Zn/L in deionized (DI) water at a nominal Zn concentration of 500 mg Zn/L. Treatments connected with different letters are not significantly different at α =0.05.



Figure 2.7 A graphical illustration of the relationship between optimum Zn (Zn $_{opt}$) and critical Zn concentration (Zn $_{crt}$) on a generic quadratic regression showing the effect of Zn concentration in the exposure solution on plant response relative to the control.

Supplementary information

Functionalized ZnO nanoparticles as seed coatings to enhance growth and Zn

content of wheat (Triticum aestivum) seedlings.

Tables:

Table S 2.1 Effect of coating material on % germination, root and shoot lengths and dry biomass*

Coating	Germination	Radicle	Root	Shoot	Shoot
type	(%)	Root length	biomass	length	biomass
		(mm)	(mg)	(mm)	(mg)
DI water	84 ± 11^{a}	20.0 ± 8.3^{a}	19.7±5.5 ^a	36.8 ± 6.8^{a}	32.5±7.1 ^b
DEX(SO ₄)	93±6 ^a	24.3±1.5 ^a	31.3±1.7 ^b	59.7±5.1 ^b	50.5±1.4 ^a
Dextran	96±6 ^a	25.0±7.2 ^a	24.2 ± 2.2^{b}	40.8 ± 5.0^{b}	39.7±2.6 ^b
$Zn_3(PO_4)_2$	96±6 ^a	22.7±6.8 ^a	24.9±8.4 ^b	43.3±9.1 ^a	38.2±6.9 ^b

*Results are reported as mean \pm one standard deviation (n=5 for deionized (DI) water, n=3 for the coatings). ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test were used to test for significant differences between the coating controls and DI control. Coating controls connected with different letters are not statistically significant from DI control at α =0.05.

Treatment	Equation	r ²	p -value
ZnSO ₄	Relative root biomass = $(-4E-07*(Zn in $	0.39	0.032*
	roots) ^2) + (0.0006*Zn in roots) + 1		
	Relative shoot biomass = $(4E-06*(Zn in$	0.16	0.028*
	shoots) ^2) - (0.0018*Zn in shoots) + 1		
Core-shell	Relative root biomass = (-9E-07*(Zn in	0.62	<0.001*
	roots) ^2) + (0.0015*Zn in roots) + 1		
	Relative shoot biomass = $(-2E-06*(Zn in$	0.05	0.066
	shoots) ^2) + (0.001*Zn in shoots) + 1		
Bare ZnO	Relative root biomass = (-7E-07*(Zn in	0.13	0.007*
	roots) ^2) + (0.0011*Zn in roots) + 1		
	Relative shoot biomass = $(-3E-06*(Zn in $	0.17	0.22
	shoots) ^2) + (0.0013*Zn in shoots) + 1		
DEX	Relative root biomass = $(-4E-07*(Zn in $	0.62	<0.001*
	roots) ^2) + (0.0009*Zn in roots) + 1		
	Relative shoot biomass = (-3E-06*(Zn in	0.04	0.12
	shoots) ^2) + (0.0012*Zn in shoots) + 1		
DEX(SO ₄)	Relative root biomass = $(-5E-07*(Zn in $	0.81	0.022*
	roots) ^2) + (0.001*Zn in roots) + 1		
	Relative shoot biomass = (9E-08*(Zn in	0.02	0.73
	shoots) ^2) - (0.0002*Zn in shoots) + 1		

Table S2.2: Quadratic regression parameters for root and shoot Zn concentration versus relative root and shoot biomass.

*Regression is statistically significant at α =0.05.



Figure S 2.1 Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) graphs for dextran coated (DEX-ZnO) NPs(A) and dextran sulfate coated DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs (B)



Figure S 2.2. Electrophoretic mobility of bare ZnO NPs, dextran coated ZnO NPs (DEX-ZnO), $Zn_3(PO_4)_2$ -ZnO NPs (core-shell), and dextran sulfate coated ZnO NPs (DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs as a function of pH in deionized (DI) water. Zn concentration was 100 mg/L for all tested suspensions



Figure S 2.3.XRD diffractogram of bare ZnO NPs and bulk ZnO



Figure S 2.4 Effect of Zn ²⁺ ions concentration in exposure solution in (mg Zn/L) on germination success %. Each concentration was separately compared to 0 mg Zn/L (deionized (DI) water control) using two-sided t-test. Zn treatments connected with different letters are significantly different from the control at α =0.05





Figure S 2.5 Effect of Zn concentration in seedling in (μ g Zn/g dry matter DM) on seedling growth. (A) Effect on root biomass, (B) Effect on shoot biomass. Quadratic regression was used to fit the data.

Chapter 3: Surface Coating Effects on the Sorption and Dissolution of ZnO Nanoparticles in Soil.

Zeinah Elhaj Baddar, Chris J. Matocha, and Jason M. Unrine

3.1 Abstract

Soil pH and dissolved organic matter (DOM) content are among the most important factors affecting the bioavailability of Zn and the binding and dissolution of ZnO nanoparticles (NPs). We investigated the effect of NP surface chemistry and DOM on the behavior of ZnO NPs and $ZnSO_4$ in soil solution at pH 6 and 8. To this end, we synthesized electrostatically stabilized (bare positively charged ZnO, and negatively charged $(Zn_3(PO_4)_2 \text{ core-shell NPs})$, and sterically and electrosterically stabilized (neutral dextran (DEX), and negatively charged dextran sulfate (DEX(SO₄))-ZnO NPs, respectively. We hypothesized that negatively charged ZnO NPs will have higher total Zn concentrations as opposed to neutral and positively charged ZnO in soil pore water at higher pH, with higher dissolution of the NPs at lower pH. We found that all soils amended with ZnO NPs had significantly higher total Zn concentrations in saturated paste extracts compared to ZnSO₄, at both pH 6 and 8. At pH 8, core-shell and DEX-ZnO NP amendments had significantly higher total Zn concentration than ZnSO₄. To further investigate the unexpected behavior of the neutral DEX-ZnO NPs, we performed sorption isotherm experiments which showed that DEX-ZnO NPs had the highest affinity for DOM of all ZnO NPs, which likely enhanced their colloidal stability and partitioning in soil pore water, especially at pH 8. In simple aqueous solution with increasing ionic strength, negatively charged core-shell and DEX(SO₄) ZnO NPs were the most stable

against aggregation. When DOM was introduced in to the system, the as-synthesized surface chemistry of the particles was altered, and all NPs became negatively charged. No differences in total or dissolved Zn concentrations in soil extracts were observed among the different NP types while ZnSO₄ amended soils had the highest dissolved Zn among all treatments.

3.2 Introduction

There is an increasing interest in the use of nanoparticles (NPs) for delivery of agrochemicals such as micronutrients and pesticides³⁹. One application under investigation has been the use of ZnO NPs as micronutrient fertilizers. A few studies have reported significant increases in yields and tissue Zn concentrations in peanuts (*Arachis hypogaea*)⁵⁵, maize (*Zea mays*)⁵², and sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*)¹²⁵ when bare ZnO NPs were added as soil amendments. Even when applied at a concentration that was ten times lower than that of ZnSO₄, foliar application of chitosan coated ZnO NPs at 40 mg/L enhanced wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) grain Zn concentration by 30% as compared to a 50% increase achieved with ZnSO₄ at 400 mg/L⁵⁴.

In general, total metal concentration is a poor indicator of Zn biooavailability¹⁴⁵. Zinc bioavailability for plant uptake is limited by high soil pH, low geogenic Zn levels and high contents of phosphates, clay, natural organic matter (NOM), and carbonates¹⁰². Therefore, using soluble Zn salts as fertilizers is often of limited success under these conditions. Likewise, soil properties may affect the bioavailability, fate, and behavior of ZnO NPs. Thus, the partitioning of nanoparticles to the soil pore water is an important determinant of the mobility and bioavailability of these nanoparticles for plant uptake.

Soil pH has a tremendous effect on the behavior of Zn ions. Higher soil pH is often associated with restricted bioavailability of nutrients, including Zn. The increase in soil pH is accompanied by the deprotonation of hydroxyl groups present on soil components such as clay aluminosilicates, Al/Fe oxohydroxides, or organic ligands, leading to the retention of Zn ions^{22, 23, 146}. Moreover, high soil pH induces Zn ion precipitation as poorly soluble Zn minerals (e.g. Zn carbonates, phosphates, and hydroxides)²². On the other hand, lower soil pH enhances the bioavailability of Zn by solubilizing Zn complexes, in addition to the desorption from the now more protonated exchange sites on soil colloid surfaces.

Nanoparticle behavior is also dramatically affected by soil pH If the pH in a medium approaches the point of zero charge PZC (the pH at which positive and negative surface charges are balanced, resulting in an electrophoretic mobility of zero⁶⁵), the particles will have a greater tendency to aggregate⁷². On the other hand, at a pH higher than the PZC, particle surfaces will be more negatively charged, conferring a higher NP colloidal stability in the soil solution as they will most likely be repelled from negatively charged colloids in the soil, thus enhancing their partitioning to the soil solution. For bare ZnO NPs the PZC is about 9.3, giving them a net positive charge at most likely soil pH values. Solubility of ZnO is also strongly pH dependent. Solubility in water begins to increase below a pH of 7.3. Previous work has shown that low soil pH enhances the dissolution of ZnO NPs and results in an increase in Zn ion concentration^{92-94, 147-150}.

Ionic strength also affects the NP colloidal stability. When electrolyte concentration increases, the electric double layer is compressed due to charge screening, which reduces the separation distances between particles and allows attractive forces to dominate,

inducing aggregation. One study reported that the propensity of Ag NPs to aggregate in an electrolyte solution was found to be dependent on their surface chemistry, specifically organic coatings, according to the following order: bare Ag NPs > Ag NPs sterically stabilized with polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP)> Ag NPs electrosterically stabilized with gum arabic (GA)¹⁴⁴.

Modification of NP surface chemistry by adding coatings is often implemented to impart colloidal stability and minimize aggregation¹²⁸. The initial surface chemistry of the as-synthesized particles can be dramatically altered in complex environmental media due to the loss of coating and/or replacement with natural organic material^{58, 151}. Dissolved organic matter can overcoat or replace original coatings on NP surfaces^{67, 87}. Due to the low pKa values of carboxylate functional groups, humic acids (HA) tend to have a negative charge under environmentally relevant conditions. Thus, whether DOM replaces or overcoats existing coatings, a negative charge will be imparted to these NPs, potentially enhancing their colloidal stability in soil solution. On the other hand, DOM could also induce NP dissolution due to the ligands exchange which occurs on the surface of these NPs⁷⁴.

This study investigated the effect of ZnO NP surface chemistry on their partitioning in soil pore water. According to the classical Derjaugin–Landau–Verwey–Overbeek (DLVO) theory, the interplay between attractive (Van der Waals) and repulsive (electrostatic) forces determines the aggregation status of colloids¹⁵². Coatings can increase particle stability by increasing electrostatic or steric repulsion. Electrostatic stabilization involves imparting a charge to the particle surface to enhance their electrostatic repulsion. Steric stabilization is caused by osmotic constraints due to the

conformation of macromolecules on two particle surfaces as they come into close proximity, thus increasing particle repulsion¹³⁵. Electrosteric stabilization combines both effects to further enhance particle stability against aggregation. In order to enhance NP resistance against aggregation, we stabilized bare ZnO NPs sterically through adding a nonionic coating (dextran), electrosterically through adding a polyelectrolyte (dextran sulfate) coating, and electrostatically by forming a shell of Zn₃(PO₄)₂ on a core of ZnO NPs. We will refer to these particles as: DEX, DEX(SO₄), and core-shell ZnO NPs hereafter. Core-shell and $DEX(SO_4)$ ZnO NPs are negatively charged, therefore, we hypothesized that this would likely enhance their partitioning to the soil solution in comparison with the positively charged bare ZnO and the neutral DEX-ZnO NPs, especially under alkaline conditions. We expected DEX-ZnO NPs to initially bind to soil particles, as it has been shown that particles coated with neutral polymers have a high affinity for surfaces which are not coated with a like polymer¹⁵³. We also expected that acidic soil pH will induce the dissolution of ZnO NPs regardless of their surface chemistry.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Zinc Oxide Nanoparticles

A detailed description of synthesis protocols and characterization of ZnO NPs can be found in our previous work¹⁵⁴. In brief, alkaline precipitation in water was used to produce bare ZnO NPs. The aging of these NPs in phosphate solution under certain conditions leads to the formation of a core made of ZnO NPs that is covered by a shell of amorphous $Zn_3(PO_4)_2^{86}$. The addition of nonionic (dextran) and polyelectrolyte (dextran (SO₄)) of 9-15 kDa at 1:6 and 1:4 coating to Zn mass ratio during the synthesis resulted in the formation of DEX and DEX(SO₄) ZnO NPs, respectively.

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM), x-ray diffraction (XRD), dynamic light scattering (DLS), phase analysis light scattering (PALS), and thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) were used to determine, the primary particle size and shape, chemical form, hydrodynamic diameter, electrophoretic mobility, and the mass of coating on the particles, respectively. We also determined the PZC of these NPs by measuring the electrophoretic mobility of 100 mg Zn/L ZnO NPs suspensions at different pH values upon titrating with either HCl or NaOH.

3.3.2 Stability of ZnO Nanoparticles as a Function of Ionic Strength

To test the effect of ionic strength on the stability of ZnO NPs, suspensions of bare and coated particles were prepared at 500 mg Zn/L in DI using cup horn sonication (Qsonica, Newtown, Connecticut, USA) at 100% amplitude for 45 minutes. Then 0.26 mL of each NP suspension was aliquoted in a 2 mL microcentrifuge tube, where 1.04 mL of 0, 1, 10, and 100 mM NaCl solutions were added to achieve a final concentration of 100 mg Zn/L. Hydrodynamic diameters and electrophoretic mobilities were measured using Zetasizer.

3.3.3 Effect of pH and DOC on Zeta (ζ) Potential and Dissolution of ZnO

Nanoparticles in Solution

We performed saturated paste extractions¹⁵⁵ from an unamended Sadler soil at both pH 6 and pH 8. The collected extracts were centrifuged for 4 hours at 16,837 x g (using a particle density of 2.67 g/cm³ for soil particles to obtain a size cut off of 35 nm diameter according to Stoke's law). The supernatants were aliquoted and referred to as particle free
soil solution (PFSS) hereafter. To buffer the soil solution pH values, which decreased due to equilibration with the atmosphere, we added 2-(N-morpholino) ethanesulfonic acid (MES) and tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane (TRIS) buffers at a final concentration of 1 mM to achieve pH values of 6 and 8, respectively.

Zinc oxide NP suspensions were prepared at a nominal concentration of 250 mg/L Zn in DI water. Cup horn sonication for 45 minutes at 100% amplitude was used to disperse the NPs. In a 2 mL microcentrifuge tube, 0.12 mL of each ZnO NP suspension and DI water (Zn free control) were added to 1.15 mL PFSS at either pH 6 or pH 8 to achieve a final concentration of 25 mg Zn/L. Three replicates of each treatment were prepared. Sample pH values were measured prior to and after 24 h mixing at room temperature on a sample rotator that was set at maximum speed. Electrophoretic mobilities were measured after 24 h using phase analysis light scattering (PALS; zetasizer nanoZS, Malvern Instruments, Malvern, United Kingdom). Particle ζ potential was estimated from electrophoretic mobilities using the Smoluchowski's approximation. These samples were then centrifuged for 3 hours at 16,837 X g, then a 0.5 mL aliquot of the supernatant was acidified to 0.16 M HNO₃ to measure the dissolved Zn in the PFSS using ICP-MS.

To address the effect of dissolved organic matter on the ζ potential of ZnO NPs, we added PPHA at a concentration of either 25 or 100 mg C/L to a 25 mg Zn/L suspension of each ZnO NP treatment in either PFSS, DI water, or MHRW. Samples were left on a tube rotator as mentioned above. Sample pH was measured in all suspensions at each C concentration level (in DI water and MHRW), and in the PFSS at both pH levels. Particle ζ potential and dissolution were determined as described above.

3.3.4 Dissolved Organic Carbon Sorption Experiments

We performed batch experiments to discern the sorption of DOC on to the surface of the different ZnO NPs. Pahokee peat humic acid (PPHA) (International Humic Substances Society, IHSS, 1S103H) was used as the model DOC source. We dissolved 10 mg of PPHA in 100 mL DI water. The pH of the solution was brought up to 9 using 0.1M NaOH to facilitate dissolution. The solution was left to stir overnight at room temperature (22° C) and then filtered with a 0.2 µm nylon filter, and stored at 4°C. The DOC concentration in PPHA stock solution was 43 mg C/L as determined using a carbon analyzer.

Zinc oxide NP suspensions at 1000 mg Zn/L were sonicated for 45 minutes at 100% amplitude. Moderately hard reconstituted water (MHRW) was prepared according to EPA method 600/4-90/027F¹⁵⁶. Briefly, in 1L DI water, the following salts were added to achieve the following measured concentrations, in g/L: 0.067, 0.123, 0.096, and 0.004 of CaSO4.2H₂O, MgSO4.7H₂O, NaHCO₃, and KCl, respectively. The pH of MHRW was adjusted to 8 throughout the sorption experiments to match the pH of PFSS which was 8. Batch experiments were carried out at room temperature (~ 22°C) in 15 mL metal free centrifuge tubes where 2 mL of MHRW was added to 0.8 mL ZnO NPs at a Zn concentration of 1000 mg Zn/L (final Zn concentration was 100 mg Zn/L). Serial dilution of PPHA stock solution was done as the volume was brought up to 8 mL using DI water. All suspensions were prepared in triplicate and incubated for 24 h on a sample rotator set at full speed to establish equilibrium. We previously determined that equilibrium was obtained in 24 hours in a separate experiment (Fig. S 3.1). The suspensions were then centrifuged for 3 h at 16,837 x g to obtain non-sorbed DOC.

To determine free dissolved organic carbon concentration, 75 μ L were withdrawn from the supernatants and aliquoted into a 96 well plate, and a microplate reader was used to measure the absorbance at 254 nm^{157, 158}. We determined the molar extinction coefficient at 254 nm using the DOC concentration of the stock solution measured using a carbon analyzer ((TOC-V_{CPN} total carbon analyzer, Shimadzu Corporation, Columbia, MD, USA).

The plots of the free DOC concentration (C_e), in mg C/L, against sorbed DOC (q_e) in mg/kg best fit a Freundlich isotherm model, which is described by the following formula: $q_e = k_f C_e^{(1/n)}$ (1)

where q_e is the amount of PPHA (mg C) adsorbed per unit mass of ZnO NP (g) at equilibrium, C_e is the concentration of free PPHA (mg C/L) at equilibrium, n is the linearity parameter, and k_f is the Freundlich coefficient which describes the binding affinity of PPHA to the surface of the particles.

The linearization approach was used to determine the Freundlich isotherm equation parameters, for each treatment where both (C_e) and (q_e) were log-transformed. Then, $log(C_e)$ values were plotted against $log(q_e)$ values. Linear regression was used to fit the data points. Slope and intercept in each regression represented (1/n) and k_f , respectively. These parameters were then used to plot the data points according to the Freundlich model.

3.3.5 Soil Characterization

Surface Sadler silt loam (fine-silty, mixed, mesic Fragiudalf) surface soil was obtained from The University of Kentucky Research and Education Center at Princeton (KY, USA). The soil was air dried, ground, and sieved (<2mm). Chemical and physical

characterization of the soil included the determination of pH in a 1:1 ratio of soil to $18M\Omega$ DI water or 1M KCl¹⁵⁹, particle size distribution (texture) by hydrometer¹⁶⁰, and total organic C and N by Dumas combustion (1112 Series NC soil analyzer, Thermo Electronic Corporation, Waltham, MA, USA)¹⁶¹. A factor of 1.724 was multiplied by the TOC value to convert soil TOC into organic matter content¹⁶¹. Acid extractable major cations and trace metals were determined following EPA method 3052^{162} . We placed 0.25g soil and 10 mL concentrated nitric acid in Teflon bombs. Closed vessel microwave digestion (MARS Express microwave reaction system (CEM, Matthews, NC) was performed and the digestates were further diluted before measuring major cation and trace metal concentrations. Major cation concentrations were measured using inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES, Vista Pro Simultaneous ICP-OES, Varian, Palo Alto, CA, USA). Trace metal concentrations were measured using Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS, Agilent 7500cx Santa Clara, CA, USA). Major anions were extracted from the soil with water according to the method described by Judy et al.¹⁶³. Analysis of recovered anions from soil samples was performed using ion chromatography (ICS-3000, Dionex, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). Colorimetric methods; molybdate blue-stannous chloride¹⁶¹ and indophenol blue¹⁶⁴, were used to determine total phosphorous and ammonium concentrations, respectively, in soil. Soil water holding capacity (WHC) was determined using pressure plate extractor (Soil Moisture Equipment Corp., Santa Barbra, CA, USA)¹⁶⁵. A Mehlich III extraction was used to estimate the bioavailable Zn fraction in soil¹⁶⁶.

3.3.6 Soil Spiking

In a 150 mL capacity disposable plastic beaker, 50 grams of air-dried soil were thoroughly mixed by a wooden stick with either 40 or 54 mg of MgCO₃ or MgO to increase soil pH to 6 and 8, respectively. The carbonates and oxide of Mg were chosen because, due to their relative acid neutralizing capacities, we could add similar amounts of Mg to each treatment. We chose to use MgCO₃ and MgO instead of Na₂CO₃ and NaOH because Na⁺ acts as a dispersing agent and disrupts the soil structure, dispersing a large quantity of soil colloids. Given that we were investigating colloidal stability of ZnO NPs, we didn't want to cause conditions that would artificially increase colloid dispersal. We also avoided using CaCO₃ or CaO due to the tendency for Ca²⁺ to cause aggregation of colloids. Magnesium ions cause less aggregation than Ca²⁺ especially in the presence of dissolved organic matter¹⁶⁷. To achieve 30% WHC, 5 mL of DI water were added to each soil sample. After thorough mixing, the beakers were weighed and covered with parafilm perforated by a few holes to allow air exchange.

Soil samples were left to equilibrate to the desired pH for 7d in an incubator at 15°C. At the end of the incubation period, masses were checked, and DI water was added as needed to compensate for evaporation. Zinc oxide NP suspensions of 1000 mg Zn/L were prepared by adding a known mass of NP powder to 5 mL DI water in a 15 mL centrifuge tube. The suspensions were sonicated using a cup horn sonicator at 100% amplitude for 45 minutes. The suspensions were then added to the soil samples and mixed thoroughly with a wooden stick, which also raised the moisture content to 60% WHC. The beakers were covered with parafilm with several holes to allow air exchange and were kept in the incubator at the same temperature for two more weeks. The masses

of beakers were recorded, and DI water was added as needed to replace water lost during the incubation period, once every week. The experiment was terminated after 14 d of incubation.

3.3.7 Saturated Paste Extraction

In order to minimize dissolution and colloidal dispersion artifacts from using large ratios of water to soil, while still obtaining sufficient soil water for analysis, we prepared saturated pastes for extraction of total and dissolved Zn using standard methods¹⁶¹. Hyperbaric filtration (Fann instrument company, Houston, TX, USA) was used to extract soil solution from the saturated paste. We used Ahlstrom 10 µm pore size filters. Saturated pastes were transferred to the filter unit and 600 kPa pressure was applied using air. The soil solution was collected and kept at 4°C. Recovery of Zn NPs or Zn ions through the filters ranged from 99-104%. Greater than 90% of 1 µm polystyrene/latex beads passed through the filters.

3.3.8 Total Zn in Spiked Soil and Total and Dissolved Zn in Saturated Paste Extracts

Total Zn concentrations were determined in soils prior to and after extracting the soil solution. Around 2.0 g of soil was dried to constant weight in the oven at 105 °C. Dried soil was ground, and 0.25 g were digested with concentrated HNO₃ as mentioned above using EPA method 3052^{162} .

Saturated paste extracts were vortexed for 30 seconds and 1mL was transferred to a 15 mL tube. Then, 0.75 mL of concentrated HNO₃ was added to each tube and an open vessel microwave digestion was performed according to EPA method 3005 A¹⁶⁸. The Zn concentration in these samples is defined as total Zn. Another 2 mL fraction of the

extracted soil solution was centrifuged at 16,837 X g for 3 hours to eliminate particles of >7 nm diameter as calculated using Stoke's law. A one mL aliquot of supernatant was subsequently acidified to 0.16 M HNO₃. We defined this Zn fraction as the dissolved Zn. Inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometer was used to measure Zn concentration in both fractions.

3.3.9 Statistical Analysis

Hydrodynamic size and the electrophoretic mobility data in the electrolyte solutions followed ANOVA assumptions of normality and variance homogeneity. Therefore, we performed ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's test to examine the effect of electrolyte concentration on the hydrodynamic size and the electrophoretic mobility for each ZnO NP treatment separately. Electrophoretic mobility and dissolution data in PFSS, DI and MHRW followed the ANOVA assumptions and were analyzed in a similar manner, where, the Tukey HSD multiple comparisons test was performed between different ZnO coatings at each PFSS soil pH or DOM concentration. Evaluation of total and dissolved Zn concentration in saturated paste extracts was performed with a randomized complete block design, where at each pH level each Zn treatment was replicated three times within each experimental block. There were two experimental blocks performed on different days. We used Proc GLM to test for significant main effects and 2 -way interactions at α = 0.05. Multiple comparisons between treatments within statistically significant interaction or main effects were performed using Tukey's HSD adjustment (SAS 9.4, SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Zinc Oxide Nanoparticle Characterization

Detailed characterization of the ZnO NPs can be found in our previous work¹⁵⁴. Transmission electron micrographs (Fig. 3.1) showed that the particles were nearly spherical. The primary particle sizes were 24 ± 1 , 27 ± 0.3 , 18 ± 1 , and 20 ± 1 nm (mean \pm one standard deviation) for bare, core-shell, DEX, and DEX(SO₄) ZnO NPs, respectively. Intensity weighted hydrodynamic diameters were: 314 ± 32.8 , 532 ± 44.6 , 755 ± 191.8 , and 304 ± 36.2 for bare, core-shell, DEX, and DEX(SO₄) - ZnO NPs, respectively. Smoluchowski's approximation was used to calculate ζ potential values from electrophoretic mobilities measured in DI water, which were positive for the bare and DEX-ZnO NPs (29.1 ± 0.6 and 19.5 ± 1.1 mV) and negative for DEX(SO₄) and coreshell ZnO NPs (-24.8 ± 0.4 and -23.9 ± 2.3 mV). Point of zero charge values were determined graphically by plotting zeta potential values across a range of pH values (Fig. S3.2). Bare ZnO and DEX-ZnO NPs had higher PZC than DEX(SO₄) and core-shell ZnO NPs, where the former two had PZC values of 9.8 and 8.7, respectively, and the latter two had PZC values less than 6.2.

3.4.2 Effect of Ionic Strength on Hydrodynamic Diameter and Zeta (ζ) Potential

The increase in the intensity weighted (z-average) hydrodynamic diameter of ZnO NPs in response to the increase in the electrolyte concentration indicates significant aggregation, especially at 100 mM NaCl (Fig. 3.2A). In contrast to the coated particles, bare ZnO NPs started aggregating at the lowest NaCl concentration of 1mMwhere the mean intensity weighted hydrodynamic diameters doubled (from 408 \pm 83 nm to 816 \pm 72 nm (mean \pm one standard deviation)). DEX-ZnO NPs were aggregated to some

degree even at 0 mM NaCl, at 809 ± 189 nm (mean \pm one standard deviation). Negatively charged ZnO NPs (core-shell and DEX(SO₄)) were more resistant to aggregation. At 1 and 10 mM NaCl, negatively charged particle diameters was around 40% and 25% lower than that found with the bare and neutral particles (ZnO and DEX). At the highest electrolyte concentration of 100 mM, all NPs exhibited an increase in aggregation (Fig. 3.2A).

The ζ potential values for core-shell and DEX(SO₄)- ZnO NPs remained negative as electrolyte concentration increased (Fig. 3.2B). Whereas for DEX and bare ZnO NPs, ζ potential remained mostly positive (except for DEX at 100 mM NaCl) and significantly decreased especially when the electrolyte concentration increased to 10 mM. ζ potential values were 0.28 and 0.50 lower for the bare and DEX-ZnO NPs, respectively, in comparison to ζ potential values in DI water. Likewise, at 100 mM NaCl, bare and DEX ZnO NPs had ζ potential values were respectively 4 and 20 times lower than those measured in DI water. For core-shell and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs, increasing the concentration to 1 and 10 mM produced similar ζ potential values which were 1.32 times lower than ζ potential in the absence of the electrolyte. On the other hand, increasing the concentration to 100 mM increased the ζ potential of the core-shell NPs which was not significantly different from the DI treatment (Fig. 3.2B). Zinc oxide NPs coated with dextran sulfate $DEX(SO_4)$ followed a similar pattern, albeit more pronounced changes in ζ potential values can be observed. Compared to DI water treatment, ζ potential values for DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs were 1.6, 1.9, and 1.3 lower at 1, 10, and 100 mM NaCl, respectively (Fig. 3.2B). The pH of all treatments ranged from 7 to 8, so the pH effect on ζ potential was minimal.

3.4.3 Zeta (ζ) Potential of Particles in Simulated Soil Solutions

Increasing DOC concentration in DI tended to lower ζ potential values for all ZnO NPs (Fig. 3.3A). At 0 mg C/L, only DEX-ZnO NPs exhibited a positive ζ potential (24.1 ± 3.3 mV) (mean ± one standard deviation), while other ZnO NPs had negative ζ potentials and were not significantly different from one another. When DOC concentration increased to 25 mg C/L, bare ZnO NPs had significantly lower ζ potential of -50.7 ± 1.34 mV, when compared to the other ZnO NPs, which were not significantly different from one another. The ζ potential for DEX-ZnO NPs at 100 mg C/L was significantly higher (p = 0.016) than the rest of treatments (-45.5 ± 0.78 mV).

Likewise, in MHRW, increasing DOC concentration lowered zeta potential of ZnO NPs (Fig. 3.3B). There were no significant differences among the NPs at 0 or 25 mg C/L. However, at 100 mg C/L, DEX-ZnO NPs had the highest ζ potential (-37.2 ± 0.7, mV) of all treatments (p < 0.05), followed by DEX(SO₄), bare ZnO, and core-shell NPs with ζ potentials of (-41.9 ± 0.7, mV), (-44.8 ± 1.1, mV), and (-45.7 ± 1.7, mV), respectively (mean ± one standard deviation). All ZnO NPs were negatively charged in PFSS, regardless of soil pH (Fig 3.3C). In PFSS at pH6, DEX and DEX(SO₄) ZnO NPs were significantly (p = 0.005) different from one another (-13.99 ± 0.15) vs (-16.67 ± 1.20) mV. Bare ZnO and core shell NPs had similar ζ potential and were not significantly different from DEX or DEX(SO₄) ZnO NPs. At pH8, DEX and bare ZnO NPs had significantly (p = 0.014) different ζ potential values of (-12.20 ± 0.26) and (-13.90 ± 0.72) mV, respectively. Core-shell and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs were not significantly different from each other or from the other two NPs. The increase in carbon

concentration in MHRW and DI was accompanied by an increase in the pH values of all ZnO NP suspensions (Table S 3.1).

3.4.4 Dissolution in Simulated Soil Solutions

Particle free soil solution pH had a tremendous effect on the dissolution of ZnO NPs in the buffered, extracted soil water (Fig. 3.4A). Dissolution at pH 6 was higher than at pH8 for all ZnO NP treatments. The nominal total Zn concentration in each treatment was 25 mg/L. At pH 6, dissolution of core-shell NPs was the lowest with a dissolved Zn concentration of 15.2 ± 0.2 mg Zn/L. Bare ZnO dissolution (18.6 ± 0.8 mg Zn/L) was not significantly different from either core-shell NPs or DEX-ZnO NPs (21.9 ± 1.8 mg Zn/L). Dissolution of DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs was the highest (26.2 ± 3.1 mg Zn/L), which was not significantly different from DEX-ZnO NP. The same trend carried on at pH 8. Core-shell NPs had the lowest dissolution (2.9 ± 0.1 mg Zn/L), followed by bare ZnO, DEX and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs with dissolution of (3.6 ± 0.3 mg Zn/L), (4.0 ± 0.1 mg Zn/L), and (4.4 ± 0.2 mg Zn/L), respectively (Fig. 3.4A).

The DOC concentration also had a big effect on ZnO NP dissolution. Dissolution of DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs in DI water ($5.6 \pm 0.1 \text{ mg Zn/L}$) was about twice as great as that for bare ZnO NPs ($2.9 \pm 0.2 \text{ mg Zn/L}$) (Fig. 3.4B). The dissolution of DEX(SO₄)-ZnO, DEX-ZnO, and core-shell NPs was the same. Introducing DOC to the ZnO NP suspensions in DI water generally increased the dissolution of the NPs. At 25 mg/L DOC (1:1 C to Zn mass ratio), DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs had the highest dissolution of all ZnO NPs ($9.0 \pm 0.4 \text{ mg Zn/L}$). The other ZnO NPs had lower dissolution of around 7.2 mg Zn/L. Increasing C to Zn ratio 4 times almost doubled the dissolution, from around 6-7 mg

Zn/L at 25 mg/L DOC to about 16 mg Zn/L. However, no significant differences were found between ZnO NP treatments (Fig. 3.4B).

In MHRW at 0 mg C/L, core-shell and bare ZnO NPs tended to have lower dissolution, 2.0 and 2.2 mg Zn/L, whereas DEX and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs both had a dissolution of 2.4 mg Zn/L (Fig. 3.4C). Like DI water, increasing DOC concentration in MHRW significantly increased dissolution; at 25 and 100 mg C/L, dissolution of ZnO NPs was two and five to six times greater than dissolution in the absence of DOC. When DOC concentration was 25 mg C/L, bare ZnO NPs had the lowest dissolution of all ZnO NPs ($3.7 \pm 0.1 \text{ mg Zn/L}$; p < 0.05). Core-shell NP dissolution ($4.3 \pm 0.5 \text{ mg Zn/L}$) was significantly lower than that of DEX(SO₄)-ZnO ($5.0 \pm 0.1 \text{ mg Zn/L}$). The latter was not significantly different from DEX-ZnO NP dissolution ($4.7 \pm 0.1 \text{ mg Zn/L}$). Dissolution was similar (10.3-12.5 mg C/L) among all ZnO NPs at a DOC concentration of 100 mg C/L (Fig. 3.4C). All NP suspensions experienced a carbon concentration dependent increase in pH (Table S 3.1)

3.4.5 Natural Organic Matter Sorption

The Freundlich model was fitted to the sorption isotherm of dissolved organic matter to ZnO NPs (Fig. 3.5). All r^2 values suggested that Freundlich isotherm model fitted the data well (Table S 3.2). The Freundlich constant (k_f) value was similar for most ZnO NPs (0.052-0.054; Table S 3.2) indicating that similar amounts of PPHA were sorbed at low concentrations. The exception was the core-shell NPs (k_f = 0.041), which sorbed less at low concentrations. The treatments differed in 1/n values (Table S 3.2), which indicated a difference in the decline in binding as the PPHA concentration increased. Zinc oxide NPs coated with dextran had the highest 1/n value as compared to the rest of the particles with 1/n = 0.577, giving it a more linear sorption isotherm and greater sorption of PPHA at higher concentrations.

On the other hand, DEX-(SO₄)-ZnO had the lowest value (1/n = 0.345) among all treatments, and core-shell and bare ZnO NPs had intermediate 1/n values of 0.515 and 0.433, respectively (Table S 3.2, Fig. 3.5). The net result was higher sorption of PPHA for DEX-ZnO and bare ZnO NPs as compared to the other treatments at higher PPHA concentrations (> 4 mg/L).

3.4.6 Soil and Soil Solution Characterization

Major physiochemical properties of Sadler silt loam are listed (Table 3.1). Acid leachable, exchangeable, and Mehlich III extractable metals can be found in Table S 3.3. Major cations and anions, DOC, and ionic strength (IS) for the extracted soil solution for Zn unamended Sadler soil at pH 6 and pH 8 are also listed (Table S 3.4).

3.4.7 Total Zn Concentration in Soil

Acid leachable Zn recovery of total Zn from the SRM (NIST 2710a, Montana Soil I) was 92.7 \pm 2.3% (n=4). The recovery of soil total Zn after saturated paste extraction, as compared to the nominal spiking concentration for ZnSO₄, bare, core-shell, DEX- and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs at pH 6 was: 93.1 \pm 1.0 %, 92.1 \pm 8.5, 94.5 \pm 3.0, 87.6 \pm 9.8, and 107.2 \pm 9.4 %, respectively. Whereas at pH 8, recovered soil Zn was 84.3 \pm 4.4, 91.9 \pm 7.3, 91.5 \pm 13.5, 100.3 \pm 11.1, and 85.9 \pm 6.9 % for ZnSO₄, bare, core-shell, DEX- and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs, respectively. Data presented as (mean \pm one standard deviation).

3.4.8 Total and Dissolved Zn Concentration in Soil and Saturated Paste Extracts

For total Zn in soil pore water (Fig. 3.6A), main effects (pH and treatment) were statistically significant (p < 0.001, and 0.004, respectively). The treatment by pH

interaction was not significant. We performed multiple comparisons between different Zn treatments within each pH level independently. In contrast to ZnSO₄, all ZnO NP treatments had significantly increased Zn concentration in the soil solution as compared to the nonamended soil, at both pH 6 and pH 8. When compared to ZnSO₄ treated soils at pH 6 (165.1 \pm 71.5 μ g Zn/L), total Zn concentrations were increased significantly by factors of 3, 2.6, and 2.4 when soils were spiked with core-shell (486.1 \pm 95.1 µg Zn/L), DEX-ZnO (422.2 \pm 191.4 µg Zn/L), and bare (401.6 \pm 161.2 µg Zn/L) NPs, respectively. Dextran sulfate coated ZnO NP (376.1 \pm 157.4 µg Zn/L) treatments were not significantly different from ZnSO₄ treated soil at pH 6. At pH 8, core-shell (583.9 ± 199) μ g Zn/L) and DEX-ZnO (576.9 ± 218.3 μ g Zn/L) NP treated soils had twice as much total Zn concentration as ZnSO₄ at pH 8 (277.3 \pm 125.4 µg Zn/L) (p =0.05). Total Zn concentrations for DEX(SO₄) (471.9 \pm 37.7 μ Zn/L) and bare (478.6 \pm 149.6 μ g Zn/L) ZnO NP treatments were higher but not significantly different from ZnSO₄ at pH 8. None of the nanoparticle ZnO treatments were significantly different from one another in terms of total Zn in soil solution at either pH value (Fig. 3.6A).

We also looked at the effects of the ζ potential of ZnO NPs in PFSS on the total Zn concentration in the saturated paste extracts at both pH 6 and 8 (Fig. S 3.3). We found that, regardless of soil pH, linear regression between particle ζ potential in PFSS, and total Zn concentration in soil solution was not statistically significant at α =0.05.

For dissolved Zn (Fig. 3.6B), the interaction between Zn treatment and pH was statistically significant (p<0.001). The dissolved Zn concentration for soil spiked with ZnSO₄ at pH 6 was 21 times (108.3 ± 67.3 µg Zn/L) higher than that of the nonamended soil (5.2 ± 3.0 µg Zn/L) (p < 0.001). Also, ZnSO₄ treated soil at pH 6 had significantly

higher (7-9 times) dissolved Zn in soil solution as compared to the rest of Zn treatments at pH 6 and about 5.5 times higher than all Zn treatments at pH 8. For pH 8 soil, except for the bare ZnO NPs, all Zn treatments (nano and ionic) were not significantly different from one another. The bare ZnO NP treatment had significantly higher dissolved Zn than the core-shell treatment. Dissolved Zn concentration in soil solution was 40 % higher for ZnO NPs at pH 8 (22.1± 5.6 µg Zn/L) compared to pH 6 (15.8 ± 5.9 µg Zn/L). At pH 8, DEX-ZnO (21.0 ± 4.7 µg Zn/L) and bare ZnO NPs treatments had significantly (3 times) higher dissolved Zn in soil solution, as compared to the control (7.3 ± 4.4 µg Zn/L).

3.5 Discussion

In the present study, we aimed to evaluate the effect of surface coatings on the behavior of ZnO NPs in soil at two different pH levels (moderately acidic and alkaline). Our hypothesis stated that, in comparison to positively charged and neutral particles (bare and DEX-ZnO NPs), negatively charged ZnO NPs (core shell-and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs) would have significantly higher partitioning to the soil solution, resulting in an increase in the total Zn concentration in a saturated paste extract. This would be due to the electrostatic repulsion between the negatively charged natural colloids in the soil solution and the negative charge on these NPs, especially at higher soil pH.

The behavior of ZnO NPs in simple aqueous media was mainly dictated by the surface chemistry of the NPs. Negatively charged ZnO NPs (core shell and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs) were more stable against aggregation compared to the neutral DEX-ZnO and the positively charged bare ZnO NPs, especially at the highest concentration of the electrolyte (100 mM), which is comparable to the ionic strength reported in the saturated paste extracts of the Sadler silt loam.

Introducing NOM into the media had a profound effect on the behavior of ZnO NPs and tended to negate the effects of the surface coatings applied during NP synthesis. Although at pH 6 and 8, bare and DEX-ZnO NPs should be positively charged given that their PZC is around 9, all NPs became negatively charged in DI, MHRW, and PFSS, likely due to coating replacement or overcoating with NOM. This behavior is consistent with reports for other kinds of NPs, including bare ZnO NPs^{74, 88}, gum arabic (GA) coated Ag NPs⁸⁵, and bare CuO NPs¹⁶⁹.

In the absence of NOM in DI water and PFSS, core-shell and ZnO NPs exhibited lower dissolution than DEX and DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs. This could be due to the low solubility of the $Zn_3(PO_4)_2$ (Ksp = 9 x 10⁻³³) present in the shell structure. There were differences among ZnO NPs in their dissolution at the lower carbon concentration (25 mg C/L). However, at 100 mg C/L, which is equivalent to a 1: 4 Zn to DOC mass ratio, all the differences among the ZnO NPs diminished and they all produced similar dissolved Zn concentrations.

The reported concentration dependent increase in pH values of the suspensions as dissolved organic carbon concentration increased is a result of the enhanced dissolution of all ZnO NPs regardless of their as-synthesized coatings. Dissolution of ZnO NPs is well known to raise the pH of the solution due to the consumption of hydrogen ions during the reaction ^{67, 170}.

The sorption isotherm experiments clearly showed that the neutral coating-dextran had the highest binding to NOM at higher NOM concentrations, perhaps due to hydrogen bonding, whereas the negatively charged NPs (DEX(SO₄)- ZnO and core-shell) both had

lower binding to the NOM, likely due to the electrostatic repulsion between the coatings and the negatively charged functional groups on the NOM, such as carboxylates.

Most of spiked Zn remained within the soil solid phase (~90%), indicating high retention of Zn to the soil regardless of the Zn form. A relatively small fraction of Zn was partitioned to soil solution as determined by saturated paste extraction. Likewise, retention of >80 % of PVP-Ag NPs ¹⁷¹, multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNT)¹⁷², and CIT-ZnO NPs¹⁷³ has been reported.

Total Zn concentration data in the saturated paste extracts showed no differences among NP treatments, even at the higher pH values. This relates to the observation made in aqueous solutions that sorption of NOM conferred a net negative charge to all the NPs, regardless of initial surface chemistry. Our hypothesis still holds true in the sense that negatively charged NPs partitioned more Zn to the soil solution at higher soil pH than at lower soil pH. However, the initial charge of the particles was not as important. Our results are in agreement with Whitley et al, 2013, who found that the prolonged aging of electrostatically stabilized CIT-Ag NPs versus sterically stabilized PVP-Ag NPs yielded the same total Ag concentration in sandy loam soil solution, despite the initial higher partitioning of total Ag from CIT-Ag NPs⁸⁴. This was likely due to replacement or over coating of the pristine coatings with NOM, although the exchange or overcoating was faster for CIT coating due to its lower molecular weight as compared to the PVP used in this study⁸⁴.

The dissolution pattern in saturated paste extracts was different from that in PFSS. There were no differences in dissolution of ZnO NPs at the two pH levels, 6 and 8. One possible explanation for this discrepancy could be the combined effect of NOM and

divalent cations such as Ca²⁺, which could have facilitated the bridging and subsequent heteroaggregation with clay colloids¹⁷⁴, which may have lowered the surface area and thus the dissolution⁶⁷. It is also possible that the soil simply acted as a buffer, removing dissolved Zn ions from solution as they were generated.

Although several studies have been performed to test the effect of soil properties on the concentration of ZnO NPs, versus Zn ions, in soil solution⁹¹⁻⁹⁴, the methods applied for the extraction of NPs from the soil removed a large proportion of Zn in the nanoparticle form that would have formed heteroaggregates^{149, 175}. Read et al.¹⁴⁷ found differences in soil Zn concentration at soil pH 5.9 and 7.2 only when the spiking concentration exceeded 500 mg Zn/kg soil, whereas soil Zn concentration was not significantly different at the lower concentrations such as the ones we used in the present study.

Overall, compared to ZnSO₄, DEX and core-shell ZnO NPs were able to achieve significantly higher total soil Zn concentrations, especially at pH 8, but not higher dissolved Zn concentrations. This result suggests that nanoscale fertilizers could be more effective in providing plants with Zn, especially under conditions where conventional fertilizers are of limited efficacy. This suggestion relies on the assumption that Zn from ZnO NPs in suspension is bioavailable to plants. Based on our previous research, we believe that this is likely the case^{154, 163}. The efficacy of such amendments could be greatly improved by selecting coatings with a high affinity for soil organic matter and could eventually prove to be a successful means of providing the Zn required for plant growth.

Tables

Soil	pH		Pa	rticle si	ze	Toytur	OM	Total	CEC	
501	DDI	1M KCl	Sand %	Silt %	Clay %	e class	%	N %	cmol/kg	
Native pH	5.54	3.93	9	70	21	Silt loam	1.29	0.13	9.5	
pH6	6.19	5.33	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM	
pH8	7.4	6.66	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM	

Table 3.1 Major physiochemical properties of Sadler soil at unadjusted pH (native pH) and the two adjusted pH levels; 6 and 8.

NM: Not measured, DDI: Distilled deionized water, OM: Organic matter, CEC: Cation exchange capacity.

Figures



Figure 3.1 TEM images of bare ZnO NPs (A), dextran coated (DEX -ZnO NPs) (B), dextran sulfate coated (DEX (SO₄)-ZnO NPs) (C), ZnO-Zn₃(PO₄)₂ core-shell NPs (D). Scale bar is 50 nm.





Figure 3.2 Effect of NaCl concentration on the hydrodynamic size (A) and zeta (ζ) potential (B) of ZnO NPs. Treatments connected by different letters within the same ZnO NP treatment are significantly different at α =0.05.





Figure 3.3 Zeta (ζ) potential of 25mg/L Zn- ZnO NPs suspended in Pahokee peat humic acid -PPHA at 0, 25, and 100 mg C/L in deionized (DI) water (A), moderately hard reconstituted water (MHRW) (B), and in particle free soil solution (PFSS) (C). Treatments connected by different letters at each PPHA or pH level are significantly different at α =0.05





Figure 3.4 Dissolution of 25mg/L Zn- ZnO NPs in particle free soil solution (PFSS) at pH 6 and 8 (A), in Pahokee peat humic acid (PPHA) solutions at 0, 25, and 100 mg C/L in deionized (DI) water (B), and in moderately hard reconstituted (MHRW) (C). Treatments connected by different letters at each PPHA or pH level are significantly different at α =0.05.



Figure 3.5 Freundlich sorption isotherm model fitted to dissolved organic carbon in sorption batch experiments.



Figure 3.6 Total (A) and dissolved (B) Zn concentration in saturated paste extracts. In panel (A), treatments within the same pH level with different letters are significantly different at α =0.05. In panel (B) treatments at both pH levels with different letters are significantly different at α =0.05. Error bars represent ± one standard deviation.

Supplementary material

Tables

Table S 3.1 pH of 25 mg Zn/L as ZnO NPs in particle free soil solution (PFSS), deionized (DI) water and moderately hard reconstituted water (MHRW) at 0, 25, and 100 mg C/L

<u>M.</u>		D 7O	Carra alcall	DEV	DEV (CO)
Mealum	РРНА	Bare ZnO	Core-snell	DEX	DEA-(SO4)
	(mg C/L)		рН		
DI	0	6.67 ± 0.01	7.38 ± 0.06	7.43 ± 0.15	7.33 ± 0.05
DI	25	8.43 ± 0.06	7.67 ± 0.21	8.30 ± 0.10	7.74 ± 0.06
DI	100	9.10 ± 0.06	8.52 ± 0.12	8.92 ± 0.14	8.89 ± 0.03
MHRW	0	6.65 ± 0.06	6.93 ± 0.06	6.93 ± 0.05	6.72 ± 0.15
MHRW	25	7.18 ± 0.06	7.18 ± 0.04	7.30 ± 0.01	7.07 ± 0.01
MHRW	100	8.08 ± 0.18	8.06 ± 0.12	8.01 ± 0.10	8.02 ± 0.13
PFSS pH6	-	6.23 ± 0.04	6.12 ± 0.12	6.48 ± 0.08	6.42 ± 0.07
PFSS pH8	-	8.00 ± 0.05	7.84 ± 0.06	7.97 ± 0.09	7.90 ± 0.12

Table S 3.2 Sorption isotherm parameters for ZnO NPs and dissolved organic carbon (DOC) sorption studies

ZnO NPs treatment	r ²	<i>P</i> at α=0.05	$\begin{array}{c} K \\ (mg^{(1-(1/n)}. \\ g^{-1}.L^{(1/n)}) \end{array}$	n	1/n
Bare-ZnO	0.971	0.0021	0.054	2.31	0.433
Core-shell	0.993	0.0003	0.041	1.94	0.515
DEX	0.981	0.0011	0.052	1.73	0.577
DEX(SO ₄)	0.960	0.0035	0.054	2.90	0.345

 Table S 3.3 Selected chemical properties of the Sadler surface soil

	Na	Ca	Mg	K	Al	Fe	Zn	Р
				(mg/kg)				
Acid leachable	NA	776	2,223	763	18,	NA	32	287
Exchangeable	23	766	173	35	37	NM	NM	NM
Mehlich III	NA	841	136	47	907	147	0.3	2.5

NM: Not measured

			- Cation					_Anions		IS	DOC
Soil			S					(mg/L)			
pН	Na	Κ	(mg/L)	Mg	Al	Fe	F	Cl	SO_4	(M)	(mg
			Ca								C/L)
6	403	508	659	817	4,842	3,870	3	11	27.8	0.9	125
8	350	430	907	1,894	4,364	3,543	7	20	36	1.2	237

Table S 3.4: Soil solution chemical properties at pH 6 and 8.



Figure S 3.1 Equilibrium time reached after 24 h incubation period in batch sorption isotherms experiments, each point is the average of three independent replicates. Error bars represent \pm one standard deviation.



Figure S 3.2 Electrophoretic mobility of bare ZnO, dextran coated, (DEX-ZnO), ZnO- $Zn_3(PO_4)_2$ (core-shell), and dextran sulfate coated (DEX(SO₄)-ZnO NPs as a function of pH in deionized (DI) water. Zn concentration was 100 mg/L for all the tested suspensions.



Figure S 3.3 Linear regression between zeta potential and total Zn in soil solution at pH 6 (A), and pH 8 (B). Inserts: regression equation, r^2 , and significance of the model (*p*) at α =0.05

Acknowledgements:

The authors thank: Division of Regulatory Services at the University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, J. Grove., B. Lee, R. Rhodes, R. McCulley, J. Nelson, E. Carlisle, M. Vandiviere, O. Wendroth, and J. Walton. This is a publication of the Kentucky Agricultural Experiment Station. This work is supported by the National Institute of Food and Agriculture, U.S. Department of Agriculture - under 1010358. Support was also provided by the National Science Foundation under CBET-1530594.

Chapter 4: Effects of Soil pH and Coatings on the Efficacy of Polymer coated ZnO Nanoparticulate fertilizers in Wheat (*Triticum aestivum*)"

Zeinah Elhaj Baddar and Jason M. Unrine

4.1 Abstract

Zinc deficiency in human is widespread. A diet heavily dependent on cereals often leads to Zn malnutrition. Zinc deficiency in plants could be detrimental to crop yield and nutritional value. Higher soil pH (>7) significantly lowers the bioavailability of Zn to crops. The objective of this study was to use ZnO nanoparticles (NPs) as seed treatments (experiment (A)) and as soil amendments (experiment (B)) to enhance Zn concentrations in wheat grain. In experiment (A), seeds were treated with dextran coated (DEX-ZnO) and bare ZnO NP suspensions, in addition to ZnSO₄, at 500 mg Zn /L. Seeds were then sown in Sadler silt loam soil until physiological maturity. In experiment B, soil pH was adjusted to 6 and 8, then soils were spiked with 15 mg Zn/kg soil in the form of DEX-ZnO and bare ZnO NPs, as well as ZnSO₄. The plants were grown in the spiked soil until physiological maturity. Zinc concentration and dry biomass of stems, leaves, and grain, as well as plant height, were all measured for the plants in both experiments. Results from experiment A showed that seeds treated with bare ZnO NPs resulted in significantly higher Zn concentration. In Experiment B, grain Zn concentration was the same across all Zn treatments regardless of soil pH. Soil pH had a significant effect on Zn accumulation and biomass of leaves and stems, where pH 6 resulted in higher accumulation and slightly stimulated growth as compared to pH 8. None of the Zn treatments were significantly different from one another in terms of tissue Zn concentrations, regardless the plant part. In both experiments, plant height differences were more pronounced

during the vegetative growth stage (vernalization period), but these differences tended to diminish as soon as the plants moved to the reproductive stage.

4.2 Introduction

Zinc deficiency has drastic effects on plant and human health. Crops suffering from Zn deficiency have lower yields and poor Zn nutritional value. Zinc deficiency in human is widespread, occurring in about a third of the global population ⁵. The majority of people in developing countries have limited access to food sources, such as meat, which are rich in Zn ¹⁰². Their diet is dependent mostly on cereals, which do not provide adequate Zn intake.

In some cases, Zn deficiency in crops is caused by low geogenic levels of Zn. However, soil physiochemical properties have an immense effect on Zn bioavailability. Total Zn concentrations in soil do not necessarily reflect Zn availability for plant uptake^{21, 176}. Higher pH, and high contents of organic matter, clay, Al or Fe oxidehydroxides, phosphate, and carbonate significantly decrease bioavailable Zn^{102, 177, 178}. Soil pH is an important property that affects the biogeochemical cycling of macro and micronutrients. As soil pH increases, the quantity of negative charge on exchange sites of natural colloids (clay minerals, organic matter (OM), and Fe/Al oxides) increases, leading to the sorption of metals, including Zn ions¹⁷⁸. Also, higher soil pH results in the precipitation of low solubility forms of Zn such as Zn carbonates and hydroxides¹⁷⁹.

Previous studies have shown that using $ZnSO_4$ as a fertilizer is less efficient in calcareous/alkaline soils. Peirzenski et al found that liming soil lowered soybean (*Glycine max*) tissue Zn concentration by half ¹⁸⁰. Likewise, Zn concentration in Swiss

chard tissue at soil pH of 5.3 was 313 μ g Zn/g while after liming the soil to pH 7.4, Zn concentration dropped to 60 μ g/g¹⁸¹.

Nanotechnology has recently been applied to the delivery of pesticides and nutrients and there has been an interest in using ZnO nanoparticles, rather than ZnSO₄, as Zn fertilizers ^{46,47, 120}. Nanomaterials (materials having at least one dimension less than 100 nm⁴²) have unique properties compared to their bulk counterparts and have become more widely incorporated in numerous commercialized products. Zinc oxide nanoparticles (NPs) are classed among the metal oxide nanomaterials, and are commonly used in semiconductors¹⁸². They are also widely used in sunscreen due to their ability to block harmful UV radiation¹⁸³. A few studies have investigated the use of ZnO NPs as fertilizers and have shown positive effects on yields and Zn nutritional values in crops ⁵², ^{54, 55, 119, 125}. The majority of such studies have focused on amending soil with ZnO NPs as the method of application^{52, 54, 55, 119, 120, 184}. Foliar application is also widely used and sometimes proved a more efficient means of delivering Zn to plant edible tissues, although it is likely that soluble Zn salts are more effective than ZnO NPs when applied to leaves¹⁸⁵. Previous work showed that Zn nutrition¹⁴¹, resistance to stress¹²⁷ and crop yield^{126, 127} could all be enhanced by soaking seeds in soluble Zn salt solutions. Likewise, coating seeds with ZnO NPs enhanced yield, Zn nutrition, and mitigated salinity stress in lupin (Lupinus termis)¹²².

Surface coatings are often added to enhance the colloidal stability and compatibility of NPs for specific applications^{128, 129}. Our previous work showed that dextran coated ZnO NPs (DEX-ZnO) and ZnO-Zn₃(PO₄)₂ core-shell NPs gave significantly higher total Zn concentrations in soil solution as compared to ZnSO₄, especially at high soil pH⁸³ where

the bioavailability of most metals/nutrients, including Zn, becomes limited¹⁷⁷. Also, in seed germination studies we showed that bare ZnO, DEX-ZnO NPs, and core-shell NPs showed promising results in enhancing tissue Zn concentration and growth in wheat seedlings^{132, 154}. Bare ZnO and DEX-ZnO NPs also tended to produce higher total Zn concentrations in soil. This was likely due to their affinity for dissolved organic matter (DOM) in soil solution, which confers a net negative charge to the NPs, causing them to be repelled by negatively charged soil surfaces.

In this study, we investigated the potential use of bare and dextran coated ZnO NPs as nanofertilizers to enhance wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) yield and tissue Zn concentration in comparison to ZnSO₄ (commonly used fertilizer Zn form). To this end, we performed two separate experiments. The first experiment involved coating seeds with ZnO NPs prior to growing them in a natural soil. In the second experiment, we examined the soil pH effect on Zn uptake and yield of wheat after spiking the soil with Zn treatments (ZnO NPs and ZnSO₄).

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Synthesis and Characterization of ZnO Nanoparticles

The synthesis of bare and dextran coated ZnO NPs (DEX-ZnO) is mentioned elsewhere¹⁵⁴. In brief, bare ZnO NPs were prepared following alkaline precipitation as mentioned in a previous work¹³³. Dextran (9-11 kDa, from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) was added during the synthesis in a 1:6 dextran to Zn mass ratio.

Primary particle size was determined using transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Dynamic light scattering (DLS) and phase analysis light scattering (PALS) were used to measure the hydrodynamic size and the electrophoretic mobility, respectively. The Zn concentration in nanoparticle suspension was measured using inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer (ICP-MS, Agilent 7500cx Santa Clara, CA, USA).

4.3.2 Treating Seeds with ZnO Nanoparticles

A suspension of 500 mg Zn/L was prepared with bare and DEX-ZnO NPs. The suspensions were sonicated for 45 min at 100% amplitude using a cup horn sonicator (Qsonica, Newtown, Connecticut, USA). Twelve mL of 500 mg Zn/L ZnO NPs suspensions, or 500 mg Zn/L as ZnSO₄ solution to serve as an ionic Zn control, in addition to 18 M Ω deionized (DI) water used as a solvent control, were prepared in separate 50 mL centrifuge tubes. Seeds (soft red winter wheat, cv. Pembroke) were soaked in the treatment solutions overnight on an end over end sample rotator at 22°C.

4.3.3 Soil Preparation

Sadler silt loam (fine-silty, mixed, mesic Fragiudalf) soil was obtained from the University of Kentucky Research and Education center at Princeton, KY(USA). The soil was air dried, ground, and sieved (<2mm). Soil characterization is described elsewhere⁸³. Briefly, soil pH in DI at a 1:1 mass ratio was 5.54, cation exchange capacity (CEC) was 9.5 cmol_c/kg, and organic matter content (OM) was 1.29%.

Phosphorous, nitrogen, and potassium were added to all soils according to fertilizer recommendation for growing wheat in Sadler soil¹⁸⁶ as follows, diammonium phosphates (NH₄)₂HPO₄ (102.3 mg/kg soil), KCl (55.4 mg/kg soil), and two additions of 64.3 mg/kg soil of ammonium nitrate (at the Feekes 3 and 5 wheat growth stages).

4.3.4 Experiment (A) Treated Seed Greenhouse Assay

Seeds coated with the ZnO NPs, ZnSO₄ at 500 mg Zn/L, and DI were sown in plug trays containing Sadler soil at its native pH. Water was added to reach the soil field
capacity. The trays were kept at 4°C for eight weeks to induce vernalization. The rest of the soil was kept under the same condition. Seedlings were then transplanted to 1 kg potted soil. Each treatment was comprised of nine pots, and each pot contained three seedlings from the same treatment. Plant height was measured once a week until heading (Feekes stage 10).

4.3.5 Experiment (B) Spiked Soil Greenhouse Assay

In the second greenhouse experiment, which involved seed exposure to ZnO NPs via the soil, soil pH was adjusted to 6 and 8 using MgCO₃ and MgO, respectively and left to equilibrate for 2 weeks. For an explanation of why MgCO₃ and MgO were used to adjust soil pH, see Elhaj Baddar, et al. ⁸³. Soil at both pH levels was spiked with DI water or with a Zn suspension /solution to provide 15 mg Zn/kg soil in the form of bare ZnO NPs, DEX-ZnO NPs, or ZnSO₄. We selected this concentration to be similar to the highest concentration at which soils would normally be amended with Zn (typical range in Zn application rates is 2-15 mg/kg)¹⁰². Seeds were left to imbibe water overnight on an end over end sample rotator in DI water at room temperature. The next day, seeds were sown in a portion of the spiked soil that was added to plug trays. The trays were left at 4°°C to vernalize. The rest of the soil was incubated at 4°C until transplant day. After 8 weeks of vernalization, three seedlings from each treatment were transplanted into pots containing 1 kg of soil. There were eleven pots per Zn treatment per soil pH. Plant height was measured every week until heading (Feekes 10).

4.3.6 Harvesting Plants and Acid Digestion

After maturity, aboveground plant tissue was harvested in three separate parts; grain, leaves, and stems. Harvested tissues were gently washed with DI water and oven dried at

100 °C. Dry biomass was measured, and acid digestion was performed as follows: plant tissues were digested at room temperature overnight in 10 mL concentrated nitric acid in 50 mL polypropylene centrifuge tubes. Then, open vessel digestion was performed for 20 minutes at 100 °C. Samples were cooled to room temperature, then 2.5 mL H₂O₂ was added to each tube and the heating step was repeated. Plant digestates were left to cool down to room temperature and brought up to 50 mL using DI water. Digestion blanks, standard reference material samples (SRM1515, apple leaves, National Institute of Standards and Technology, Gaithersburg, MD, USA), duplicates and spikes were included to check the quality of the analyses. Zinc recovery from the SRM, spike recovery, and relative percent difference between duplicates were 94.4 \pm 1.2%, 98.7 \pm 3.9 %, and 0.52 \pm 4.3 %, respectively.

4.3.7 Statistical Analysis

Tissue Zn and biomass accumulation data were analyzed in a similar way. Data were first checked for ANOVA assumptions of normality and homoscedasticity using Shapiro-Wilk and Levine tests, respectively. Whenever ANOVA assumptions were met, ANOVA was performed, and the Tukey-HSD multiple comparison test were performed on each plant part, separately.

The Proc-GLM procedure was used to determine the main and interaction effects (pH and Zn treatment), and multiple comparison tests (Tukey-HSD) were performed across all treatments, regardless of pH, whenever the interaction term was significant.

For plant height, we performed repeated measures ANOVA using the Proc- GLM procedure with the Repeated option to take into account autocorrelation in the effect of treatment on the height measurements. Tukey-HSD multiple comparison tests were used

to compare the treatments for height differences at each time point. All statistical analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (SAS institute, Cary, NC).

It is worth mentioning that we considered a single pot as the experimental unit. Therefore, we pooled tissue Zn concentrations, biomass, and height data from three plants in each pot and treated that as the average plant response in both experiments.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Zinc Oxide Nanoparticle Characterization

A detailed characterization of the nanoparticles was reported previously ¹⁵⁴. Briefly, TEM analysis showed that bare and DEX-ZnO NPs had primary particle sizes of 24 ± 1 and 18 ± 1 nm, respectively. Bare ZnO NPs had an intensity weighted hydrodynamic diameter (z-avg) of 314.4 ± 32.8 nm in DI water whereas DEX-ZnO NPs had a z-avg of 755.2 ± 191.8 nm. Smoluchowski's approximation was used to convert electrophoretic mobility values to zeta potential. Bare and DEX-ZnO NPs had ζ potentials of 29.1 ± 0.6 mV and 19.5 ± 1.1 mV in DI water (pH 5.8), respectively. Powder XRD confirmed that the particles were zincite structured ZnO¹⁵⁴.

4.4.2 Experiment (A) Treated Seed Greenhouse Assay

4.4.2.1 Zinc Concentration

Zinc concentration in grain of bare ZnO NPs treatments was significantly (p = 0.01) higher than the control treatments by 33% (Fig. 4.1). Grain Zn concentration in DEX-ZnO NPs and ZnSO₄ treatments were neither statistically significant from each other nor from bare ZnO NPs or the control treatments. Leaf tissue Zn concentrations were similar for all treatments (30-35 µg Zn/g) (Fig. 4.1). All Zn treatments (ions and nano) caused an average 41% higher (p < 0.001) Zn concentration in wheat stems, as compared to the control treatment (Fig. 4.1).

4.4.2.2 Biomass

Grain biomass in the Zn treatments (nano and ions) were not significantly different from one another or from the control (Fig. 4.2). Regardless of Zn form (nano or ionic), plants from seeds treated with Zn tended to have, on average, 20% lower leaf biomass as compared to the control (p < 0.001) (Fig. 4.2). Zinc treatments had no significant effect on stem biomass.

4.4.2.3 Plant Height

During the vegetative growth period, plants in the control treatment were taller than the rest of the Zn treatments during the vernalization period (55, 40, and 32% taller than DEX-ZnO, ZnSO₄, and bare ZnO NP treatments, respectively). However, differences in plant height diminished during the post-transplant period (reproductive growth period), where control treatments produced plants that were not significantly taller than plants treated with the bare ZnO NP or ZnSO₄ treatments after 6 weeks (Fig. 4.3). Nine-weekold plants treated with bare ZnO NP were not significantly different from untreated plants. DEX-ZnO NP treated plants were significantly shorter than the plants in the control treatment. However, at week 11, there were no significant differences among treatments. The same pattern carried on two weeks later (week 13).

4.4.3 Experiment (B) Spiked Soil Greenhouse Assay

4.4.3.1 Zinc Concentration

There was a significant effect of Zn treatment and pH interaction on Zn concentrations in grain (p < 0.001, Fig 4.4A). All plants grown in Zn amended soils-except for plants

grown on soil treated with bare ZnO at pH 8 which was not statistically significant from the control at the same pH- had similar Zn concentrations in the grain which was, on average, 93 μ g Zn/g grain, around 33% more Zn compared to the control. There was a significant effect of Zn treatment and pH interaction (p < 0.001) on Zn concentrations in leaves. Zinc concentrations in the leaves were about twice as high in the pH 6 treatments (averaged 136 µg Zn/g dry biomass) as compared to the pH 8 (averaged 68 µg Zn/g dry biomass) for all Zn treated soils, whereas Zn concentration in control leaves was the same regardless of soil pH (30 μ g Zn/g dry biomass). There was also a significant effect of Zn treatment on Zn concentrations in the leaves. Leaf Zn concentrations at pH 6 and pH 8 was 4.4 and 2.0 times greater than the control, respectively (Fig. 4.4B). However, there were no differences in leaf Zn concentration across all Zn treatments regardless of Zn form within the same soil pH. A similar trend was observed for Zn concentrations in stems. There was a significant interaction between Zn treatment and soil pH (p<0.001). At pH 6, all Zn treatments had significantly higher Zn concentration in the stems than the control but were not significantly different from each other. Stem tissue Zn concentrations for Zn treatments at pH 6 averaged 100 μ g Zn/g, which was 6.3 times higher than the control. At pH 8, except for DEX treated soils, Zn treatments were not significantly different from each other and averaged 49 μ g Zn/g which was 2.2 times higher than the control. Zn concentrations in stems of plants grown in soils treated with Zn at pH6 were twice as much as compared to plants grown in Zn treated soils at pH 8 (Fig. 4.4C).

4.4.3.2 Biomass

There was a significant (p = 0.013) interaction between Zn treatment and soil pH. At pH 6, while not significantly different from ZnSO₄, bare ZnO NP treatment produced grain of 40 and 32% higher biomass compared to the grain produced from the control and DEX-ZnO NP treatments, respectively (Fig. 4.5A). No significant differences in grain biomass were detected among the different Zn treatments (nano or ionic) nor when compared to the control at pH 8 (Fig. 4.5A). There was no significant interaction between Zn treatment and soil pH on leaf biomass (Fig. 4.5B). None of the Zn treatments were significantly different from one another or from the control at soil pH 6. While not significantly different from one another, DEX-ZnO NP and ZnSO₄ treated soils at pH 8 produced plants of biomass higher than those of the control treatment by 51 and 30 %, respectively. Biomass of leaves from plants grown on soil treated with DEX-ZnO NPs was 28% higher than of those grown on soil treated with bare ZnO NPs at pH 8. There were no differences in leaf biomass between ZnSO₄ and bare ZnO NPs (Fig. 4.5B). For stem biomass, only main effects (pH and Zn treatment) were statistically significant (p =0.001) at $\alpha = 0.05$ (Fig. 4.5C). Stem biomass for control and DEX-ZnO NP treatments were not significantly different from one another at pH 6. Likewise, bare ZnO NP and ZnSO₄ treatments produced plants with similar stem biomass (0.154 g average dry mass) at pH 6, while both treatments resulted in plants with stem biomass that were 23 and 16% higher than the control and DEX-ZnO NP treatments, respectively (Fig. 4.5C). At pH 8, all Zn treatments produced plants of similar stem biomass, whereas only bare ZnO NP treatment resulted in plants with stem biomass that was 17% higher than those of the control treatment (Fig. 4.5C).

4.4.3.4 Plant Height

Repeated measures ANOVA showed a significant treatment effect on plant height. We performed multiple comparisons at selected important time points in plant growth stage; one week after sowing, when vernalization ended, when stem elongation started and at flag leaf emergence (Fig. 4.6). One week after sowing, bare ZnO NP-treated plants, at both pH 6 and 8, were the tallest plants, compared to the rest of the treatments. (p = 0.05). Plants grown in bare ZnO amended soils at pH 6 were 28, 26, 23, 22, 21, and 15% taller than plants grown in soils amended with ZnSO₄ at pH 6, control at pH 8, control at pH 6, DEX-ZnO NP at pH 6, DEX-ZnO NP at pH 8, and ZnSO₄ at pH 8, respectively. (Fig. 4.6). By the end of the vernalization period (week 7), all other treatments had plants as tall as the ones grown in the bare ZnO NP pH 6 treatment, except for control plants at pH 8 and $ZnSO_4$ at pH 6. The gap between the height of plants grown in soils amended with bare ZnO NP at pH 6 and ZnSO₄ at the same pH decreased from 28% to 11%. Plant height in the ninth week almost followed a pattern similar to that of the seventh week (Fig. 4.6). Most treatments were not significantly different from the bare ZnO NP treatments at pH 6 except for DEX-ZnO NPs and ZnSO₄ at pH 6 and control at pH 8, where plants grown in these treatments were around 6-8% shorter. At week 11 however, plants grown in both control and ZnSO₄ at pH 6 had similar heights compared to the plants grown in soil amended with the bare ZnO NPs. At week 15, after which stem extension totally halted, all Zn treatments at pH6 were not significantly different from one another while significantly taller than the plants grown in the control treatment at pH 6. Moreover, all Zn amendments at pH 6 produced plants that were

significantly taller compared to plants grown at pH 8 regardless of the amendment. Plant height in pH 8 soils were similar in all treatments (Fig. 4.6).

Although we did not measure soil pH right after spiking the soil with the different forms of Zn, we found that soil pH values generally decreased by at least half to one pH unit across all Zn treatments as compared to the control at both pH levels (Table 4.1).

4.5 Discussion

In the present study, we investigated two different methods for the fertilization of wheat plants using ZnO NPs as compared to ZnSO₄. The first method was treating seeds prior to planting and the second was amending the soil. In both studies, we investigated the response to both bare and dextran coated ZnO. Our previous seed germination assay ¹⁵⁴ and soil study ⁸³ comparing different ZnO surface coatings suggested that bare ZnO and DEX-ZnO NPs would be the most effective NP treatments.

In the seed coating assay, bare ZnO NP-coated seeds produced grains with the highest Zn concentration and the lowest biomass, albeit not statistically significant, indicating that bare ZnO NP tended to be the most effective Zn treatment in enriching Zn concentration in the grain. Indeed, our previous seed germination assay study showed that treating wheat seeds with 500 mg Zn /L bare ZnO NP resulted in the highest Zn concentration in the shoots compared to other tested particles including DEX-ZnO NPs¹⁵⁴.

Previous studies investigating treating seeds with ZnO NPs prior to growing them in soil are scarce. Taran et al. found that winter wheat seeds which were pre-soaked with ZnO NPs at 120 mg Zn/mL had 61% higher Zn in their leaves compared to the control¹²¹. In comparison, we did not find significant differences in leaf tissue Zn concentrations

between control and treated seeds, regardless of the Zn form. The duration of the experiment (terminated 10 days after sowing) in the Taran et al. study could possibly explain these differences. As plants grow, the accumulation of biomass and the translocation of nutrients from older to younger plant parts will likely dilute tissue Zn concentration¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁸⁹. Differences among plants and exposure conditions (Zn concentration and exposure duration) result in different crop responses. For example, compared to the control, treating peanuts seeds with ZnSO₄ and ZnO NPs at 400 mg Zn/L produced stems with 2 and 3.5 times greater dry biomass, respectively. Also, bare ZnO NPs enhanced stem and grain biomass by 73% and 13%, respectively, compared to ZnSO₄⁵⁵. Lupin seeds pretreated with a 60 mg Zn/L ZnO NP suspension before being grown in soil had 39, 60, 40, and 66% higher root and shoot lengths, whole plant dry biomass, and Zn concentrations, respectively, compared to the control¹²². Zinc concentrations in barley (Hordeum vulgare) shoots were 2.7 times higher than that in the controls when barley seeds were presoaked with bare ZnO NPs at 80 mg Zn/L, although ZnO NPs did not affect plant growth¹⁹⁰.

Soil pH is a key determinant of Zn bioavailability in soil. Despite the clear effect of soil pH on stem and leaf Zn concentrations, it did not affect Zn concentration in the grain regardless of the treatment. However, all Zn treatments, in general, had significantly higher tissue Zn concentration as compared to the controls. In stems and leaves, lower pH resulted in higher Zn accumulation. Watson, et al. found that Zn concentration in wheat shoots grown in an acidic soil was an order of magnitude higher than that when the plants were grown in an alkaline soil ¹⁹¹. Similarly, tomatoes (*Solanum lycopersicum*) and beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) grown in a naturally acidic soil (pH 5.4) had around an

order of magnitude higher Zn in leaf tissue compared to plants grown in a calcareous soil $(pH 8.3)^{192}$. White et al compiled the results from several studies aimed at enhancing Zn concentration in the fruits of edible crops. They found that regardless the crop, or whether Zn was applied on the leaves or as a fertilizer added to the soil, Zn concentration in fruits rarely exceeded 100 µg/g, which was mainly attributed to the tight regulation of Zn inside the plant³¹. This value is comparable to grain Zn concentration we obtained in both experiments suggesting that we most likely reached that limit.

Compared to the bare ZnO NPs, dextran (neutral charge) coating did not affect Zn concentration in wheat grain, leaves, or stems, regardless soil pH, in the soil amendment study. In a study which used a soil mixed with a potting media at a pH of 7.2, Zn concentrations in green pea (Pisum sativum) grain, leaves, and stems were all similar when the soil was amended with bare, Al_2O_3 doped, or aminopropyltriethoxysilane coated ZnO NPs at 250 mg Zn/kg soil¹⁰⁴. This was a very high Zn amendment rate, far greater than what would result from a typical agronomic recommendation. Despite this, there is evidence that particle surface chemistry does influence NP uptake by plants. For example, positively charged CeO₂ and Au NPs adhered better to the roots than neutral or negatively charged ones, but Ce and Au were translocated less efficiently in the plant¹³⁰, ¹³¹. The growth medium in these studies was hydroponic, which could explain these differences. Our previous work showed that binding of dissolved organic matter to particles changes the surface chemistry and confers a similar net negative charge regardless the initial surface chemistry⁸³. Studies of natural nanoscale colloids in natural soils have also shown that natural organic matter has a controlling influence on particle surface chemistry¹⁹³. Studies in simplified hydroponic media probably don't accurately

predict NP behavior in natural soil due in large part to the absence of natural organic matter.

In the present study, higher tissue Zn concentrations in stems and leaves in experiment B did not increase grain yield except for bare ZnO NP amended soils at pH 6. Likewise, Mukherjee et al. reported no effects of the higher tissue Zn concentration in dry biomass of green pea when the soil was amended with 250 mg Zn/kg soil as ZnO NPs (bare or coated)¹⁰⁴. Raliya et al showed that bare ZnO NPs at 100 mg/kg enhanced both fruit yield and Zn tissue concentration in tomatoes¹⁹⁴. However, no soil characterization was provided in this study, which might have an effect on the behavior and uptake of these particles¹⁹⁴. When a natural soil at pH 6.7 was spiked with 6 mg Zn/kg in the form of bare ZnO NPs or ZnSO4, no significant increase in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) straw or panicle biomass was reported despite higher tissue Zn concentrations. On the contrary, grain yield significantly increased, mirroring an increase in tissue Zn concentration¹⁹⁵. Again, plant growth conditions and soil spiking concentration have probably resulted in differences among these studies.

Plant height differences among Zn treatments were more pronounced during the vegetative growth stage (vernalization period) in both experiments. However, these differences diminished as soon as the plants moved to the reproductive stage (post-transplant period). Overall, in both experiments, there were no differences in plants height towards the end of the experiment, although in experiment B plants grown in soils at pH 8, regardless of the Zn amendment, tended to be shorter than the ones grown at pH 6. In a previous study, stem elongation of soybean plants grown in a natural soil (pH = 6.78) amended with 5 and 10 mg Zn/kg soil was similar to that of the control whereas at

50 mg/kg, ZnO NPs resulted in shorter plants¹¹⁹. In another study performed on soybean, it was found that 50 mg Zn/kg soil of ZnO NPs did not affect the height of the plant while 500 mg Zn /kg decreased stem elongation¹¹⁷. These studies used very high concentrations of Zn, and it is likely that Zn toxicity stunted the growth of the plants.

Despite our adjustment of initial soil pH to approximately 6 and 8 in the soil amendment study, the decline in soil pH over the duration of the study minimized our intended treatment difference in pH. This may be reflected in the similar Zn concentration and biomass values observed for wheat plant tissues. Our previous work demonstrated that the dissolution of ZnO NPs was almost 5 times higher at pH 6, as compared to pH 8, in particle free soil water⁸³. Given that our final pH values were closer to 6 and 7, differences in the solubility and ζ potential of the NPs were not as great as intended. Based on our previous study of the behavior of these particles in soil, it is possible that the NPs largely dissolved over the long duration of the study, resulting in similar behavior between ZnSO₄ and ZnO NPs. Soil pH drift has been reported in previous studies. Over the course of 21 days in a study performed on wheat, it was found that soil pH increased from 7.33 to 7.65 and decreased to 6.32 when soil was spiked with 1000 mg Zn /kg in the forms of ZnO NPs and ZnCl₂, respectively¹⁹⁶. The drift in pH might be due to increases in the pCO₂ from microbial or plant respiration or from CO_2 dissolved in the water used to irrigate the plants or from the atmosphere. It could also be a result of cation exchange when fertilizers were added. Future studies might utilize a more effective soil buffering system to better characterize the effect of pH or examine a large variety of soils with varying native pH values.

Taken together, the results showed that, among all the Zn treatments, only bare ZnO NPs were able to significantly enhance grain tissue Zn concentration, when used as a seed treatment. Therefore, bare ZnO NPs are promising tools to enrich wheat grain with Zn when used as a seed treatment.

Spiking the soil with Zn amendments significantly enhanced stem and leaf Zn concentration at both pH levels. However, there were no differences in tissue Zn concentrations among added Zn amendments (nano and ionic). Both experiments produced grain of similar tissue Zn concentration, although the soil spiking approach produced slightly more robust plants (greater biomass and height). Despite differences in leaf and stem Zn concentrations of plants grown in Zn amended soil as a function of soil pH, no differences in grain Zn concentrations were reported, which could be attributed to physiological limitations which play a major role in the translocation of Zn to the grain.

Future studies should also focus on the concentration response relationship. It is possible that at 15 mg Zn/kg soil, we were well within the adequate range for wheat. Differences between treatments might only be evident within the range over which the crop shows a dynamic response to Zn supplementation. Indeed, even with Zn salts, it was found that yield and tissue Zn concentration were not significantly enhanced when background available soil Zn concentrations were high enough to support the growth of wheat and maize (*Zea mays*)¹⁹⁷. Future studies should focus on determining what concentration of each of the Zn treatments results in maximum yield. Finally, the response of other crops to dextran coated ZnO remains to be tested.

Tables

Table 4.1: Soil pH values in 1:1 soil in DI water for pot experiment (B). $pH_{initial}$ is the pH of the soil at the beginning of the experiment before sowing the seeds and pH_{final} is the pH of the soil after harvesting the plants. Values are reported as the mean of three replicates \pm one standard deviation)

Soil	Control		ZnSO ₄		Bare ZnO		DEX	
рН	\mathbf{pH} initial	pH final	рН	\mathbf{pH} final	рН	$\mathbf{pH}_{\mathrm{final}}$	pН	\mathbf{pH} final
			initial		initial		initial	
6	6.24±0.01	6.27±0.03	NM	5.29±0.05	NM	5.93±0.06	NM	5.07±0.02
8	7.92±0.05	7.26±0.04	NM	6.58±0.06	NM	6.82±0.01	NM	6.78±0.05

NM: Not Measured

Figures



Figure 4.1 Zinc concentrations in grain, leaves, and stems of wheat plants from experiment A. Each bar represents the average of n=9, while error bars represent one standard deviation. Treatments which have the same letter within each tissue type are not significantly different at α =0.05



Figure 4.2 Dry biomass of grain, leaves, and stems of wheat plants-Experiment A. Each bar represents the average of n=9, while error bars represent one standard deviation. Treatments connected with the same letter within each plant part are not significantly different at α =0.05



Figure 4.3 Dry biomass of grain, leaves, and stems of wheat plants-Experiment A. Each bar represents the average of n=9, while error bars represent one standard deviation. Treatments connected with the same letter within each plant part are not significantly different at α =0.05.





Figure 4.4 Zinc concentration in the grain (A), leaves (B), and stems (C) of wheat plants at each soil pH level-Experiment B. Each bar represents the average of n=11, while error bars represent one standard deviation. Treatments connected with the same letter at each pH level are not significantly different at α =0.05





Figure 4.5 Dry biomass of (A) grain, (B) leaves, and (C) of wheat plants at each soil pH level-Experiment B. Error bars represent one standard deviation, n = 11. Treatments connected with the same letter at each pH level are not significantly different at α =0.05. Upper and lower case letters refer to multiple comparisons carried out at each pH separately.



Figure 4.6 Plant height (cm) over time (week)-Experiment B. Error bars represent one standard deviation, n=11. Treatments connected with the same letters, whether in upper or lower cases, are not statistically significant at α =0.05. Letters followed treatment color codes, and uppercase and lowercase letters represent treatments at pH 6 and pH 8, respectively.

Acknowledgements:

The authors thank: C. Chen, J. Li, S. Lichtenberg, S. Shrestha, O. Tsyusko, S. Curieses, J. Dantzer, T. Barton, A.Freytag, J. Connelly, and D. Van Sanford. This is a publication the Kentucky Agricultural Experiment Station. This work is supported by the National Institute of Food and Agriculture, U.S. Department of Agriculture - under 1010358. Support was also provided by the National Science Foundation under CBET- 1530594.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions

We performed several experiments to evaluate the potential of using ZnO NPs as nanofertilizers to enhance Zn concentrations and yield in wheat.

In Chapter 2, our results revealed that, compared to ZnSO₄, wheat seeds treated with ZnO NPs had higher tissue Zn concentrations and better growth when applied at nontoxic concentrations. We also found that by tuning the surface chemistry of the particles, Zn partitioning patterns in seedling tissue, and growth stimulation differed. We found that treating seeds with DEX-ZnO NPs achieved the highest biomass and Zn concentration in the seedling roots, whereas bare ZnO NPs delivered the highest Zn concentrations to the seedling shoots, with slight growth stimulation.

Data in Chapter 3 showed that particle surface chemistry among the different particles dictated the behavior of the ZnO NPs in simple aqueous solutions whereas the patterns of behavior in natural soil solution were modified by sorption of natural organic matter (NOM). In saturated paste soil extracts, NOM had an immense effect on the partitioning of the particles to the soil solution regardless of the soil pH (acidic or alkaline). In the experiments which involved humic acids, NOM conferred a net negative charge to all NPs regardless their as-synthesized coatings. This enhanced their partitioning to, and stability in, soil solution, resulting in an increase in the total Zn concentration in a saturated paste extract. The higher affinity of the dextran coating for NOM explained the relatively high concentrations of total Zn in saturated paste extracts from the DEX-ZnO NP treatments. Overall, at the very conditions that limit total Zn concentrations in saturated paste extracts for ZnSO4, ZnO nanofertilizers (especially core-shell and DEX-ZnO NPs) had better performance , as demonstrated by the higher total Zn concentration

in soil solution, which in turn would reflect a better bioavailability to crops, assuming that the uptake of Zn from nanoparticulate phases is possible as proved by previous work ^{154, 163}, or that plant roots or associated rhizobacteria can release exudates to solubilize these materials.

Chapter 4 showed that the only seed treatment that resulted in a significant increase in Zn concentration in grain as compared to the control was the bare ZnO NPs. Therefore, bare ZnO NPs can be strong candidates to be used as seed treatments to enrich Zn in grain of wheat and possibly in other staple crops. The results from the second pot experiment showed that there were no differences in grain Zn concentration regardless the soil pH or Zn form (nano and ionic), which could be attributed to physiological limitations to grain Zn loading. It is worth mentioning that the success of this approach to enhancing grain Zn could be related to the maternal supply of Zn in the seeds to begin with. Wheat varieties with seed Zn concentration below 10, equal to 20, and higher than 40 μ g Zn/g are considered Zn deficient, sufficient, and recommended for human health, respectively¹⁷. The seeds we used in this study had apparently high Zn concentration and therefore, only subtle differences in tissue Zn concentrations were observed using different Zn amendments (nano or ionic).

Bare ZnO NPs were more efficiently translocated to the grain. However, further studies are required to explain the enhanced translocation of these NPs especially when compared to ZnSO₄, which indicates a nano-specific effect that requires further investigation.

Future work on soil amendments should focus on the dose response relationship between Zn concentration in soil, tissue Zn concentration and yield. The rate of Zn amendment we applied (15 mg Zn/kg soil) was probably well within the range adequate for wheat on the studied soil, so we observed no distinct dynamic response of the plant to Zn supplement. Nutrient studies are more likely to show a difference between several fertilizer types within the linear portion of the concentration response curve. When all treatments result in adequate Zn conditions, no further response in terms of yield or Zn tissue concentrations may be expected. One study showed that yield and tissue Zn concentration were not significantly enhanced when labile Zn concentrations were high enough to support the growth of wheat and maize (*Zea mays*)¹⁹⁷. Future studies should focus on determining what concentration of each of the Zn treatments results in maximum yield. The response of other crops to dextran coated ZnO remains to be tested as well.

The drift in soil pH that we encountered in the soil spiking pot study suggests the importance of using ZnO NPs on naturally alkaline soils, or soils deficient with Zn to test the performance of these NPs as compared to ZnSO₄ under realistic field conditions

Foliar application of ZnO NPs could also be a more effective means of enriching grain with Zn. A few studies reported better performance of ZnO NPs when introduced as a foliar application versus soil amendment⁵⁴, ^{197, 198}. However, to achieve the best results, the surface chemistry of the particles needs to be tuned to enhance the attachment efficiency of the particles to the leaf cuticle¹⁸⁵. Also, timing of application is important, it was found that higher grain Zn concentrations in wheat were achieved when the plants were sprayed just before the grain filling stage^{41, 199}.

References

1. Fageria, N. K.; Baligar, V. C.; Clark, R. B., Micronutrients in crop production. In *Advances in agronomy, vol 77*, Sparks, D. L., Ed. 2002; Vol. 77, pp 185-268.

2. Andreini, C.; Banci, L.; Bertini, I.; Rosato, A., Counting the zinc-proteins encoded in the human genome. *J Proteome Res* **2006**, *5*, (1), 196-201.DOI:10.1021/pr050361j.

3. Impa, S. M.; Johnson-Beebout, S. E., Mitigating zinc deficiency and achieving high grain Zn in rice through integration of soil chemistry and plant physiology research. *Plant and Soil* **2012**, *361*, (1-2), 3-41.DOI:10.1007/s11104-012-1315-3.

4. Sriram, K.; Lonchyna, V. A., Micronutrient supplementation in adult nutrition therapy: Practical considerations. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr* **2009**, *33*, (5), 548-562.DOI:10.1177/0148607108328470.

5. Cakmak, I.; Pfeiffer, W. H.; McClafferty, B., Review: Biofortification of durum wheat with zinc and iron. *Cereal Chemistry Journal* **2010**, *87*, (1), 10-20.DOI:10.1094/cchem-87-1-0010.

6. Prasad, A. S., Discovery of human zinc deficiency and studies in an experimental human model. *Am J Clin Nutr* **1991**, *53*, (2), 403-412.DOI:10.1093/ajcn/53.2.403.

7. White, P. J.; Broadley, M. R., Biofortification of crops with seven mineral elements often lacking in human diets--iron, zinc, copper, calcium, magnesium, selenium and iodine. *New Phytol* **2009**, *182*, (1), 49-84.DOI:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02738.x.

8. organisation, W. h., Trace elements in human nutrition and health. **1996**,

9. Black, M. M., Zinc deficiency and child development. *Am J Clin Nutr* **1998**, *68*, (2 Suppl), 464S-469S.DOI:10.1093/ajcn/68.2.464S.

10. Prasad, A. S.; Miale, A., Jr.; Farid, Z.; Sandstead, H. H.; Schulert, A. R., Clinical and experimental. Zinc metabolism in patients with the syndrome of iron deficiency anemia, hepatosplenomegaly, dwarfism, and hypogonadism. 1963. *The Journal of Lababoratory and Clinical Medicine* **1990**, *116*, (5), 737-749.

11. Gibson, R. S.; Ferguson, E. L., Nutrition intervention strategies to combat zinc deficiency in developing countries. *Nutr Res Rev* **1998**, *11*, (1), 115-131.DOI:10.1079/NRR19980008.

12. Clemens, S., Zn and Fe biofortification: The right chemical environment for human bioavailability. *Plant Sci* **2014**, *225*, 52-57.DOI:10.1016/j.plantsci.2014.05.014.

13. Frossard, E.; Bucher, M.; Mchler, F.; Mozafar, A.; Hurrell, R., Potential for increasing the content and bioavailability of Fe, Zn and Ca in plants for human nutrition. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* **2000**, *80*, (7), 861-

879.DOI:10.1002/(sici)1097-0010(20000515)80:7<861::Aid-jsfa601>3.0.Co;2-p.
14. Wang, Y. X.; Specht, A.; Horst, W. J., Stable isotope labelling and zinc distribution in grains studied by laser ablation icp-ms in an ear culture system reveals zinc transport barriers during grain filling in wheat. *New Phytol* 2011, *189*, (2), 428-437.DOI:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03489.x.

15. Brinch-Pedersen, H.; Sorensen, L. D.; Holm, P. B., Engineering crop plants: Getting a handle on phosphate. *Trends Plant Sci* **2002**, *7*, (3), 118-125.DOI:10.1016/s1360-1385(01)02222-1.

16. Broadley, M. R.; White, P. J.; Hammond, J. P.; Zelko, I.; Lux, A., Zinc in plants. *New Phytol* **2007**, *173*, (4), 677-702.DOI:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.01996.x.

17. Cakmak, I.; Kutman, U. B., Agronomic biofortification of cereals with zinc: A review. *European Journal of Soil Science* **2018**, *69*, (1), 172-180.DOI:10.1111/ejss.12437.

18. Cakmak, I.; Kalaycı, M.; Ekiz, H.; Braun, H. J.; Kılınç, Y.; Yılmaz, A., Zinc deficiency as a practical problem in plant and human nutrition in turkey: A nato-science for stability project. *Field Crops Research* **1999**, *60*, (1-2), 175-188.DOI:10.1016/s0378-4290(98)00139-7.

19. Sillanpää, M.; Finland; Institute of, C.; Soil, S.; Food; Agriculture Organization of the United, N., *Micronutrient assessment at the country level: An international study*. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, 1990.

20. Sillanpaa, M., Micronutrients and the nutrient status of soils: A global study. *FAO, Rome.* **1982**, 1-444.

21. Rieuwerts, J. S.; Thornton, I.; Farago, M. E.; Ashmore, M. R., Factors influencing metal bioavailability in soils: Preliminary investigations for the development of a critical loads approach for metals. *Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability* **2015**, *10*, (2), 61-75.DOI:10.3184/095422998782775835.

22. Bradl, H. B., Adsorption of heavy metal ions on soils and soils constituents. *J Colloid Interface Sci* **2004**, 277, (1), 1-18.DOI:10.1016/j.jcis.2004.04.005.

23. Evans, L. J., Chemistry of metal retention by soils. *Environmental Science & Technology* **1989**, *23*, (9), 1046-1056.DOI:10.1021/es00067a001.

24. Bouis, H. E., Enrichment of food staples through plant breeding: A new strategy for fighting micronutrient malnutrition. *Nutrition* **2000**, *16*, (7-8), 701-704.DOI:10.1016/s0899-9007(00)00266-5.

25. Norvell, W. A.; Dabkowskanaskret, H.; Cary, E. E., Effect of phosphorus and zinc fertilization on the solubility of Zn²⁺ in 2 alkaline soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* **1987**, *51*, (3).DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009779415919</u>.

26. Waters, B. M.; Sankaran, R. P., Moving micronutrients from the soil to the seeds: Genes and physiological processes from a biofortification perspective. *Plant Sci* **2011**, *180*, (4), 562-574.DOI:10.1016/j.plantsci.2010.12.003.

27. Zhang, Y.-Q.; Deng, Y.; Chen, R.-Y.; Cui, Z.-L.; Chen, X.-P.; Yost, R.; Zhang, F.-S.; Zou, C.-Q., The reduction in zinc concentration of wheat grain upon increased phosphorus-fertilization and its mitigation by foliar zinc application. *Plant and Soil* **2012**, *361*, (1-2), 143-152.DOI:10.1007/s11104-012-1238-z.

28. Phillippy, B. Q.; Bland, J. M.; Evens, T. J., Ion chromatography of phytate in roots and tubers. *J Agric Food Chem* **2003**, *51*, (2), 350-353.DOI:10.1021/jf025827m.

29. Balnois, E.; Wilkinson, K. J.; Lead, J. R.; Buffle, J., Atomic force microscopy of humic substances: Effects of pH and ionic strength. *Environmental Science & Technology* **1999**, *33*, (21), 3911-3917.DOI:10.1021/es990365n.

30. Sinclair, S. A.; Kramer, U., The zinc homeostasis network of land plants. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **2012**, *1823*, (9), 1553-1567.DOI:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2012.05.016.

31. White, P. J.; Broadley, M. R., Physiological limits to zinc biofortification of edible crops. *Frontiers in Plant Science* **2011**, 2.DOI:10.3389/fpls.2011.00080.

32. Olsen, L. I.; Palmgren, M. G., Many rivers to cross: The journey of zinc from soil to seed. *Front Plant Sci* **2014**, *5*, 30.DOI:10.3389/fpls.2014.00030.

33. Ozturk, L.; Yazici, M. A.; Yucel, C.; Torun, A.; Cekic, C.; Bagci, A.; Ozkan, H.; Braun, H.-J.; Sayers, Z.; Cakmak, I., Concentration and localization of zinc during seed development and germination in wheat. *Physiologia Plantarum* **2006**, *128*, (1), 144-152.DOI:10.1111/j.1399-3054.2006.00737.x.

34. Rosegrant, M. W.; Ringler, C.; Zhu, T., Water for agriculture: Maintaining food security under growing scarcity. In *Annual review of environment and resources*, 2009; Vol. 34, DOI: 10.1146/annurev.environ.030308.090351.

35. Robertson, G. P.; Swinton, S. M., Reconciling agricultural productivity and environmental integrity: A grand challenge for agriculture. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* **2005**, *3*, (1), 38-46.DOI:10.1890/1540

9295(2005)003[0038:Rapaei]2.0.Co;2.

36. Pérez-de-Luque, A., Interaction of nanomaterials with plants: What do we need for real applications in agriculture? *Frontiers in Environmental Science* **2017**, *5*, (12). DOI:10.3389/fenvs.2017.00012.

37. Gebbers, R.; Adamchuk, V. I., Precision agriculture and food security. *Science* **2010**, *327*, (5967), 828-831.DOI:10.1126/science.1183899.

38. White, P. J.; Brown, P. H., Plant nutrition for sustainable development and global health. *Ann Bot* **2010**, *105*, (7), 1073-1080.DOI:10.1093/aob/mcq085.

39. Rodrigues, S. M.; Demokritou, P.; Dokoozlian, N.; Hendren, C. O.; Karn, B.;
Mauter, M. S.; Sadik, O. A.; Safarpour, M.; Unrine, J. M.; Viers, J.; Welle, P.; White, J. C.; Wiesner, M. R.; Lowry, G. V., Nanotechnology for sustainable food production:
Promising opportunities and scientific challenges. *Environmental Science: Nano* 2017, *4*, (4), 767-781.DOI:10.1039/c6en00573j.

40. Monreal, C.; McGill, W. B.; Nyborg, M., Spatial heterogeneity of substrates: Effects on hydrolysis, immobilization and nitrification of urea-n. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* **1986**, *66*, (3), 499-511.DOI:10.4141/cjss86-050.

41. Cakmak, I., Enrichment of cereal grains with zinc: Agronomic or genetic biofortification? *Plant and Soil* 2007, *302*, (1-2), 1-17.DOI:10.1007/s11104-007-9466-3.
42. National nanotechnology initiative. What is nanotechnology?

. 2011, URL: http://www.nano.gov/nanotech-101/what/definition,

43. Rao, C. N.; Kulkarni, G. U.; Thomas, P. J.; Edwards, P. P., Size-dependent chemistry: Properties of nanocrystals. *Chemistry* **2002**, *8*, (1), 28-35.

44. Auffan, M.; Rose, J.; Bottero, J. Y.; Lowry, G. V.; Jolivet, J. P.; Wiesner, M. R., Towards a definition of inorganic nanoparticles from an environmental, health and safety perspective. *Nat Nanotechnol* **2009**, *4*, (10), 634-641.DOI:10.1038/nnano.2009.242.

45. Foss Hansen, S.; Maynard, A.; Baun, A.; Tickner, J. A., Late lessons from early warnings for nanotechnology. *Nat Nanotechnol* **2008**, *3*, (8), 444-447 DOI:10.1038/nnano.2008.198.

46. Kah, M.; Hofmann, T., Nanopesticide research: Current trends and future priorities. *Environ Int* **2014**, *63*, 224-235.DOI:10.1016/j.envint.2013.11.015.

47. Corradini, E.; de Moura, M. R.; Mattoso, L. H. C., A preliminary study of the incorparation of npk fertilizer into chitosan nanoparticles. *Express Polymer Letters* **2010**, *4*, (8), 509-515.DOI:10.3144/expresspolymlett.2010.64.

48. Chen, H.; Seiber, J. N.; Hotze, M., Acs select on nanotechnology in food and agriculture: A perspective on implications and applications. *J Agric Food Chem* 2014, 62, (6), 1209-1212.DOI:10.1021/jf5002588.

49. Gogos, A.; Knauer, K.; Bucheli, T. D., Nanomaterials in plant protection and fertilization: Current state, foreseen applications, and research priorities. *J Agric Food Chem* **2012**, *60*, (39), 9781-9792.DOI:10.1021/jf302154y.

50. Liu, R.; Lal, R., Potentials of engineered nanoparticles as fertilizers for increasing agronomic productions. *Sci Total Environ* **2015**, *514*, 131-139. DOI:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.01.104.

51. Johnson, S. E.; Lauren, J. G.; Welch, R. M.; Duxbury, J. M., A comparison of the effects of micronutrient seed priming and soil fertilization on the mineral nutrition of chickpea (cicer arietinum), lentil (lens culinaris), rice (oryza sativa) and wheat (triticum aestivum) in nepal. *Experimental Agriculture* **2005**, *41*, (4), 427-448. DOI:10.1017/s00144479705002851.

52. Subbaiah, L. V.; Prasad, T. N.; Krishna, T. G.; Sudhakar, P.; Reddy, B. R.; Pradeep, T., Novel effects of nanoparticulate delivery of zinc on growth, productivity, and zinc biofortification in maize (zea mays l.). *J Agric Food Chem* **2016**, *64*, (19), 3778-3788.DOI:10.1021/acs.jafc.6b00838.

53. N. Davoody, M. J. S., S. GH. Mousavi, A. Azari Nasrabad, Foxtail millet responses to bulk and nano zinc oxide particles in water stress conditions *Annual Review & Research in Biology*, **2013**, *3*, (4).

54. Dapkekar, A.; Deshpande, P.; Oak, M. D.; Paknikar, K. M.; Rajwade, J. M., Zinc use efficiency is enhanced in wheat through nanofertilization. *Sci Rep* **2018**, *8*, (1), 6832. DOI:10.1038/s41598-018-25247-5.

55. Prasad, T.; Sudhakar, P.; Sreenivasulu, Y.; Latha, P.; Munaswamy, V.; Reddy, K. R.; Sreeprasad, T. S.; Sajanlal, P. R.; Pradeep, T., Effect of nanoscale zinc oxide particles on the germination, growth and yield of peanut. *Journal of Plant Nutrition* **2012**, *35*, (6), 905-927.DOI:10.1080/01904167.2012.663443.

56. Stampoulis, D.; Sinha, S. K.; White, J. C., Assay-dependent phytotoxicity of nanoparticles to plants. *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (24), 9473-9479. DOI:10.1021/es901695c.

57. El Badawy, A. M.; Luxton, T. P.; Silva, R. G.; Scheckel, K. G.; Suidan, M. T.; Tolaymat, T. M., Impact of environmental conditions (ph, ionic strength, and electrolyte type) on the surface charge and aggregation of silver nanoparticles suspensions. *Environ Sci Technol* **2010**, *44*, (4), 1260-1266.DOI:10.1021/es902240k.

58. Levard, C.; Reinsch, B. C.; Michel, F. M.; Oumahi, C.; Lowry, G. V.; Brown, G. E., Sulfidation processes of pvp-coated silver nanoparticles in aqueous solution: Impact on dissolution rate. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (12), 5260-5266. DOI:10.1021/es2007758.

59. von der Kammer, F.; Ferguson, P. L.; Holden, P. A.; Masion, A.; Rogers, K. R.; Klaine, S. J.; Koelmans, A. A.; Horne, N.; Unrine, J. M., Analysis of engineered nanomaterials in complex matrices (environment and biota): General considerations and conceptual case studies. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2012**, *31*, (1), 32-49. DOI:10.1002/etc.723.

60. Haydon, M. J.; Cobbett, C. S., Transporters of ligands for essential metal ions in plants. *New Phytol* **2007**, *174*, (3), 499-506.DOI:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.02051.x.

61. Romer, I.; White, T. A.; Baalousha, M.; Chipman, K.; Viant, M. R.; Lead, J. R., Aggregation and dispersion of silver nanoparticles in exposure media for aquatic toxicity tests. *J Chromatogr A* **2011**, *1218*, (27), 4226-4233.DOI:10.1016/j.chroma.2011.03.034.

62. He, Y. T.; Wan, J.; Tokunaga, T., Kinetic stability of hematite nanoparticles: The effect of particle sizes. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* **2007**, *10*, (2), 321-332. DOI:10.1007/s11051-007-9255-1.

63. Zhou, D.; Keller, A. A., Role of morphology in the aggregation kinetics of ZnO nanoparticles. *Water Res* 2010, *44*, (9), 2948-2956.DOI:10.1016/j.watres.2010.02.025.
64. Hotze, E. M.; Phenrat, T.; Lowry, G. V., Nanoparticle aggregation: Challenges to understanding transport and reactivity in the environment. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 2010, *39*, (6), 1909-1924.DOI:10.2134/jeq2009.0462.

65. Lyklema, J., Nomenclature, symbols, definitions and measurements for electrified interfaces in aqueous dispersions of solids (recommendations 1991). *Pure and Applied Chemistry* **1991**, *63*, (6).

66. Cui, Q.; Yu, K.; Zhang, N.; Zhu, Z., Porous ZnO nanobelts evolved from layered basic zinc acetate nanobelts. *Applied Surface Science* **2008**, *254*, (11), 3517-3521. DOI:10.1016/j.apsusc.2007.11.044.

67. Bian, S. W.; Mudunkotuwa, I. A.; Rupasinghe, T.; Grassian, V. H., Aggregation and dissolution of 4 nm ZnO nanoparticles in aqueous environments: Influence of ph, ionic strength, size, and adsorption of humic acid. *Langmuir* **2011**, *27*, (10), 6059-6068. DOI:10.1021/la200570n.

68. Liu, W.-S.; Peng, Y.-H.; Shiung, C.-E.; Shih, Y.-h., The effect of cations on the aggregation of commercial ZnO nanoparticle suspension. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* **2012**, *14*, (12).DOI:10.1007/s11051-012-1259-9.

69. Mohd Omar, F.; Abdul Aziz, H.; Stoll, S., Aggregation and disaggregation of ZnO nanoparticles: Influence of pH and adsorption of suwannee river humic acid. *Sci Total Environ* **2014**, *468-469*, 195-201.DOI:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.08.044.

70. Baalousha, M.; Nur, Y.; Romer, I.; Tejamaya, M.; Lead, J. R., Effect of monovalent and divalent cations, anions and fulvic acid on aggregation of citrate-coated silver nanoparticles. *Sci Total Environ* **2013**, *454-455*, 119-131.

DOI:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.02.093.

71. Li, M.; Zhu, L.; Lin, D., Toxicity of ZnO nanoparticles to escherichia coli: Mechanism and the influence of medium components. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (5), 1977-1983.DOI:10.1021/es102624t.

72. Domingos, R. F.; Rafiei, Z.; Monteiro, C. E.; Khan, M. A. K.; Wilkinson, K. J., Agglomeration and dissolution of zinc oxide nanoparticles: Role of ph, ionic strength and fulvic acid. *Environmental Chemistry* **2013**, *10*, (4).DOI:10.1071/en12202.

73. Zhang, W.; Yao, Y.; Sullivan, N.; Chen, Y., Modeling the primary size effects of citrate-coated silver nanoparticles on their ion release kinetics. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (10), 4422-4428.DOI:10.1021/es104205a.

74. Mudunkotuwa, I. A.; Rupasinghe, T.; Wu, C. M.; Grassian, V. H., Dissolution of ZnO nanoparticles at circumneutral ph: A study of size effects in the presence and absence of citric acid. *Langmuir* **2012**, *28*, (1), 396-403.DOI:10.1021/la203542x.

75. Ma, R.; Levard, C.; Judy, J. D.; Unrine, J. M.; Durenkamp, M.; Martin, B.; Jefferson, B.; Lowry, G. V., Fate of zinc oxide and silver nanoparticles in a pilot wastewater treatment plant and in processed biosolids. *Environ Sci Technol* **2014**, *48*, (1), 104-112.DOI:10.1021/es403646x.

76. Olis, A., Aquatic surface chemistry: Chemical processes at the particle-water interface. *Soil Science* **1988**, *146*, ((3), 212).

77. Sposito, G., *The chemistry of soils*. Oxford University Press: Oxford ; New York:, 2008. DOI: 10.1021/es9802347.

78. Rubasinghege, G.; Lentz, R. W.; Park, H.; Scherer, M. M.; Grassian, V. H., Nanorod dissolution quenched in the aggregated state. *Langmuir* **2010**, *26*, (3), 1524-1527.DOI:10.1021/la903950e.

79. Kirschling, T. L.; Golas, P. L.; Unrine, J. M.; Matyjaszewski, K.; Gregory, K. B.; Lowry, G. V.; Tilton, R. D., Microbial bioavailability of covalently bound polymer coatings on model engineered nanomaterials. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (12), 5253-5259.DOI:10.1021/es200770z.

80. Tachikawa, S.; Noguchi, A.; Tsuge, T.; Hara, M.; Odawara, O.; Wada, H., Optical properties of ZnO nanoparticles capped with polymers. *Materials (Basel)* **2011**, *4*, (6), 1132-1143.DOI:10.3390/ma4061132.

81. Kim, K. M.; Choi, M. H.; Lee, J. K.; Jeong, J.; Kim, Y. R.; Kim, M. K.; Paek, S. M.; Oh, J. M., Physicochemical properties of surface charge-modified ZnO nanoparticles with different particle sizes. *Int J Nanomedicine* **2014**, *9 Suppl* 2, 41-56. DOI:10.2147/IJN.S57923.

82. Huynh, K. A.; Chen, K. L., Aggregation kinetics of citrate and polyvinylpyrrolidone coated silver nanoparticles in monovalent and divalent electrolyte solutions. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (13), 5564-5571.DOI:10.1021/es200157h.

83. Elhaj Baddar, Z.; Matocha, C. J.; Unrine, J. M., Evaluation of the effect of surface coatings on the sorption and dissolution of ZnO nanoparticles in soil. Chapter 3. In *PhD dissertation: Engineering of ZnO nanoparticles to be used as nanofertilizers*, University of Kentucky: Lexington, KY, USA., 2018.

84. Whitley, A. R.; Levard, C.; Oostveen, E.; Bertsch, P. M.; Matocha, C. J.; von der Kammer, F.; Unrine, J. M., Behavior of ag nanoparticles in soil: Effects of particle surface coating, aging and sewage sludge amendment. *Environ Pollut* **2013**, *182*, 141-149.DOI:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.06.027.

85. Unrine, J. M.; Colman, B. P.; Bone, A. J.; Gondikas, A. P.; Matson, C. W., Biotic and abiotic interactions in aquatic microcosms determine fate and toxicity of ag nanoparticles. Part 1. Aggregation and dissolution. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (13), 6915-6924.DOI:10.1021/es204682q.

86. Rathnayake, S.; Unrine, J. M.; Judy, J.; Miller, A. F.; Rao, W.; Bertsch, P. M., Multitechnique investigation of the pH dependence of phosphate induced transformations of ZnO nanoparticles. *Environ Sci Technol* **2014**, *48*, (9), 4757-4764. DOI:10.1021/es404544w.

87. Levard, C.; Hotze, E. M.; Lowry, G. V.; Brown, G. E., Jr., Environmental transformations of silver nanoparticles: Impact on stability and toxicity. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (13), 6900-6914.DOI:10.1021/es2037405.

88. Jiang, C.; Aiken, G. R.; Hsu-Kim, H., Effects of natural organic matter properties on the dissolution kinetics of zinc oxide nanoparticles. *Environ Sci Technol* **2015**, *49*, (19), 11476-11484.DOI:10.1021/acs.est.5b02406.

89. Zhang, Y.; Chen, Y.; Westerhoff, P.; Crittenden, J., Impact of natural organic matter and divalent cations on the stability of aqueous nanoparticles. *Water Res* **2009**, *43*, (17), 4249-4257.DOI:10.1016/j.watres.2009.06.005.

90. Chen, K. L.; Elimelech, M., Influence of humic acid on the aggregation kinetics of fullerene (C60) nanoparticles in monovalent and divalent electrolyte solutions. *J Colloid Interface Sci* **2007**, *309*, (1), 126-134.DOI:10.1016/j.jcis.2007.01.074.

91. Heggelund, L. R.; Diez-Ortiz, M.; Lofts, S.; Lahive, E.; Jurkschat, K.; Wojnarowicz, J.; Cedergreen, N.; Spurgeon, D.; Svendsen, C., Soil pH effects on the comparative toxicity of dissolved zinc, non-nano and nano ZnO to the earthworm eisenia fetida. *Nanotoxicology* **2014**, *8*, (5), 559-572.DOI:10.3109/17435390.2013.809808.

92. Tourinho, P. S.; van Gestel, C. A.; Lofts, S.; Soares, A. M.; Loureiro, S., Influence of soil pH on the toxicity of zinc oxide nanoparticles to the terrestrial isopod *porcellionides pruinosus. Environ Toxicol Chem* **2013**, *32*, (12), 2808-2815. DOI:10.1002/etc.2369.

93. Waalewijn-Kool, P. L.; Ortiz, M. D.; Lofts, S.; van Gestel, C. A., The effect of pH on the toxicity of zinc oxide nanoparticles to folsomia candida in amended field soil. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2013**, *32*, (10), 2349-2355.DOI:10.1002/etc.2302.

94. Waalewijn-Kool, P. L.; Rupp, S.; Lofts, S.; Svendsen, C.; van Gestel, C. A., Effect of soil organic matter content and pH on the toxicity of ZnO nanoparticles to folsomia candida. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* **2014**, *108*, 9-15.

DOI:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.06.031.

95. Tourinho, P. S.; van Gestel, C. A.; Lofts, S.; Svendsen, C.; Soares, A. M.; Loureiro, S., Metal-based nanoparticles in soil: Fate, behavior, and effects on soil invertebrates. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2012**, *31*, (8), 1679-1692.DOI:10.1002/etc.1880.

96. Judy, J. D.; Unrine, J. M.; Bertsch, P. M., Evidence for biomagnification of gold nanoparticles within a terrestrial food chain. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (2), 776-781. DOI:10.1021/es103031a.

97. Judy, J. D.; Unrine, J. M.; Rao, W.; Wirick, S.; Bertsch, P. M., Bioavailability of gold nanomaterials to plants: Importance of particle size and surface coating. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (15), 8467-8474.DOI:10.1021/es3019397.

98. Sabo-Attwood, T.; Unrine, J. M.; Stone, J. W.; Murphy, C. J.; Ghoshroy, S.; Blom, D.; Bertsch, P. M.; Newman, L. A., Uptake, distribution and toxicity of gold nanoparticles in tobacco (nicotiana xanthi) seedlings. *Nanotoxicology* **2012**, *6*, (4), 353-360.DOI:10.3109/17435390.2011.579631.

89. Rengel, Z.; Graham, R. D., Importance of seed Zn content for wheat growth on Zn-deficient soil. *Plant and Soil* 1995, *173*, (2), 259-266.DOI:10.1007/bf00011463.
100. Prasad, A. S., Zinc in human health: Effect of zinc on immune cells. *Mol Med*

2008, 14, (5-6), 353-357.DOI:10.2119/2008-00033.Prasad.

101. Gibson, R. S.; Vanderkooy, P. D. S.; Macdonald, A. C.; Goldman, A.; Ryan, B.
A.; Berry, M., A growth-limiting, mild zinc-deficiency syndrme in some southern ontario boys with low height percentiles. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **1989**, *49*, (6).
102. Alloway, B. J., Soil factors associated with zinc deficiency in crops and humans.

Environ Geochem Health **2009**, *31*, (5).DOI:10.1007/s10653-009-9255-4.

103. Bradfield, S. J.; Kumar, P.; White, J. C.; Ebbs, S. D., Zinc, copper, or cerium accumulation from metal oxide nanoparticles or ions in sweet potato: Yield effects and projected dietary intake from consumption. *Plant Physiol Biochem* **2017**, *110*, 128-137. DOI:10.1016/j.plaphy.2016.04.008.

104. Mukherjee, A.; Sun, Y.; Morelius, E.; Tamez, C.; Bandyopadhyay, S.; Niu, G.; White, J. C.; Peralta-Videa, J. R.; Gardea-Torresdey, J. L., Differential toxicity of bare

and hybrid ZnO nanoparticles in green pea (pisum sativum l.): A life cycle study. *Front Plant Sci* **2015**, *6*, 1242.DOI:10.3389/fpls.2015.01242.

105. Wang, P.; Menzies, N. W.; Lombi, E.; McKenna, B. A.; Johannessen, B.; Glover, C. J.; Kappen, P.; Kopittke, P. M., Fate of ZnO nanoparticles in soils and cowpea (vigna unguiculata). *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (23), 13822-13830. DOI:10.1021/es403466p.

106. Jain, N.; Bhargava, A.; Pareek, V.; Sayeed Akhtar, M.; Panwar, J., Does seed size and surface anatomy play role in combating phytotoxicity of nanoparticles? *Ecotoxicology* **2017**, *26*, (2), 238-249.DOI:10.1007/s10646-017-1758-7.

107. Lopez-Moreno, M. L.; de la Rosa, G.; Hernandez-Viezcas, J. A.; Castillo-Michel, H.; Botez, C. E.; Peralta-Videa, J. R.; Gardea-Torresdey, J. L., Evidence of the differential biotransformation and genotoxicity of ZnO and CeO₂ nanoparticles on soybean (glycine max) plants. *Environmental Science and Technology* **2010**, *44*, (19), 7315-7320.DOI:10.1021/es903891g.

108. Zhang, R.; Zhang, H.; Tu, C.; Hu, X.; Li, L.; Luo, Y.; Christie, P., Phytotoxicity of ZnO nanoparticles and the released Zn(ii) ion to corn (zea mays l.) and cucumber (cucumis sativus l.) during germination. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* **2015**, *22*, (14), 11109-11117.DOI:10.1007/s11356-015-4325-x.

109. Mahajan, P.; Dhoke, S. K.; Khanna, A. S., Effect of nano-ZnO particle suspension on growth of mung (vigna radiata) and gram (cicer arietinum) seedlings using plant agar method. *Journal of Nanotechnology* **2011**, *2011*, 1-7.DOI:10.1155/2011/696535.

110. de la Rosa, G.; Lopez-Moreno, M. L.; de Haro, D.; Botez, C. E.; Peralta-Videa, J. R.; Gardea-Torresdey, J. L., Effects of ZnO nanoparticles in alfalfa, tomato, and cucumber at the germination stage: Root development and x-ray absorption spectroscopy studies. *Pure and Applied Chemistry* **2013**, *85*, (12).DOI:10.1351/pac-con-12-09-0.

111. Zhao, L.; Sun, Y.; Hernandez-Viezcas, J. A.; Servin, A. D.; Hong, J.; Niu, G.; Peralta-Videa, J. R.; Duarte-Gardea, M.; Gardea-Torresdey, J. L., Influence of CeO₂ and ZnO nanoparticles on cucumber physiological markers and bioaccumulation of Ce and Zn: A life cycle study. *J Agric Food Chem* **2013**, *61*, (49), 11945-11951. DOI:10.1021/jf404328e.

112. Medina-Velo, I. A.; Dominguez, O. E.; Ochoa, L.; Barrios, A. C.; Hernández-Viezcas, J. A.; White, J. C.; Peralta-Videa, J. R.; Gardea-Torresdey, J. L., Nutritional quality of bean seeds harvested from plants grown in different soils amended with coated and uncoated zinc oxide nanomaterials. *Environmental Science: Nano* **2017**, *4*, (12), 2336-2347.DOI:10.1039/c7en00495h.

113. Dimkpa, C. O.; McLean, J. E.; Latta, D. E.; Manangón, E.; Britt, D. W.; Johnson, W. P.; Boyanov, M. I.; Anderson, A. J., CuO and ZnO nanoparticles: Phytotoxicity, metal speciation, and induction of oxidative stress in sand-grown wheat. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* **2012**, *14*, (9).DOI:10.1007/s11051-012-1125-9.

114. Liu, R.; Zhang, H.; Lal, R., Effects of stabilized nanoparticles of copper, zinc, manganese, and iron oxides in low concentrations on lettuce (lactuca sativa) seed germination: Nanotoxicants or nanonutrients? *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution* **2016**, 227, (1).DOI:10.1007/s11270-015-2738-2.

115. Wang, X.; Yang, X.; Chen, S.; Li, Q.; Wang, W.; Hou, C.; Gao, X.; Wang, L.; Wang, S., Zinc oxide nanoparticles affect biomass accumulation and photosynthesis in arabidopsis. *Front Plant Sci* **2015**, *6*, 1243.DOI:10.3389/fpls.2015.01243.

116. Yang, Z.; Chen, J.; Dou, R.; Gao, X.; Mao, C.; Wang, L., Assessment of the phytotoxicity of metal oxide nanoparticles on two crop plants, maize (zea mays l.) and rice (oryza sativa l.). *Int J Environ Res Public Health* **2015**, *12*, (12), 15100-15109.DOI:10.3390/ijerph121214963.

117. Yoon, S. J.; Kwak, J. I.; Lee, W. M.; Holden, P. A.; An, Y. J., Zinc oxide nanoparticles delay soybean development: A standard soil microcosm study. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* **2014**, *100*, 131-137.DOI:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2013.10.014.

118. Lin, D.; Xing, B., Phytotoxicity of nanoparticles: Inhibition of seed germination and root growth. *Environ Pollut* **2007**, *150*, (2), 243-250.

DOI:10.1016/j.envpol.2007.01.016.

119. Priester, J. H.; Ge, Y.; Mielke, R. E.; Horst, A. M.; Moritz, S. C.; Espinosa, K.; Gelb, J.; Walker, S. L.; Nisbet, R. M.; An, Y. J.; Schimel, J. P.; Palmer, R. G.; Hernandez-Viezcas, J. A.; Zhao, L.; Gardea-Torresdey, J. L.; Holden, P. A., Soybean susceptibility to manufactured nanomaterials with evidence for food quality and soil fertility interruption. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **2012**, *109*, (37), E2451-2456. DOI:10.1073/pnas.1205431109.

120. Milani, N.; Hettiarachchi, G. M.; Kirby, J. K.; Beak, D. G.; Stacey, S. P.; McLaughlin, M. J., Fate of zinc oxide nanoparticles coated onto macronutrient fertilizers in an alkaline calcareous soil. *PLoS One* **2015**, *10*, (5), e0126275. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0126275.

121. Taran, N.; Storozhenko, V.; Svietlova, N.; Batsmanova, L.; Shvartau, V.; Kovalenko, M., Effect of zinc and copper nanoparticles on drought resistance of wheat seedlings. *Nanoscale Res Lett* **2017**, *12*, (1), 60.DOI:10.1186/s11671-017-1839-9.

122. Abdel Latef, A. A. H.; Abu Alhmad, M. F.; Abdelfattah, K. E., The possible roles of priming with ZnO nanoparticles in mitigation of salinity stress in lupine (lupinus termis) plants. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* **2016**, *36*, (1), 60-70. DOI:10.1007/s00344-016-9618-x.

123. Savi, G. D.; Piacentini, K. C.; de Souza, S. R.; Costa, M. E.; Santos, C. M.; Scussel, V. M., Efficacy of zinc compounds in controlling fusarium head blight and deoxynivalenol formation in wheat (triticum aestivum l.). *Int J Food Microbiol* **2015**, *205*, 98-104.DOI:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.04.001.

124. Munzuroglu, O.; Geckil, H., Effects of metals on seed germination, root elongation, and coleoptile and hypocotyl growth in triticum aestivum and cucumis sativus. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol* **2002**, *43*, (2), 203-213.DOI:10.1007/s00244-002-1116-4.

125. Naseeruddin, R.; Sumathi, V.; Prasad, T.; Sudhakar, P.; Chandrika, V.; Ravindra Reddy, B., Unprecedented synergistic effects of nanoscale nutrients on growth, productivity of sweet sorghum [sorghum bicolor (l.) moench], and nutrient biofortification. *J Agric Food Chem* **2018**, *66*, (5), 1075-1084. DOI:10.1021/acs.jafc.7b04467.

126. Prom-u-thai, C.; Rerkasem, B.; Yazici, A.; Cakmak, I., Zinc priming promotes seed germination and seedling vigor of rice. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* **2012**, *175*, (3), 482-488.DOI:10.1002/jpln.201100332.

127. Ajouri, A.; Asgedom, H.; Becker, M., Seed priming enhances germination and seedling growth of barley under conditions of p and Zn deficiency. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* **2004**, *167*, (5), 630-636.DOI:10.1002/jpln.200420425.

128. Sperling, R. A.; Parak, W. J., Surface modification, functionalization and bioconjugation of colloidal inorganic nanoparticles. *Philos Trans A Math Phys Eng Sci* **2010**, *368*, (1915), 1333-1383.DOI:10.1098/rsta.2009.0273.

129. Bagwe, R. P.; Hilliard, L. R.; Tan, W., Surface modification of silica nanoparticles to reduce aggregation and nonspecific binding. *Langmuir* **2006**, *22*, (9), 4357-4362.DOI:10.1021/la052797j.

130. Spielman-Sun, E.; Lombi, E.; Donner, E.; Howard, D.; Unrine, J. M.; Lowry, G. V., Impact of surface charge on cerium oxide nanoparticle uptake and translocation by wheat (triticum aestivum). *Environ Sci Technol* **2017**, *51*, (13), 7361-7368. DOI:10.1021/acs.est.7b00813.

131. Zhu, Z. J.; Wang, H.; Yan, B.; Zheng, H.; Jiang, Y.; Miranda, O. R.; Rotello, V. M.; Xing, B.; Vachet, R. W., Effect of surface charge on the uptake and distribution of gold nanoparticles in four plant species. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (22), 12391-12398.DOI:10.1021/es301977w.

132. Rathnayake, S., Ttransformations, bioavailability and toxicity of manufactured
ZnO nanomaterials in wastewter. *University of Kentucky, KY, USA*. 2013, *Msc. Thesis*.
133. Becheri, A.; Dürr, M.; Lo Nostro, P.; Baglioni, P., Synthesis and characterization

of zinc oxide nanoparticles: Application to textiles as uv-absorbers. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* **2007**, *10*, (4), 679-689.DOI:10.1007/s11051-007-9318-3.

Hanoparnicle Research 2007, 10, (1), 679 609.10011007/811091 007 9510 9.
Hassellov, M.; Readman, J. W.; Ranville, J. F.; Tiede, K., Nanoparticle analysis and characterization methodologies in environmental risk assessment of engineered nanoparticles. *Ecotoxicology* 2008, *17*, (5), 344-361.DOI:10.1007/s10646-008-0225-x.
Louie, S. M.; Phenrat, T.; Small, M. J.; Tilton, R. D.; Lowry, G. V., Parameter identifiability in application of soft particle electrokinetic theory to determine polymer and polyelectrolyte coating thicknesses on colloids. *Langmuir* 2012, *28*, (28), 10334-10347.DOI:10.1021/la301912j.

136. Ohshima, H., Electrophoresis of soft particles: Analytic approximations. *Electrophoresis* **2006**, *27*, (3), 526-533.DOI:10.1002/elps.200500636.

137. Herschke, L.; Lieberwirth, I.; Wegner, G., Zinc phosphate as versatile material for potential biomedical applications part ii. *J Mater Sci Mater Med* **2006**, *17*, (1), 95-104. DOI:10.1007/s10856-006-6333-3.

138. Gnanadhas, D. P.; Ben Thomas, M.; Elango, M.; Raichur, A. M.; Chakravortty,
D., Chitosan-dextran sulphate nanocapsule drug delivery system as an effective therapeutic against intraphagosomal pathogen salmonella. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2013, 68, (11), 2576-2586.DOI:10.1093/jac/dkt252.

139. Macnicol, R. D.; Beckett, P. H. T., Critical tissue concentrations of potentially toxic elements. *Plant and Soil* **1985**, *85*, (1), 107-129.DOI:10.1007/bf02197805.

140. Xiang, L.; Zhao, H. M.; Li, Y. W.; Huang, X. P.; Wu, X. L.; Zhai, T.; Yuan, Y.; Cai, Q. Y.; Mo, C. H., Effects of the size and morphology of zinc oxide nanoparticles on the germination of chinese cabbage seeds. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* **2015**, *22*, (14), 10452-10462.DOI:10.1007/s11356-015-4172-9.

141. Harris, D.; Rashid, A.; Miraj, G.; Arif, M.; Yunas, M., 'On-farm' seed priming with zinc in chickpea and wheat in pakistan. *Plant and Soil* **2007**, *306*, (1-2), 3-10. DOI:10.1007/s11104-007-9465-4.

142. Taylor, A. G.; Salanenka, Y. A., Seed treatments: Phytotoxicity amelioration and tracer uptake. *Seed Science Research* **2012**, *22*, (S1), S86-S90. DOI:10.1017/s0960258511000389.

143. Li, H.; Ye, X.; Guo, X.; Geng, Z.; Wang, G., Effects of surface ligands on the uptake and transport of gold nanoparticles in rice and tomato. *J Hazard Mater* **2016**, *314*, 188-196.DOI:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.043.

144. Lin, S.; Cheng, Y.; Liu, J.; Wiesner, M. R., Polymeric coatings on silver nanoparticles hinder autoaggregation but enhance attachment to uncoated surfaces. *Langmuir* **2012**, *28*, (9), 4178-4186.DOI:10.1021/la202884f.

145. Antonious, G., Silitonga, M., Tsegaye, T., Unrine, J., Coolong, T., Snyder, J., Elevated concentrations of trace elements in soil do not necessarily reflect metals available to plants. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health* **2013**, *48*, (3).

146. Schultz, M. F.; Benjamin, M. M.; Ferguson, J. F., Adsorption and desorption of metals on ferrihydrite: Reversibility of the reaction and sorption properties of the regenerated solid. *Environmental Science & Technology* **1987**, *21*, (9), 863-869. DOI:10.1021/es00163a003.

147. Read, D. S.; Matzke, M.; Gweon, H. S.; Newbold, L. K.; Heggelund, L.; Ortiz, M. D.; Lahive, E.; Spurgeon, D.; Svendsen, C., Soil pH effects on the interactions between dissolved zinc, non-nano- and nano-ZnO with soil bacterial communities. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* **2016**, *23*, (5), 4120-4128.DOI:10.1007/s11356-015-4538-z.

148. Waalewijn-Kool, P. L.; Diez Ortiz, M.; van Straalen, N. M.; van Gestel, C. A., Sorption, dissolution and pH determine the long-term equilibration and toxicity of coated and uncoated ZnO nanoparticles in soil. *Environ Pollut* **2013**, *178*, 59-64. DOI:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.03.003.

149. Wang, H.; Dong, Y. N.; Zhu, M.; Li, X.; Keller, A. A.; Wang, T.; Li, F., Heteroaggregation of engineered nanoparticles and kaolin clays in aqueous environments. *Water Res* **2015**, *80*, 130-138.DOI:10.1016/j.watres.2015.05.023.

150. Romero-Freire, A.; Lofts, S.; Martin Peinado, F. J.; van Gestel, C. A., Effects of aging and soil properties on zinc oxide nanoparticle availability and its ecotoxicological effects to the earthworm eisenia andrei. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2017**, *36*, (1), 137-146. DOI:10.1002/etc.3512.

151. Collin, B.; Oostveen, E.; Tsyusko, O. V.; Unrine, J. M., Influence of natural organic matter and surface charge on the toxicity and bioaccumulation of functionalized ceria nanoparticles in caenorhabditis elegans. *Environ Sci Technol* **2014**, *48*, (2), 1280-1289.DOI:10.1021/es404503c.

152. Ninham, B. W., On progress in forces since the dlvo theory. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science* 1999, *83*, (1-3), 1-17.DOI:10.1016/s0001-8686(99)00008-1.
153. Lin, S.; Wiesner, M. R., Theoretical investigation on the steric interaction in

colloidal deposition. *Langmuir* **2012**, *28*, (43), 15233-15245.DOI:10.1021/la302201g. 154. Elhaj Baddar, Z.; Unrine, J. M., Functionalized ZnO nanoparticles as seed coatings to enhance growth and Zn content of wheat (tritcum aestivum) seedlings. Chapter 2. In *PhD dissertation: Engineering of ZnO nanoparticles to be used as*

nanofertilizers, University of Kentucky: Lexington, KY, USA., 2018.

155. Rhoades, J. D., Soluble salts. *Methods of Soil Analysis Part 1- Physical and Mineralogical Methods. SSSA Book Series: 5. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI.* **1996**.

156. EPA, Methods for measuring the acute toxicity of effluents and receiving waters to freshwater and marine organisms,. *4th ed. EPA/600/4-90/027F. Washington, DC.* **1993**.

157. Saito, T.; Koopal, L. K.; van Riemsdijk, W. H.; Nagasaki, S.; Tanakat, S., Adsorption of humic acid on goethite: Isotherms, charge adjustments, and potential profiles. *Langmuir* **2004**, *20*, (3), 689-700.DOI:10.1021/la034806z.

158. Vermeer, A. W. P.; Koopal, L. K., Adsorption of humic acids to mineral particles. 2. Polydispersity effects with polyelectrolyte adsorption. *Langmuir* **1998**, *14*, (15), 4210-4216.DOI:10.1021/la9708360.

159. Thomas, G. W., Soil pH and soil salinity. *Methods of Soil Analysis Part 1-Physical and Mineralogical Methods. SSSA Book Series: 5. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI.* **1996**.

160. Gee, G. W., Bauder, J.W., Particle-size analysis. *Methods of Soil Analysis Part 1-Physical and Mineralogical Methods. SSSA Book Series: 5. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI.* **2002**.

161. Kuo, S., Phosphorus. *Methods of Soil Analysis Part 3- Chemical Methods. SSSA Book Series: 5. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI.* **1996**.

162. EPA, Method 3052: Microwave assisted acid digestion of siliceous and organically based matrices. *United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, USA.* **1996**.

163. Judy, J. D.; McNear, D. H., Jr.; Chen, C.; Lewis, R. W.; Tsyusko, O. V.; Bertsch,
P. M.; Rao, W.; Stegemeier, J.; Lowry, G. V.; McGrath, S. P.; Durenkamp, M.; Unrine, J.
M., Nanomaterials in biosolids inhibit nodulation, shift microbial community
composition, and result in increased metal uptake relative to bulk/dissolved metals.

Environ Sci Technol 2015, 49, (14), 8751-8758.DOI:10.1021/acs.est.5b01208.

164. Solorzano, L., Determination of ammonia in natural waters by the phenolhypochlorite method. *Limnology and Oceanography.* **1969**, *14*, (5).

165. Topp, G. C., Y.T. Galganov, B.C. Ball, M.R. Carter. Chapter 53., Soil water desorption curves. . *M.R. Carter (ed.) Soil sampling and methods of analysis. Canadian Society of Soil Science. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL.* **1993**.

166. Soil and plant analysis council. Chapter 8. Micronutrients (boron, copper, iron, manganese, and zinc). In: Soil analysis handbook of reference methods. Soil and plant analysis council, inc., crc press, boca raton, fl. **2000**.

167. Heil, D.; Sposito, G., Organic matter role in illittic soil colloid flocculation: Counter ions and ph. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* **1993**, *57*, (5).

168. EPA, Method 3005 a: Acid digestion of waters for total recoverable or dissolved metals for analysis by flaa or icp spectroscopy. *United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, USA.* **1996**.

169. Peng, C.; Shen, C.; Zheng, S.; Yang, W.; Hu, H.; Liu, J.; Shi, J., Transformation of cuo nanoparticles in the aquatic environment: Influence of ph, electrolytes and natural organic matter. *Nanomaterials (Basel)* **2017**, *7*, (10).DOI:10.3390/nano7100326.

170. Chowdhury . I, H. Y., Walker. S., Container to characterization: Impacts of metal oxide handling, preparation, and solution chemistry on particle stability. *Colloids and Surfaces a-Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects* **2010**, *368*, .

171. Cornelis, G.; DooletteMadeleine Thomas, C.; McLaughlin, M. J.; Kirby, J. K.; Beak, D. G.; Chittleborough, D., Retention and dissolution of engineered silver

nanoparticles in natural soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* **2012**, *76*, (3), DOI:10.2136/sssaj2011.0360.

172. Kasel, D.; Bradford, S. A.; Simunek, J.; Putz, T.; Vereecken, H.; Klumpp, E., Limited transport of functionalized multi-walled carbon nanotubes in two natural soils. *Environ Pollut* **2013**, *180*, 152-158.DOI:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.05.031.

173. Zhao, L. J.; Peralta-Videa, J. R.; Hernandez-Viezcas, J. A.; Hong, J.; Gardea-Torresdey, J. L., Transport and retention behavior of ZnO nanoparticles in two natural soils: Effect of surface coating and soil composition. *Journal of Nano Research* **2012**, *17*, 229-242.DOI:10.4028/<u>www.scientific.net/JNanoR.17.229</u>.

174. Philippe, A.; Schaumann, G. E., Interactions of dissolved organic matter with natural and engineered inorganic colloids: A review. *Environ Sci Technol* **2014**, *48*, (16), 8946-8962.DOI:10.1021/es502342r.

175. Gupta, G. S.; Senapati, V. A.; Dhawan, A.; Shanker, R., Heteroagglomeration of zinc oxide nanoparticles with clay mineral modulates the bioavailability and toxicity of nanoparticle in tetrahymena pyriformis. *J Colloid Interface Sci* **2017**, *495*, 9-18. DOI:10.1016/j.jcis.2017.01.101.

176. Nolan, A. L.; McLaughlin, M. J.; Mason, S. D., Chemical speciation of Zn, Cd, Cu, and Pb in pore waters of agricultural and contaminated soils using donnan dialysis. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2003, *37*, (1), 90-98.DOI:10.1021/es025966k.
177. Sauvé, S.; Hendershot, W.; Allen, H. E., Solid-solution partitioning of metals in contaminated soils: Dependence on pH, total metal burden, and organic matter. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2000, *34*, (7), 1125-1131. DOI:10.1021/es9907764.

178. Wang, J. J.; Harrell, D. L., Effect of ammonium, potassium, and sodium cations and phosphate, nitrate, and chloride anions on zinc sorption and lability in selected acid and calcareous soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* **2005**, *69*, (4), DOI:10.2136/sssaj2004.0148.

179. He, Z. L.; Yang, X. E.; Stoffella, P. J., Trace elements in agroecosystems and impacts on the environment. *J Trace Elem Med Biol* **2005**, *19*, (2-3), 125-140. DOI:10.1016/j.jtemb.2005.02.010.

180. Pierzynski, G. M.; Schwab, A. P., Bioavailability of zinc, cadmium, and lead in a metal-contaminated alluvial soil. *Journal of Environment Quality* **1993**, *22*, (2), DOI:10.2134/jeq1993.00472425002200020003x.

181. Westfall, D. G.; Mortvedt, J. J.; Peterson, G. A.; Gangloff, W. J., Efficient and environmentally safe use of micronutrients in agriculture. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* **2005**, *36*, (1-3), 169-182.DOI:10.1081/css-200043024.

182. Chen, J.; Li, C.; Song, J. L.; Sun, X. W.; Lei, W.; Deng, W. Q., Bilayer ZnO nanostructure fabricated by chemical bath and its application in quantum dot sensitized solar cell. *Applied Surface Science* **2009**, *255*, (17), 7508-7511. DOI:10.1016/j.apsusc.2009.03.091.

183. Serpone, N.; Dondi, D.; Albini, A., Inorganic and organic uv filters: Their role and efficacy in sunscreens and suncare products. *Inorganica Chimica Acta* **2007**, *360*, (3), 794-802.DOI:10.1016/j.ica.2005.12.057.

184. Dimpka, C. O.; White, J. C.; Elmer, W. H.; Gardea-Torresdey, J., Nanoparticle and ionic Zn promote nutrient loading of sorghum grain under low NPK fertilization.
Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **2017**, *65*, (39), 8552-8559. DOI:10.1021/acs.jafc.7b02961.

185. Li, C.; Wang, P.; Lombi, E.; Cheng, M.; Tang, C.; Howard, D. L.; Menzies, N. W.; Kopittke, P. M., Absorption of foliar-applied Zn fertilizers by trichomes in soybean and tomato. *J Exp Bot* **2018**, *69*, (10), 2717-2729.DOI:10.1093/jxb/ery085.

186. Murdock, L., Grove, J., Schwab, G., A comprehensive guide to wheat management in kentucky. *Cooperative Extension Service, University of Kentuckuy.* 2009.
187. Jarrell, W. M.; Beverly, R. B., The dilution effect in plant nutrition studies. *Advances in Agronomy* 1981, 34.DOI:10.1016/s0065-2113(08)60887-1.

188. Hamnér, K.; Weih, M.; Eriksson, J.; Kirchmann, H., Influence of nitrogen supply on macro- and micronutrient accumulation during growth of winter wheat. *Field Crops Research* **2017**, *213*, 118-129.DOI:10.1016/j.fcr.2017.08.002.

189. Gruter, R.; Costerousse, B.; Bertoni, A.; Mayer, J.; Thonar, C.; Frossard, E.; Schulin, R.; Tandy, S., Green manure and long-term fertilization effects on soil zinc and cadmium availability and uptake by wheat (triticum aestivum l.) at different growth stages. *Science of the Total Environment* **2017**, *599*,

DOI:10.1016/j.scitotenv2017.05.070.

190. Doğaroğlu, Z. G.; Köleli, N., TiO₂ and ZnO nanoparticles toxicity in barley (hordeum vulgare l.). *CLEAN - Soil, Air, Water* **2017**, *45*, (11), DOI:10.1002/clen.201700096.

191. Watson, J. L.; Fang, T.; Dimkpa, C. O.; Britt, D. W.; McLean, J. E.; Jacobson, A.; Anderson, A. J., The phytotoxicity of ZnO nanoparticles on wheat varies with soil properties. *Biometals* **2015**, *28*, (1), 101-112.DOI:10.1007/s10534-014-9806-8.

192. Garcia-Gomez, C.; Obrador, A.; Gonzalez, D.; Babin, M.; Fernandez, M. D., Comparative effect of ZnO nps, ZnO bulk and ZnSO₄ in the antioxidant defences of two plant species growing in two agricultural soils under greenhouse conditions. *Sci Total Environ* **2017**, *589*, 11-24.DOI:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.153.

193. Bertsch, P. M.; Seaman, J. C., Characterization of complex mineral assemblages: Implications for contaminant transport and environmental remediation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **1999**, *96*, (7), 3350-3357.DOI:10.1073/pnas.96.7.3350.

194. Raliya, R.; Nair, R.; Chavalmane, S.; Wang, W. N.; Biswas, P., Mechanistic evaluation of translocation and physiological impact of titanium dioxide and zinc oxide nanoparticles on the tomato (solanum lycopersicum l.) plant. *Metallomics* **2015**, *7*, (12), 1584-1594.DOI:10.1039/c5mt00168d.

195. Dimkpa, C. O.; White, J. C.; Elmer, W. H.; Gardea-Torresdey, J., Nanoparticle and ionic Zn promote nutrient loading of sorghum grain under low npk fertilization. *J Agric Food Chem* **2017**, *65*, (39), 8552-8559.DOI:10.1021/acs.jafc.7b02961.

196. Garcia-Gomez, C.; Babin, M.; Obrador, A.; Alvarez, J. M.; Fernandez, M. D., Integrating ecotoxicity and chemical approaches to compare the effects of ZnO nanoparticles, ZnO bulk, and ZnCl₂ on plants and microorganisms in a natural soil.

Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 2015, 22, (21),16803-16813.DOI:10.1007/s11356-015-4867-y.
197. Wang, J.; Mao, H.; Zhao, H.; Huang, D.; Wang, Z., Different increases in maize and wheat grain zinc concentrations caused by soil and foliar applications of zinc in loess plateau, china. *Field Crops Research* 2012, *135*, 89-96.DOI:10.1016/j.fcr.2012.07.010.
198. Zhang, T.; Sun, H.; Lv, Z.; Cui, L.; Mao, H.; Kopittke, P. M., Using synchrotron-based approaches to examine the foliar application of ZnSO₄ and ZnO nanoparticles for

field-grown winter wheat. *J Agric Food Chem* **2018**, *66*, (11), 2572-2579. DOI:10.1021/acs.jafc.7b04153.

199. Cakmak, I.; Kalayci, M.; Kaya, Y.; Torun, A. A.; Aydin, N.; Wang, Y.; Arisoy, Z.; Erdem, H.; Yazici, A.; Gokmen, O.; Ozturk, L.; Horst, W. J., Biofortification and localization of zinc in wheat grain. *J Agric Food Chem* **2010**, *58*, (16), 9092-9102. DOI:10.1021/jf101197h.

VITA Zeinah Elhaj Baddar

Education

M.S Soil, Water, and Environemnt, University of Jordan, Amman, Jordan, 2007.

B.S. (*Honors*) in Lands and Water Management, The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan, 2003.

Research Experience

• (2012-present): Department of Plant and Soil Sciences, Environmental Chemistry and Toxicology Lab, University of Kentucky, Lexington

Title: Graduate Research Assistant

• (2005-2012): Centre of Environmental Studies at the Hashemite University

Title: Lab supervisor

Awards and Recognition

- 2016 University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. "Pioneer Plant Science Symposium". Full travel scholarship: \$800.00.
- 2015 2nd place graduate student presentation. "Donald Sparks graduate students minisymposium", University of Kentucky.
- Gamma Sigma Delta-University of Kentucky chapter-Outstanding graduate student.

Publications- Peer reviwed

Elhaj Baddar, *Z*., and Unrine, J. 2018. Functionalized ZnO nanoparticles as seed coatings to enhance growth and Zn content of wheat (*Tritcum aestivum*) seedlings. Submitted to *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*.

Elhaj Baddar, Z., Matocha, C., and Unrine, J. 2018. Evaluation of the effect of surface coatings on the sorption and dissolution of ZnO NPs in soil. To be submitted to the SSSAJ.

Elhaj Baddar, Z., and Unrine, J 2018. Effects of soil pH and coating on efficacy of polymer coated ZnO nanoparticulate fertilizers in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*)". In Prep

Starnes, D., Unrine, J., Chen, C., Lichtenberg., S, Starnes, C., Svendsen, C., Kille, P., Morgan, J., **Elhaj Baddar**, Z., Spear, A., Bertsch, P. and Tsyusko. O. 2018. Toxicogenomic responses of Caenorhabditis elegans to pristine and aged Zinc Oxide nanoparticles. To be submitted.

Oral and poster Presentations:

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2018. "The effect of pH and particle surface chemistry on the dissolution and binding of ZnO nanoparticles in soil." **Poster presentation.** Gordon Research Conference on Nanoscale Science and Engineering for Agriculture and Food Systems, South Hadley, MA.

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2017. "Using ZnO nanofertilizers to address Zn malnutrition by biofortifying wheat." **Oral presentation.** Bill Witt graduate students minisymposium, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY.

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2017. Using ZnO nanofertilizers to address Zn malnutrition by biofortifying wheat. **Poster presentation**. Tracey Farmer Institute for Sustainability and the Environment (TFISE), University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY.

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2017. "Studying the effect of soil pH on the dissolution and binding of engineered ZnO nanoparticles in soil." **Oral presentation.** ASA-CSSA-SSSA-annual meeting, Tampa, FL.

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2017. "Studying the effect of soil pH on the dissolution and binding of engineered ZnO nanoparticles in soil." **Oral presentation.** Donald Sparks graduate students minisymposium, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY.

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2016. Exploring potential use of ZnO nanoparticles (NPs) to enhance Zn nutrition in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). **Oral presentation.** ASA- CSSA - SSSA-annual meeting, Phoenix, AZ.

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2016. Exploring potential use of ZnO nanoparticles (NPs) to enhance Zn nutrition in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). **Oral presentation.** Donald Sparks graduate students minisymposium, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY.

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2015. "Synthesis, surface modification and characterization of ZnO nanoparticles for use as a micronutrient fertilizer". **Oral presentation.** ASA-CSSA -SSSA-annual meeting, Minneapolis. MN

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2014. "Effect of coatings on the behavior of manufactured zinc oxide nanoparticles in soil and bioavailability to plants". **Oral presentation.** Donald Sparks graduate students minisymposium, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY.

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2014. Synthesis and characterization of ZnO nanoparticles for biofortification of crops. **Poster presentation**. Tracey Farmer Institute for Sustainability and the Environment (TFISE), University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY.

Poynton H., Unrine, J., Haring, H., **ElHaj Baddar, Z.**, Lazorchak, J. 2014. Characterizing nanoparticle exposure and effects in the epibenthic crustacean, Hyalella Azteca. SETAC/Europe meeting, Basel, Switzerland.

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2013. "Effects of coating on the transformation of ZnO nanoparticles in sewage sludge and soils". **Oral presentation.** Donald Sparks graduate students minisymposium, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY.

Elhaj Baddar Z, Unrine M. 2013. Method development for the detection and characterization of manufactured zinc oxide nanoparticles in soil-preliminary research results. **Poster presentation**. Tracey Farmer Institute for Sustainability and the Environment (TFISE), University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY.

Invited talks and lectures:

<u>September 13th, 2016</u>. Title:" Exploring potential use of ZnO nanoparticles (NPs) to enhance Zn nutrition in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*)". Pioneer plant sciences symposium-University of Illinois-Urbana-Champaign.

Leadership and outreach:

October 2017: Selected to participate at the "student's leadership conference" at the 2017 ASA-CSSA-SSSA annual meeting, Tampa, FL.

October 2017: Served as a judge for master student oral presentation competition-soil fertility division at the 2017 ASA-CSSA-SSSA annual meeting, Tampa, FL.

July 2017: Served as science projects judge for Kentucky state 4-H communication day, Lexington, KY.

January 2016: Moderator at the Bill Witt graduate students minisymposium. University of Kentucky. Lexington, KY.

April 2015: Participated in "Nano-Days" science educational fair. Kentucky Science Center, Louisville, KY.

January 2015: Moderator at the Bill Witt graduate students minisymposium. Lexington, KY.

April 2014: Participated in "Nano-Days" science educational fair. Kentucky Science Center, Louisville, KY.